



LSGNT London School of Geometry & Number Theory

Birational geometry of fibrations in positive characteristic

On the canonical bundle formula and on the Iitaka conjectures

Benozzo Marta PhD advisor: Ed Segal

London School of Geometry and Number Theory - LSGNT

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy University College London - UCL

Abstract

This thesis concerns the study of fibrations between algebraic varieties over fields of positive characteristic. These are fundamental objects used to study the classification of algebraic varieties. In particular, my thesis focuses on two problems: the canonical bundle formula and the Iitaka conjectures.

Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over a perfect field of positive characteristic.

Assume the Minimal Model Program and the existence of log resolutions. Then, we prove that, if K_X is f-nef, Z is a curve and the general fibre has nice singularities, the moduli part is nef, up to a birational map. As a corollary, we prove nefness of the moduli part in the K-trivial case. In particular, if X has dimension 3 and is defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 5, the canonical bundle formula holds unconditionally.

We also study an Iitaka-type inequality $\kappa(X, -K_X) \leq \kappa(X_z, -K_{X_z}) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z)$ for the anticanonical divisors, where X_z is a general fibre of f. We conclude that it holds when X_z has good F-singularities. Furthermore, we give counterexamples in characteristics 2 and 3 for fibrations with non-normal fibres, constructed from Tango–Raynaud surfaces.

Declaration statement

I, Benozzo Marta, confirm that the work presented in my thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Impact statement

The projects discussed in this thesis fit in the framework of the classification of varieties over fields of positive characteristic. These results will have an impact in algebraic geometry, in commutative algebra and in number theory. In fact, the study of algebraic varieties over fields of positive characteristic has already had many applications in number theory, opening an interplay between the three subjects. To achieve this impact, I have submitted my work to peer-reviewed journals and I have given several research talks to both algebraic geometry and number theory international conferences and seminars.

UCL Research Paper Declaration Form: referencing the doctoral candidate's own published works

- (a) For a research manuscript prepared for publication but that has not yet been published:
 - (i) **Title:** On the Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors in positive characteristics
 - (ii) Uploaded to a preprint server: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv. 2204.02045
 - (iii) Work intended to be published at: Michigan Mathematical Journal
 - (iv) Author: Benozzo Marta
 - (v) Stage of publication: Provisionally accepted for publication
- (b) This material can be found in: §1.3.3., §2.2.2., §5.2., §5.4.3., §6.1.

e-Signatures confirming that the information above is accurate: Candidate: Benozzo Marta Date: 26/06/2024

(a) For a research manuscript prepared for publication but that has not yet been published:

- (i) Title: On the canonical bundle formula in positive characteristic
- (ii) Uploaded to a preprint server: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv. 2305.19841
- (iii) Work intended to be published at: TBD
- (iv) Author: Benozzo Marta
- (v) Stage of publication: not yet submitted
- (b) This material can be found in: §1.2., §2.1., §2.2.1., §2.3. (excluding §2.3.5.), §3.3., Chapter 4.

e-Signatures confirming that the information above is accurate: Candidate: Benozzo Marta Date: 26/06/2024

- (a) For a research manuscript prepared for publication but that has not yet been published:
 - (i) **Title:** Superadditivity of anticanonical Iitaka dimension for fibrations with F-split fibres
 - (ii) Uploaded to a preprint server: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv. 2309.16580
 - (iii) Work intended to be published at: Advances in Mathematics
 - (iv) Authors: Benozzo Marta, Brivio Iacopo, Chang Chi-Kang
 - (v) Stage of publication: submitted
- (b) Statement of contribution: The three authors all contributed to the project.
- (c) This material can be found in: §1.3., §2.2.2., §2.3.5., §3.4.2., §5.1., §5.2., §5.4.1., §5.4.2., §6.2.

e-Signatures confirming that the information above is accurate:

Candidate: Benozzo Marta Date: 26/06/2024 Senior Author signature: Brivio Iacopo Date: 26/06/2024



Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my PhD advisor Paolo Cascini for all the encouragement he gave me during these years, for teaching me the techniques used in birational geometry, for suggesting the problems I worked on, for his guidance throughout and for his comments. I thank him for having listened to my stream of thoughts, for having helped me to understand if there was some sense in them and for all the chitchats.

A special thank to the friends that have shared with me a big or a small part of their PhD journey in the birational geometry group in London, they have been a great source for references, I have learnt so much by discussing with them and laughing about our mistakes when trying to compute canonical divisors of blow-ups. In particular, I thank Aurore Boitrel, Federico Bongiorno, Samuele Ciprietti, Roktim Mascharak, Liam Stigant, Fredrik Vaeng Rotnes, Pascale Voegtli and Stefania Vassiliadis.

I thank Iacopo Brivio with his overwhelming enthusiasm, for proposing me a project to work on together, for teaching me to pay attention to the details and for getting crazy together trying to fix them. I thank Fabio Bernasconi for the continuous support and the helpful suggestions.

I thank Jefferson Baudin, Chi-Khang Chang, Przemysław Grabowski for the insightful discussions and Martin Ortiz for our "number theory" exchanges in the office. I am grateful to Enrica Floris, Cristopher Hacon, Mihnea Popa, Karl Schwede, Calum Spicer, Jakub Witaszek for the precious conversations and suggestions. I am grateful to my examiners Cecilia Busuioc and Ivan Cheltsov and to the anonymous referees of my papers for the detailed comments and suggestions, my work has been corrected and greatly improved thanks to them. I additionally thank Hamid Abban, Jérémy Blanc, Jungkai Chen, Zsolt Patakfalvi, Ed Segal and Susanna Zimmermann for their support.

For the encouragement they gave me when I needed it the most, I thank Federico Barbacovi, Dario Beraldo, and also Ilaria Di Dedda and Sara Veneziale, who were always there and even learnt my research proposal better than me.

I add a thank to Eurydice Costopoulos, Inés Garcia Redondo and Arne Wolf, who have made a huge difference in my daily life in London. There are many more people that have supported me in these years with their shining friendship, they are very dear to me and I thank them immensely. In particular, my family, my friends in Italy, in Montréal and in London, my friends from the LSGNT and the Imperial lunch group.

I express my gratitude to the LSGNT, to Imperial College London and to University College London for providing a great environment for discussions. This work was supported by the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council

[EP/S021590/1], the EPSRC Centre for Doctoral Training in Geometry and Number Theory (The London School of Geometry and Number Theory), University College London.

"It's the little big things that stay on my mind, it's the little big things we leave behind, and when all is said, and when all is done they can change the course of the falling sun. It's the little things that mean the big things to me."

The little big things from "The little big things: the musical"

Contents

| In | Introduction | | | | |
|----|--|---|-----|--|--|
| 1 | Singularities in birational geometry | | | | |
| | 1.1 | Divisors | 25 | | |
| | 1.2 | Singularities of the Minimal Model Program | 28 | | |
| | 1.3 | F-singularities | 31 | | |
| 2 | Fibrations in positive characteristic | | | | |
| | 2.1 | Separable fibrations | 41 | | |
| | 2.2 | Singularities of fibrations | 42 | | |
| | 2.3 | Foliations and purely inseparable morphisms | 46 | | |
| 3 | Overview on the canonical bundle formula | | | | |
| | 3.1 | Elliptic surfaces | 64 | | |
| | 3.2 | Hodge theoretic approach | 66 | | |
| | 3.3 | An MMP approach | 69 | | |
| | 3.4 | Canonical bundle formula in positive characteristic | 73 | | |
| 4 | On the canonical bundle formula for GGLC morphisms | | | | |
| | 4.1 | The problem | 81 | | |
| | 4.2 | Property (*) in positive characteristic | 83 | | |
| | 4.3 | Bend and Break theorem for the moduli divisor | 94 | | |
| | 4.4 | The canonical bundle formula | 98 | | |
| 5 | Iitaka conjectures | | | | |
| | 5.1 | Iitaka dimension | 109 | | |
| | 5.2 | Easy Additivity theorems | 111 | | |
| | 5.3 | The Iitaka conjecture | 113 | | |
| | 5.4 | The anticanonical Iitaka conjecture | 114 | | |
| 6 | Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors | | | | |
| | 6.1 | $C^{n,m}$ in low dimension | 123 | | |

| 6.2 | $C_{n,m}^-$ for <i>F</i> -split fibrations | 134 | |
|--------------|--|-----|-----|
| Bibliography | | | 150 |

Introduction

Algebraic geometry is the study of *algebraic varieties*, objects defined as the zero locus of polynomial equations. One of the guiding problems in the field is their classification. Curves are completely classified by their genus and, for each genus, we can parametrise them up to isomorphism (see for example [HM98]). In higher dimension, the situation is much more complicated. In birational geometry, a promising approach has been to classify varieties up to *birational maps*, which are isomorphisms on a dense open subset. Much progress has been done in this direction using the Minimal Model Program (MMP) ([BCHM10]). The MMP is an algorithm which allows to find a "nice" representative in each birational class of varieties and its guiding principle is that the positivity of the canonical divisor K_X of a variety, defined using the top degree differential forms, carries information about its geometry, for example its Ricci curvature. Fibrations are a fundamental tool in the classification problem as they allow to decompose each variety into simpler pieces, the base and the fibres. An important problem arising in this context is to relate the canonical divisors of the total space, the fibres and the base of a fibration. We will make this more precise later, when focusing on our problems of interest.

Recently, there has been a lot of developments in the MMP over fields of positive characteristic, opening an interplay between birational geometry and number theory. For example, the study of rational points has benefited from applications of MMP techniques ([GNT19], [BF23]). Over fields of positive characteristic, many results in birational geometry become open problems and in some cases they fail to hold at all. Despite this, the MMP has been established in dimension at most 3 over perfect fields of characteristic p > 5. It is therefore natural to ask to which extent results in birational geometry in characteristic 0 carry over to fields of positive characteristic.

The work presented in this thesis falls into this context. In particular, we focus on two main directions in the study of fibrations in positive characteristic: related to a canonical bundle formula and to the Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors.

Canonical bundle formula

One of the possible outputs of the MMP are *K*-trivial fibrations $f: X \to Z$, for which the fibres are Calabi–Yau. For such fibrations, we study the relation between K_X and K_Z . This formula is often used in induction processes since it allows to infer geometric properties of X from geometric properties of Z, which is lower dimensional. It has had many important applications in birational geometry, ranging from adjunction on log canonical centres ([Kaw98], [DS17]), to finite generation of the log canonical ring ([FM00, §5]) and to the Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors ([Cha23], [Ben22], [BBC23]).

Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors

An important birational invariant of algebraic varieties is their Kodaira dimension $\kappa(X, K_X)$ (Definition 5.1.1), which is a first measure of the positivity of the canonical divisor. The Iitaka conjectures give geometric constraints on the varieties that can appear in a fibration, by studying the relation between their Kodaira dimensions. Even though it is not a birational invariant, it is useful to study also the negative counterpart of the Kodaira dimension: the *Iitaka dimension* of the anticanonical divisor, $\kappa(X, -K_X)$. This number gives information on the geometry of varieties for which mK_X does not have global sections for any natural number m. Inspired by the Iitaka conjectures, we study a relation between Iitaka dimensions of anticanonical divisors in fibrations.

Minimal Model Program

A notable progress in classifying algebraic varieties has been the development of the Minimal Model Program. The MMP consists of an algorithm that, starting from a variety X, performs two types of birational operations for which the exceptional locus consists of "negative curves": divisorial contractions and flips. Divisorial contractions are birational morphisms $\mu: X \to Y$ such that the curves in X that are mapped to points in Y cover a locus of codimension 1. Flips are birational maps $\mu: X \to Y$ such that the exceptional locus of μ has codimension at least 2 and the negative curves contained in it are "flipped" to curves in Y which have positive intersection with the canonical divisor. The MMP predicts that, after finitely many divisorial contractions and flips, this process terminates with a variety Y, birationally equivalent to X, which satisfies one of the following properties.

- (1) There exists a fibration $f: Y \to Z$ such that $\dim(Z) < \dim(Y)$ and the general fibres are *Fano*, i.e. varieties with ample anticanonical divisor.
- (2) There exists a fibration (called *K*-trivial) $f: Y \to Z$ such that $\dim(Z) < \dim(Y)$ and the general fibres are *Calabi–Yau*, i.e. varieties with trivial canonical divisor.
- (3) The variety Y is of general type, i.e. its canonical divisor is a perturbation of an ample divisor.

By further running an MMP on the base of the resulting fibration, we can conjecturally decompose every variety into building blocks that are either Fano, Calabi– Yau, or general type varieties. Over fields of characteristic 0, divisorial contractions and flips have been proven to exist and the MMP has been proven to terminate in full generality in low dimensions by the work of Kawamata, Kollár, Mori, Reid, Shokurov and others, and in many important cases in higher dimension ([BCHM10]).

MMP in positive characteristic

Recently, there has been growing interest in the possibility of using birational geometry tools on varieties defined over fields of positive characteristic. However, some of the foundational results used in birational geometry are proven with analytic techniques and they are known to fail over fields of positive characteristic. An example is Kodaira Vanishing theorem ([KM98, §2.4]), fundamental to prove the MMP (e.g. for the proof of the Base Point Free theorem) since it allows to lift sections from lower dimensional varieties. Over fields of positive characteristic Kodaira Vanishing is known to not hold ([Xie06, Example 3.7]). A powerful tool that has been revealed to be fundamental in order to overcome these issues is the Frobenius morphism, which acts as the identity on the topological space of varieties and as the p^{th} -power on their structure sheaf. For instance, it is possible to prove vanishing results by applying the Frobenius morphism multiple times and using Serre Vanishing theorem (an algebraic result, see [Har77, Theorem 5.2, Chapter III]) instead of Kodaira vanishing. Thanks to this tool, it has been possible to prove the MMP in dimension at most 3 over fields of characteristic p > 5 ([HX15], [Bir16], [BW17], [HNT20]), and to have partial results in low characteristics ([HW22]).

Fibrations in positive characteristic

Another problem encountered when trying to mimic the classification process in characteristic 0 is that fibrations behave very differently over fields of positive characteristic. More specifically, over fields of characteristic 0, we have that, given a fibration $f: X \to Z$ between smooth varieties, the general fibre of f is also smooth (generic smoothness, [Sta22, Tag 056V]). This is no longer true in positive characteristic, where regularity of the generic fibre X_{η} does not imply smoothness of the geometric generic fibre and, as a consequence, of the general fibres (see Example 2.1.6, Remark 2.1.7). In particular, the general fibres may be non-normal or even non-reduced. This failure of generic smoothness stems from the fact that the generic fibre of a fibration $f: X \to Z$ over a field of positive characteristic is defined over an *imperfect* field. However, this is somehow the only obstacle and, after a purely inseparable base change, all the singularities of the general fibres appear also

on the total space. More precisely, we consider the base change:

$$(\clubsuit) \qquad \begin{array}{c} X^{(e)} \longrightarrow X \\ f_e \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f \\ Z^e \xrightarrow{F^e} Z, \end{array}$$

where F^e is the e^{th} -power of the Frobenius morphism and $X^{(e)}$ is the normalisation of the reduction of the fibre product. The resulting fibration f_e is (universally) homeomorphic to f, but its fibres are normal for $e \gg 0$.

Later, in Chapter 2, we will study in details how we can control the singularities of the fibres and the properties of this base change. This is a key ingredient that will be used both in the study of the canonical bundle formula and of the Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors.

Canonical bundle formula

A natural question arising in birational geometry is whether we can meaningfully relate the canonical divisors of the source and of the target of a fibration. The canonical bundle formula tackles this problem. Kodaira's result on elliptic fibrations (see, for example, [Cor07, Theorem 8.2.1, Chapter 8]) is the first instance of a formula in this direction. It states that, given an elliptic fibration $f: X \to Z$ from a normal projective surface over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0

$$K_X = f^*(K_Z + B_Z + M_Z),$$

where B_Z is an effective divisor which has an explicit description in terms of the singularities of the fibres, while M_Z is a divisor defined via the *j*-invariant of the fibres, a number that classifies elliptic curves. More precisely, if $j: Z \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is the map that generically sends $z \in Z$ to the *j*-invariant of the elliptic curve $f^{-1}(z)$, then M_Z is a positive rational multiple of $j^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1)$. Over fields of positive characteristic, a similar formula holds with an additional term that takes into account the possible presence of *wild fibres*, i.e. fibres with multiplicity divisible by the characteristic.

Later, a canonical bundle formula has been proven in any dimension for K-trivial fibrations in characteristic 0. More precisely, if (X, B) is a log canonical pair and $f: X \to Z$ is a fibration such that $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*L_Z$, for some Q-Cartier Q-divisor L_Z on Z, then $L_Z = K_Z + B_Z + M_Z$. The divisor B_Z is called *discriminant part* and it is defined by measuring the singularities of f, whereas M_Z is called *moduli part* and it measures its *variation*, i.e. how far the fibration is from being a product. In general, it is difficult to construct a moduli space for the fibres, so M_Z does not have an explicit description as in the elliptic curves case. However, we can at least study whether it defines a meaningful map from Z. The first step is to look at the positivity properties of M_Z .

Questions 1. The aim is to answer the following.

- (1) Does M_Z define a map towards a space that classifies the fibres of f?
- (2) Is M_Z semiample up to a birational base change?
- (3) Is M_Z nef up to a birational base change?

Using variation of Hodge structures, it is possible to give an affirmative answer to the third question (see [Kaw98], [FM00], [Amb04], [Amb05], [Cor07], [FL20]). Unfortunately, these techniques are not available over fields of positive characteristics.

Canonical bundle formula in positive characteristic

With the development of the theory of F-splitting singularities, it is possible to prove a canonical bundle formula using more algebraic techniques. In fact, over fields of positive characteristic, it is useful to study not only the geometric properties, but also the "arithmetic" properties of the varieties we are considering. These are both encoded on how the Frobenius morphism F acts on the structure sheaf (see for instance [PST17, §4]). A famous result of Kunz ([Sta22, Tag 0EC0]) states that a local ring R is regular if and only if F_*R is free. More generally, one is interested in defining F-singularities, i.e. singularities for which $R \to F_*R$ is a split map. Similarly, in the global case, one is led to the study of globally F-split varieties; that is, varieties X for which $\mathcal{O}_X \to F_*\mathcal{O}_X$ is a split map. For example, ordinary elliptic curves are globally F-split, while supersingular elliptic curves are not.

In [DS17, Theorem 5.2] the authors prove that, given a fibration $f: X \to Z$ with globally *F*-split fibres, the splitting map allows to descend effectiveness on the base. More precisely, if $f: X \to Z$ is a *K*-trivial fibration with globally *F*-split general fibres,

$$K_X \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*(K_Z + B^Z),$$

where B^Z is an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor.

In our project [BBC23], joint with Brivio and Chang, we use similar techniques to prove a canonical bundle formula over perfect fields of characteristic p > 0 for surjective morphisms whose finite part in the Stein factorisation has degree coprime with p.

Proposition 2 (See Proposition 3.4.10). Let $f: X \to Y$ be a surjective projective morphism of normal varieties such that its Stein degree St.deg(f) is not divisible by p. Assume X is globally F-split and $(1 - p^e)K_X \sim f^*L$ for some Cartier divisor L on Y. Then, there exists a canonically determined effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor B^Y on Y such that (i) $(1-p^e)K_X \sim f^*((1-p^e)(K_Y+B^Y));$

(ii) (Y, B^Y) is globally F-split.

An MMP approach

In [ACSS21], the authors develop a new approach to study positivity properties of the moduli part over fields of characteristic 0, using techniques coming from the MMP rather than variation of Hodge structures. In order to have the necessary flexibility, they consider general fibrations $f: X \to Z$, not only K-trivial ones. In this context, it is still possible to define a discriminant part B_Z on Z measuring the singularities of f and then the moduli part M_X is a Q-divisor defined on X. The problem is again to prove that the moduli part has some geometric meaning linked to the variation in moduli of the fibres.

Question 3. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field and B an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor such that the pair (X, B)is log canonical and $K_X + B$ is f-nef, then, is the moduli part M_X is nef, up to birational maps?

The paper [ACSS21] gives an affirmative answer over fields of characteristic 0. Conversely, over fields of positive characteristic, the result is known to be false in general [Wit21, Example 3.5]. One of the main problems to follow the strategy in characteristic 0 is that, due to the failure of generic smoothness, it is not even possible to define a discriminant part of the fibration as all the fibres may be very singular. However, if we ask for the fibration to have log canonical fibres, in [Ben23], we give a positive answer to the question above over perfect fields of positive characteristic when the base is a curve.

Theorem 4 (See Theorem 4.4.6). Assume the log MMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension up to n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective variety X of dimension n onto a normal projective curve Z. Let B be an effective Q-divisor such that both (X, B) and the pair induced on the general fibre have at most log canonical singularities. Suppose that $K_X + B$ is f-nef. Then, there exist a pair (Y, C) and a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} Y - \stackrel{b}{\longrightarrow} X \\ \swarrow \\ g \\ \swarrow \\ g \\ \chi \\ f \\ Z, \end{array}$$

where b is a birational map such that

(i) if $p_1: \widetilde{X} \to X$ and $p_2: \widetilde{X} \to Y$ resolve the indeterminacies of $Y \dashrightarrow X$, then the difference $p_1^*(K_X + B) - p_2^*(K_Y + C)$ is vertical with respect to the induced fibration $\widetilde{X} \to Z$; (ii) the moduli part M_Y of (Y/Z, C) is nef.

In [Wit21, Proposition 3.2], the author proves a weak canonical bundle formula for fibrations of relative dimension 1 with smooth log canonical fibres. This result, together with the above theorem, completes the picture in dimension 3 for fibrations with log canonical general fibres over perfect fields of characteristic p > 5.

Property (*)

The proof of [ACSS21] that the moduli part is nef follows two main steps: first, the statement is proven for a specific class of fibrations with particularly good singularities (satisfying *Property* (*), as in Definition 3.3.2), and then the general case is reduced to this class with a birational base change (a (*)-modification, as in Theorem 3.3.4). Using Weak Semistable reduction ([AK00, Theorem 2.1, Proposition 4.4]), over fields of characteristic 0, it is possible to construct (*)-modifications in any dimension.

Over fields of positive characteristic, Weak Semistable reduction has not been proven in such generality. Nonetheless, if the base of the fibration is a curve, we construct (*)-modifications using log resolutions and the MMP. Moreover, we are able to control the singularities of the fibres after a base change on the base with a high power of the Frobenius morphism as in diagram (3).

Theorem 5 (Existence of geometric (*)-modifications, see Theorem 4.2.11). Assume the log MMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective variety X of dimension n onto a normal projective curve Z, such that $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal, where $\bar{\eta}$ is the geometric generic point of Z. Then, for $e \gg 0$, there exists a (*)-modification of $X^{(e)}$.

Foliations

The guiding principle of [ACSS21] is that, for fibrations satisfying Property (*), we can compare the moduli part of a fibration with the canonical divisor of the *foliation* induced by the fibration. Positivity of the moduli part then follows from the *foliated Minimal Model Program*, i.e. the MMP for foliations, in particular from the Cone theorem for foliations [ACSS21, Theorem 3.9].

Over fields of characteristic 0, to each equidimensional fibration $f: X \to Z$ between normal varieties, we can associate a foliation \mathcal{F} , defined as the kernel of the differential map $df: T_X \to f^*T_Z$. The canonical divisor of the foliation, $K_{\mathcal{F}}$, can be explicitly computed as $K_X - f^*K_Z - R(f)$, where R(f) is the ramification divisor, supported on fibres that have multiplicity at least 2. The moduli part, under Property (*) assumptions, has a similar description. On the other hand, over fields of positive characteristic, the foliation \mathcal{F} could behave very differently. For example, if f is not separable, the rank of \mathcal{F} is bigger than expected. Moreover, even if we require the fibration f to be separable and to have normal general fibres, the divisor $K_{\mathcal{F}}$ has a different description due to the presence of possible *wild ramification*, i.e. vertical divisors whose multiplicity is divisible by the characteristic. All in all, we prove that, over perfect fields of positive characteristic,

$$K_{\mathcal{F}} = K_X - f^* K_Z - R(f) - W(f),$$

where R(f) is the ramification divisor defined as in the characteristic 0 case, while W(f) is an effective divisor supported on the wild fibres (see Theorem 2.3.6). Therefore, even if the moduli part will not coincide with the canonical of the foliation, under Property (*) assumptions, we have a good control of the difference between the two divisors.

Additionally, over fields of positive characteristic the foliated MMP is known to fail (see [Ber24]). To overcome this, we exploit a correspondence between foliations and purely inseparable maps in positive characteristic ([PW22, Proposition 2.9]). In fact, since the differential of the Frobenius morphism vanishes, purely inseparable maps define foliations as the kernel of their differential. Analysing this correspondence in the diagram (\clubsuit), we relate the canonical divisor of $X^{(e)}$ to the moduli part of f and then use the "standard" MMP on $X^{(e)}$ to show positivity of the moduli part.

Theorem 6 (See Corollary 4.2.2). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable equidimensional fibration between normal varieties and B an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor such that (X/Z, B)satisfies Property (*). Let M_X be the associated moduli part. Let $\alpha_e: X \to X^{(e)}$ be the purely inseparable morphism such that the composition $X \xrightarrow{\alpha_e} X^{(e)} \to X$ is F^e . Then,

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p^e - 1)(M_X - B^h) + K_X - W_e,$$

where W_e is an effective divisor supported on the wild fibres of f.

Iitaka conjectures

For varieties defined over the complex numbers, Iitaka proposed a conjecture (called $C_{n,m}$) which motivated Mori to start the theory that led to the MMP. It states that, given a fibration $f: X \to Z$, the Kodaira dimensions of X, Z and the general fibre X_z , satisfy a subadditivity formula.

Conjecture 7 ($C_{n,m}$, [Iit72]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration of smooth projective varieties over \mathbb{C} , of dimensions n and m respectively, and let X_z be a general fibre. Then

$$\kappa(X, K_X) \ge \kappa(X_z, K_{X_z}) + \kappa(Z, K_Z).$$

In the same spirit, we can ask if there is a similar relation between the Iitaka dimensions of the anticanonical divisors in fibrations.

Question 8. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field such that X is klt. Let X_z be a general fibre. Does the inequality

$$\kappa(X, -K_X) \le \kappa(X_z, -K_{X_z}) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z)$$

hold?

It was recently shown in [Cha23, Theorem 1.1] that, under some additional conditions to control the singularities of the anticanonical linear system, the above superadditivity statement holds. We refer to this inequality as $C_{n,m}^-$.

However, over fields of positive characteristic it is known that both $C_{n,m}$ ([CEKZ21]) and $C_{n,m}^-$ (Section 5.4.3) do not hold. On the other hand, some positive results on $C_{n,m}$ have been obtained for fibrations whose general fibres have good *F*-split singularities ([Eji17], [BCZ18], [EZ18], [Zha19], [Bau24]).

We prove $C_{n,m}^{-}$ for low dimensional fibrations whose fibres have good *F*-singularities.

Theorem 9 (See Theorem 6.1.10, Theorem 6.1.14, Theorem 6.1.17). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0. Assume that $-K_X$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier. Suppose that the general fibre X_z is regular, that the stable base locus of $-\overline{m}K_X$ does not dominate Z for some integer $\overline{m} \ge 1$ not divisible by p and that one of the following holds:

- (a) Z is a curve $(C_{n,1}^-)$;
- (b) X is a threefold, $p \ge 5$ and Z has at worst canonical singularities $(C_{3,m}^-)$;
- (c) $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 0$ and f has relative dimension 1 $(C_{n,(n-1)}^-)$.

Then,

$$\kappa(X, -K_X) \le \kappa(X_z, -K_{X_z}) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z).$$

Moreover, if $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 0$, equality holds.

In a joint work with Brivio and Chang ([BBC23]), we study $C_{n,m}^-$ for higher dimensional fibrations. In this case, with our strategy we need to assume global *F*-splitting conditions on the general fibres (*K*-globally *F*-regular, as in Definition 6.2.1).

Theorem 10 (Tame $C_{n,m}^-$, see Theorem 6.2.19). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration of smooth projective varieties over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, and let X_z be a general fibre. Assume that X_z is K-globally F-regular. Moreover, suppose that there exists an integer $m \ge 1$ not divisible by p such that the base locus of $-mK_X$ does not dominate Z and let ϕ be the rational morphism induced by $-mK_X$. If p does not divide the Stein degree of $\phi|_{X_z}$, then

$$\kappa(X, -K_X) \le \kappa(X_z, -K_{X_z}) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z).$$

Furthermore, if $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 0$, equality holds.

Counterexamples

Over fields of positive characteristic, there exist ruled surfaces $g: P \to C$ which contain a subvariety B that set-theoretically is a section of g, but $g|_B$ is the Frobenius morphism. These surfaces were the first examples of varieties where Kodaira Vanishing theorem does not hold. By taking a suitable cover $S \to P \to C$ and the fibre product of S with itself over C multiple times, in [CEKZ21], the authors found counterexamples to $C_{n,m}$ in positive characteristic. By choosing S appropriately, we find counterexamples to $C_{7,6}^-$ in characteristics 2 and 3 (see Theorem 5.4.10, Corollary 5.4.12).

Positivity descent

The main technical ingredient that is used in the proof of $C_{n,m}^-$ in characteristic 0 is a positivity descent result, which relies on Hodge theoretic techniques which are not available in positive characteristic. More in details, given a fibration $f: X \to Z$ such that there exists an effective Q-divisor $\Gamma \sim_Q -K_X - f^*E$ for some Q-Cartier Q-divisor E on Z, we want to find an effective Q-divisor that is Q-equivalent to $-K_Z - \epsilon E$ for small $\epsilon > 0$. Over fields of positive characteristic, this result can be achieved for fibrations in low dimensions whose fibres have controlled F-singularities, using [Eji17, Theorem 5.1] or the canonical bundle formula result for fibrations of relative dimension 1 proven in [CTX15, Lemma 6.6, Lemma 6.7] and [Wit21, Theorem 3.2].

In higher dimension, in order to get the positivity descent result, we use the canonical bundle formula Proposition 2 for globally F-split varieties. However, asking for global F-splitting does not give us enough flexibility since this class is not stable under small perturbations of the boundary. We therefore introduce a new class of varieties, namely K-globally F-regular varieties, which interpolates between globally F-split and globally F-regular varieties. We conjecture that, for these varieties, a Weak Ordinarity statement holds.

Conjecture 11 (Relative Weak Ordinarity, see Conjecture 6.2.6). Let X be a projective klt pair over \mathbb{C} such that $-K_X$ is semiample. Assume that X can be defined over \mathbb{Z} and let X_p be the reduction modulo a prime p of X. Then, X_p is K-globally F-regular for infinitely many primes p.

Moreover, these singularities satisfy a Bertini-type theorem for semiample anticanonical linear sub-series.

Theorem 12 (See Theorem 6.2.12). Let X be a normal projective variety that is K-globally F-regular, and let $\{V_m \subseteq H^0(X, -mK_X)\}_{m\geq 0}$ be a graded linear subseries. Let ϕ_m be the rational morphism induced by V_m . Assume there exists an integer $m \geq 1$ not divisible by p such that ϕ_m is a morphism defined everywhere and

such that p does not divide the Stein degree of ϕ_m . Then, there exists $n \ge 1$ and $D_n \in |V_n|$ such that $\left(X, \frac{1}{n}D_n\right)$ is globally F-split.

As a direct consequence of this positivity descent result, we prove $C_{n,m}^-$ for fibrations whose base has 0 anticanonical Iitaka dimension (see Corollary 6.1.9, Theorem 6.1.14, Theorem 6.2.15).

Singularities of the Iitaka fibration

To conclude the proof of Theorem 9 and Theorem 10, given a fibration $f: X \to Y$, we reduce to the case of fibrations whose base has 0 anticanonical Iitaka dimension, by exploiting the Iitaka fibration $g: Y \dashrightarrow Z$ induced by $-K_Y$. The idea is to apply the results obtained with the positivity descent we discussed above to the induced fibration $f|_{X_y}: X_y \to Y_z$, where X_y is a general fibre of f and Y_z a general fibre of g. However, since over fields of positive characteristic generic smoothness fails, Y_z may be highly singular. When Y_z is a curve, this "bad behaviour" happens only in characteristics 2 and 3, but when Y_z is higher dimensional it is not even known if Y_z is normal for $p \gg 0$. To overcome this and recover the regularity we need in higher dimension, we perform a high enough Frobenius base change as in diagram (*).

Content outline

The original work in this thesis is based on three projects: [Ben22], [Ben23] and [BBC23]. The latter is a collaboration with Brivio and Chang. We outline here the subdivision of the chapters, highlighting the original material in them.

In Chapter 1, we set some notation that will be used throughout the thesis and we recall the definitions of the main types of singularities that are considered in the theory of the Minimal Model Program. We then focus on F-singularities, defined over fields of positive characteristic. We recall their definition and discuss some of their properties.

In Chapter 2, we set some more notation concerning fibrations. Then, we discuss the properties of the fibration obtained after a Frobenius base change as in diagram (\clubsuit). In particular, in Section 2.3, we exploit the correspondence between foliations and purely inseparable maps to analyse how the canonical divisors are related after this base change. The material presented there comes from [Ben23, §2, §3], with some modifications, and from [BBC23, §2.4]. Lastly, we study how singularities of the general fibres behave over fields of positive characteristic. The results in Section 2.2.1 follow [Ben23, §1, §4], and they discuss some properties of fibrations with geometric generic log canonical fibre. On the other hand, in Section 2.2.2, we present results from [BBC23, §2.3] and from [Ben22], concerning fibrations with globally *F*-split and sharply *F*-pure geometric generic fibre. In Chapter 3, we give an overview of some of the literature on the canonical bundle formula both over fields of characteristic 0 and p > 0. In particular, in Section 3.3, we introduce the approach to the canonical bundle formula studied in [ACSS21], which inspires the work presented in the following chapter. At the end we discuss a canonical bundle formula for morphisms of Stein degree not divisible by p > 0, which we studied in [BBC23, §3].

The material in Chapter 4 covers the core of [Ben23], and includes some modifications. In particular, the aim of the chapter is the proof of a canonical bundle formula for separable fibrations onto curves over fields of positive characteristic.

In Chapter 5, we start by recalling some properties of the Iitaka dimension, as presented in [BBC23, §2.2]. We recall the Easy Additivity theorems, with material from [Ben22] and from [BBC23, §2.2, §5]. We then discuss the Iitaka conjectures in characteristic 0 and p > 0, with some remarks that we studied in [BBC23, §8] and a heuristic presented in [BBC23, Introduction]. At the end, we describe some counterexamples to the Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors over fields of positive characteristic, that we studied in [Ben22, §5].

In Chapter 6, we present some positive results on the Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors over fields of characteristic p > 0. In particular, Section 6.1 covers the results in low dimensions, which form the core of [Ben22]; whereas in Section 6.2, we present the results in higher dimension and we introduce K-globally F-regular varieties, as studied in [BBC23].

In particular, readers primarily interested in the results on the canonical bundle formula in [Ben23], may concentrate on Section 2.1, Section 2.2.1, Section 2.3.1, Section 2.3.2, Section 2.3.3, Section 2.3.4, Section 3.3 and Chapter 4.

Readers that prefer focusing on the Iitaka conjectures for anticanonical divisors, should follow the path: Section 1.3, Section 2.1, Section 2.2.2, Section 2.3.2, Section 2.3.5, Section 3.4.2, Chapter 5 and Chapter 6.

Chapter 1 Singularities in birational geometry

In this chapter we discuss the main classes of singularities that are considered in birational geometry both in characteristic 0 and in positive characteristic. Singularities arise naturally because the class of smooth varieties is not stable under the birational operations of the Minimal Model Program. Over fields of positive characteristic, furthermore, it is natural to define new types of singularities that take into account also the "arithmetic" of the variety, not only its geometry.

- In the whole thesis, a variety X over a field k is an integral and separated scheme of finite type over k.
- We denote the function field of a variety X by k(X).
- If a variety X is non-normal, we denote by $\nu \colon X^{\nu} \to X$ its normalisation morphism.
- If X is a non-reduced scheme, we denote by X_{red} its reduced structure.

1.1. Divisors

In this section we introduce some notation regarding divisors that will be used throughout the thesis.

- By $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ we denote the localisation of \mathbb{Z} at the prime ideal generated by p.
- A \mathbb{K} -divisor D on a scheme X is a formal finite linear combination $D = \sum_i a_i D_i$, where D_i are irreducible closed subsets of codimension one in X and $a_i \in \mathbb{K}$. We will take $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}, \mathbb{Q}\}$. If $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Z}$ we refer to D as an integral divisor or simply a divisor. We define the positive part (resp. negative part) of D to be $D^+ := \sum_{a_i > 0} a_i D_i$ (resp. $D^- := \sum_{a_i < 0} (-a_i) D_i$).

- A Q-divisor D on a scheme X is Q-Cartier if mD is Cartier for some integer m. If there exists such $m \ge 1$ not divisible by p, then we say D is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor.
- If D_1, D_2 are \mathbb{Q} -divisors on a scheme X such that mD_i is integral for i = 1, 2and $mD_1 \sim mD_2$ for some positive integer m, then we say D_1 and D_2 are \mathbb{Q} -linearly equivalent \mathbb{Q} -divisors, denoted by $D_1 \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} D_2$. If m is not divisible by p, we say D_1 and D_2 are $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -linearly equivalent $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisors, denoted $D_1 \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} D_2$.
- Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism of schemes and let D be a divisor on X: we write $D \sim_Y 0$ if $D \sim f^*M$ where M is a Cartier divisor on Y. If D is a \mathbb{Q} -divisor (resp. a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor) we write $D \sim_{\mathbb{Q},Y} 0$ (resp. $D \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)},Y} 0$) if for some integer m (resp. for some integer m not divisible by p) we have that mD is integral and $mD \sim_Y 0$. In particular, we have that D is Cartier (resp. \mathbb{Q} or $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier).
- Let D be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on a scheme X: we say D is effective $(D \ge 0)$ if all of its coefficients are non-negative. We say D is \mathbb{Q} -effective (resp. $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective) if, for some integer $m \ge 1$ (resp. for some integer $m \ge 1$ not divisible by p) mDis integral and $H^0(X, mD) \ne 0$.
- Let D and D' be \mathbb{Q} -divisors on a scheme X: we write $D \leq D'$ if D' D is an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor, and $D \leq_{\mathbb{Q}} D'$ if D' D is a \mathbb{Q} -effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor.
- Let D be a divisor on a normal projective variety X. We say D is base point free if for every $x \in X$ there is $s \in H^0(X, D)$ such that $s(x) \neq 0$. If D is a \mathbb{Q} -divisor, we say it is semiample if there exists an integer $m \geq 1$ such that mD is base point free.
- Let D be a divisor on a normal projective variety X. We define the base locus of D, Bs(D), as the set of points $x \in X$ such that for all $s \in H^0(X, D)$, s(x) = 0.
- If D is a Q-Cartier divisor on a normal projective variety, we say it is *nef* if for every curve $\xi \subseteq X$, $D \cdot \xi \ge 0$. Given $f: X \to Z$ a proper morphism between normal projective varieties, we say D is f-nef if $D \cdot \xi \ge 0$ for all curves $\xi \subseteq X$ such that $f(\xi)$ has dimension 0.

Divisors on normal varieties

Let X be a normal variety.

• A coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} on X is called *reflexive* if the natural map $\mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}^{**}$ is an isomorphism, where \mathcal{F}^{**} denotes the double dual.

- We say that a coherent sheaf \mathcal{L} on X is *divisorial* if it is of rank one and reflexive. Weil divisors on X correspond bijectively to divisorial sheaves via the assignment $L \mapsto \mathcal{O}_X(L)$. The set of divisorial sheaves forms a group with the reflexified tensor product $\mathcal{L}_1[\otimes]\mathcal{L}_2 := (\mathcal{L}_1 \otimes \mathcal{L}_2)^{**}$. In particular, if $\mathcal{L}_i = \mathcal{O}_X(L_i)$ for some divisor L_i , then $\mathcal{L}_1[\otimes]\mathcal{L}_2 = \mathcal{O}_X(L_1 + L_2)$, and $\mathcal{L}_1 \simeq \mathcal{L}_2$ if and only if $L_1 \sim L_2$. Throughout the rest of the thesis we will often confuse between a divisorial sheaf and its associated Weil divisor; for example we will write $H^i(X, L)$ rather than $H^i(X, \mathcal{O}_X(L))$.
- The canonical divisor of X, denoted by K_X , is the divisor corresponding to ω_X , the reflexification of the determinant of the sheaf of 1-forms, Ω^1_X .
- If $U \subseteq X$ is an open subset such that $\operatorname{codim}_X(X \setminus U) \ge 2$, we say that U is a big open of X.
- If X is a normal variety and \mathcal{F} a sheaf on X, then \mathcal{F} is reflexive if and only if it is determined in codimension one. More explicitly, if $U \subseteq X$ is a big open and j denotes the natural inclusion, then \mathcal{F} is reflexive if and only if the natural map $\mathcal{F} \to j_*j^*\mathcal{F}$ is an isomorphism.
- When X is a normal projective k-variety and L is a Weil divisor, then $H^0(X, L)$ is a finite dimensional k-vector space. We denote by |L| the associated projective space. We can naturally identify |L| as the set of effective Weil divisors L' which are linearly equivalent to L, and we refer to |L| as the *linear system associated to L*.
- Let X be a normal projective variety and V a subspace of $H^0(X, L)$ for some Weil divisor L. We denote by $|V| \subseteq |L|$ the natural associated projective subspace, which is called the *linear subsystem associated to* V. This notation extends naturally to Q-divisors: given a Q-divisor L we denote by $|L|_{\mathbb{Q}}$ the set of all effective Q-divisors L' such that $L' \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} L$. Similarly, if L is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor, we denote by $|L|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$ the set of all effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisors L' such that $L' \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L$. We refer to $|L|_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and $|L|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$ as the Q- and the $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -linear system of L, respectively. We say that a collection of subspaces $V_{\bullet} := (V_m \subseteq H^0(X, mL))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ forms a Q-linear subsystem if $V_m \cdot V_{m'} := \{\sigma \tau \text{ s.t. } \sigma \in V_m \text{ and } \tau \in V_{m'}\} \subseteq V_{mm'}$.
- Let X be a normal projective variety and V a subspace of $H^0(X, L)$ for some Weil divisor L. We say |V| is *base point free* if, for every $x \in X$ there is $s \in V$ such that $s(x) \neq 0$. We define the *base locus* of |V| as the set of points $x \in X$ such that s(x) = 0 for every $s \in V$.

1.2. Singularities of the Minimal Model Program

If $\mu: X \to Y$ is a proper birational map, K_X and K_Y may differ by some exceptional divisors. In order to have flexibility in handling this *discrepancy*, it is often useful to consider a log version of the canonical divisor instead. This is why in birational geometry it is more natural to work with *pairs*. The main classes of singularities studied in birational geometry are classified according to the discrepancy that appears under birational maps. For a more detailed discussion, see [KM98, Chapter 2].

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of any characteristic.

Definition 1.2.1. A sub-couple (X, B) over a field k consists of a normal variety X and a Q-divisor B. If $B \ge 0$ we say (X, B) is a **couple**. If B is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor, we call (X, B) a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -(**sub**)-couple. A **sub-pair** is a sub-couple (X, B) such that $K_X + B$ is Q-Cartier. If $B \ge 0$ we say (X, B) is a **pair**. If $K_X + B$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier, we call (X, B) a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -(**sub**)-pair.

Definition 1.2.2. A pair (X, B) is said to be **log smooth** if X is regular, every prime divisor in Supp(B) is regular and, for every closed point $x \in X$, a local equation of B around x is given by $x_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot x_\ell$ for $x_1, \ldots, x_\ell \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ independent local parameters with $\ell \leq \dim(X)$. This condition on B is also called **simple normal crossing** or **snc**.

Definition 1.2.3. Let (X, B) be a sub-pair. Given a proper birational morphism from a normal variety $\mu: Y \to X$, we denote by $\text{Exc}(\mu)$ the union of all exceptional divisors of μ . We write:

$$K_Y + (\mu^{-1})_* B = \mu^* (K_X + B) + \sum_{i \in I} a(E_i, X, B) E_i,$$

where $(\mu^{-1})_*B$ is the strict transform of B and the E_i 's are all the prime exceptional divisors in $\text{Exc}(\mu)$. For every exceptional divisor E, a(E, X, B) does not depend on the chosen morphism μ , but only on the valuation that E induces on the function field of X ([KM98, Remark 2.23]). The quantity a(E, X, B) is called the **discrepancy** of E with respect to (X, B). The divisor E is called a **place** over X, while its image in X is called the **centre** of E. We say (X, B) is:

- terminal if a(E, X, B) > 0 for all possible exceptional divisors E over X;
- canonical if $a(E, X, B) \ge 0$ for all possible exceptional divisors E over X;
- Kawamata log terminal or klt if a(E, X, B) > -1 for all possible exceptional divisors E over X and $\lfloor B \rfloor \leq 0$;

- divisorial log terminal or dlt if there exists a dense open subset $U \subseteq X$ such that $(U, B|_U)$ is log smooth, and a(E, X, B) > -1 for every E whose centre is not contained in U;
- log canonical or lc if $a(E, X, B) \ge -1$ for all possible exceptional divisors E over X.

Remark 1.2.4. If a sub-pair $(X, B = \sum_i a_i D_i)$ is log canonical, where the D_i 's are distinct prime divisors, then all a_i are ≤ 1 (see [KM98, Corollary 2.31(1)]).

Remark 1.2.5. Given a sub-pair (X, B), we can check whether it is terminal/ canonical/ klt or lc on a log resolution. More precisely, if there exists a birational map $\mu: Y \to X$ such that Y is regular and $\operatorname{Supp}(\mu_*^{-1}(B)) \cup \operatorname{Exc}(\mu)$ is simple normal crossing, then (X, B) is terminal/ canonical/ klt or lc if and only if all the exceptional divisors on Y satisfy the above inequalities.

Each of the above notions play an important role in the Minimal Model Program.

- Terminal singularities are the smallest class that is necessary to consider to run the Minimal Model Program for smooth varieties X with B = 0.
- Canonical singularities appear on the canonical models of varieties of general type if B = 0.
- Kawamata log terminal singularities are the natural setting where vanishing theorems hold. They are preserved by the Minimal Model Program.
- Divisorial log terminal singularities are useful for inductive purposes.
- Log canonical singularities are the largest class where the notion of discrepancy makes sense. Indeed, if there exists an exceptional divisor E over a pair (X, B)such that a(E, X, B) < -1, then for every $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ there exists E_a exceptional over X such that $a(E_a, X, B) < -a$.

Lemma 1.2.6 ([BCHM10, Lemma 3.6.3, Lemma 3.6.9]). Let (X, B) be a log canonical (resp. divisorial log terminal or Kawamata log terminal) pair and $\varphi \colon X \dashrightarrow Y$ a step of the $(K_X + B)$ -MMP. Then, (Y, φ_*B) is log canonical (resp. divisorial log terminal or Kawamata log terminal).

Sometimes it is useful to consider a weakening of the notion of log canonical singularities for varieties that are not necessarily normal (for a more detailed discussion see [Kol13, Chapter 5]).

Definition 1.2.7. Let X be a variety, we say it is **demi-normal** if it is S_2 and its codimension one points are either regular or nodal. Note that we can define the canonical divisor K_X also for demi-normal varieties. Given B effective Q-divisor on a demi-normal variety X such that $K_X + B$ is Q-Cartier, we say (X, B) is **semi-log** **canonical** or **slc** if (X^{ν}, B^{ν}) is log canonical, where $\nu \colon X^{\nu} \to X$ is the normalisation morphism and B^{ν} is defined by log pullback, i.e. $K_{X^{\nu}} + B^{\nu} = \nu^*(K_X + B)$.

We end the section with some Bertini-type results. These are well-known over fields of characteristic 0, while they fail in general in positive characteristic. However, in [Tan17], the author proves that we can perturb log canonical and klt pairs with divisors coming from a semiample linear system without changing the singularities also in positive characteristic.

Definition 1.2.8. A field k is called F-finite if the field obtained by adding all p^{th} -roots, $k^{\frac{1}{p}}$, is a finite extension of k.

Theorem 1.2.9 ([Tan17, Theorem 1]). Let k be an F-finite field of characteristic p > 0 and k_0 a perfect field contained in it. Let X be a projective variety over k and (X, B) a log canonical (resp. klt) pair, where B is an effective Q-divisor. Assume there exists a log resolution of (X, B). Let M be a semiample Q-Cartier Q-divisor on X. Then, for $m \gg 0$, there exists an effective Q-divisor $\Gamma_m \sim mM$ such that $\left(X, B + \frac{1}{m}\Gamma_m\right)$ is log canonical (resp. klt).

Corollary 1.2.10. Let k be an F-finite field of characteristic p > 0 and k_0 a perfect field contained in it. Let X be a projective variety over k and (X, B) a log canonical (resp. klt) pair, where B is an effective Q-divisor. Assume the existence of log resolutions in dimension $n := \dim(X)$. Let M be a Q-Cartier Q-divisor on X and $|V_{\bullet}| := (|V_m| \subseteq |mM|)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ a sub-linear system. Fix a positive integer $\overline{m} \ge 1$, choose a basis $\mathcal{B} := \{s_1, ..., s_\ell\}$ of $V_{\overline{m}}$ and define $V_{\overline{m}}(k_0) := \{\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} a_i s_i \text{ s.t. } a_i \in k_0\}$.

- (i) Suppose that $V_{\overline{m}}$ is base point free. Then, for $m \gg 0$ and sufficiently divisible, there exists an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $\Gamma_m \in |V_{\overline{m}m}|$ such that Γ_m can be decomposed as $\sum_{i=1}^m D_i$ with $D_i \in |V_{\overline{m}}(k_0)|$ and $\left(X, B + \frac{1}{\overline{m}m}\Gamma_m\right)$ is log canonical (resp. klt).
- (ii) Suppose that $\operatorname{Bs}(V_{\overline{m}}) = W \subseteq X$. Then, for $m \gg 0$, there exists an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $\Gamma_m \in |V_{\overline{m}m}|$ such that Γ_m can be decomposed as $\sum_{i=1}^m D_i$ with $D_i \in |V_{\overline{m}}(k_0)|$, and $\left(X, B + \frac{1}{m}\Gamma_m\right)$ is log canonical (resp. klt) outside W and has a non-klt centre at every irreducible component of W.

Proof. Point (i) follows directly from the proof of Theorem 1.2.9 noting the following. In the notation of the proof of [Tan17, Proposition 2, Proposition 3], we consider $T_1 := \mathbb{A}^{\ell}$ with basis \mathcal{B} and then we choose $\mathcal{B}^{\dim(X)}$ as basis of $T := T_1^{\dim(X)}$. With this choice, we get the statement.

As for point (ii), let $\mu: Y \to X$ be a birational model such that $\mu^*|V_{\overline{m}}| = |M_{\overline{m}}| + \Phi$, where $|M_{\overline{m}}|$ is base point free and Φ is the fixed divisor. In particular, Φ contains a place over every component of W. By possibly passing to a higher model, we can assume μ is a log resolution of (X, B). Define an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor B_Y as

$$K_Y + B_Y = \mu^*(K_X + B) + E,$$

where E is an effective μ -exceptional divisor with no common components with B_Y . Let φ be the rational function defining Φ , then, for all $i = 1, ..., \ell$, there is a rational function t_i such that $\mu^* s_i = \varphi t_i$. Define $\mathcal{B}' := \{t_1, ..., t_\ell\}, W_1(k_0) := \{\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} a_i t_i \text{ s.t. } a_i \in k_0\}$ and, for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, let $W_m := \text{Sym}^m M_{\overline{m}}$. Note that $|W_1(k_0)| + \Phi = \mu^* |V_{\overline{m}}(k_0)|$. By point (i), for some integer $m \geq 1$, we find an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $\Gamma_{Y,m}$ that admits a decomposition as $\sum_{i=1}^{m} D_i$ with $D_i \in W_1(k_0)$ and such that $(Y, B_Y + \frac{1}{m} \Gamma_{Y,m})$ is log canonical. Therefore, $(Y, B_Y + \frac{1}{m} \Gamma_{Y,m} + \Phi)$ is log canonical outside $\text{Supp}(\Phi)$ and has a non-klt place over every component of W. Since $D_i + \Phi \in \mu^* |V_{\overline{m}}(k_0)|$, by the projection formula, there exists an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $\Gamma_m \in |V_{\overline{m}m}|$ on X which pulls-back to $\Gamma_{Y,m} + m\Phi$ and satisfies the required properties.

1.3. *F*-singularities

In this section, we overview the definitions of the main types of F-singularities over fields of positive characteristic. For a more detailed discussion, we refer to [PST17].

Definition 1.3.1. Let k be a field of characteristic p > 0 and let $k \subseteq L$ be a field extension. Let $l \in L$ be an element of L. We say l is **separable** over k if its minimum polynomial over k has distinct roots. We say l is **purely inseparable** over k if there exists $e \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ such that $l^{p^e} \in k$. The extension L is called **separable** (resp. **purely inseparable**) over k if all its elements are separable (resp. purely inseparable) over k. If L is neither separable nor purely inseparable over k, it is called **inseparable** over k. Let $\alpha \colon X \to Y$ be a finite morphism between normal varieties over a field k. It is called **separable** (resp. **purely inseparable** or **inseparable**) if the induced extension of function fields $k(Y) \subseteq k(X)$ satisfies the corresponding property.

The most fundamental purely inseparable map is the *Frobenius morphism*. Indeed, every purely inseparable map factorises a suitable power of it.

Definition 1.3.2. Let X be a variety over a field of characteristic p > 0. We will denote by $F_X: X^1 \to X$ the **absolute Frobenius morphism of** X or simply **Frobenius morphism**. It is the identity on the underlying topological space, and it acts on regular functions by raising them to the p^{th} power. For all $e \ge 1$ we denote by $F^e: X^e \to X$ the e^{th} power of the absolute Frobenius. Note that X and X^e are the same scheme abstractly, although they are not isomorphic over k, hence we will often simply write $F^e: X \to X$, when it does not cause ambiguity.

Remark 1.3.3. Let X be a variety over a perfect field k of characteristic p > 0. The geometric Frobenius morphism of X is a variant of the Frobenius morphism that is k-linear (see Definition 2.3.12). However, since k is perfect, it differs from the absolute Frobenius only by an automorphism of k, therefore we will not distinguish them.

1.3.1. Traces of Frobenius map

A fundamental tool in the theory of F-singularities is the following duality statement, that we will apply to the Frobenius morphism.

Given a variety X, we denote by $\mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(-,-)$ the sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X -homomorphisms, whereas $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(-,-)$ denotes its space of global sections.

Theorem 1.3.4 (Grothendieck–Verdier duality, [Huy06, Theorem 3.34]). Consider $f: X \to Y$ a morphism between smooth schemes over any field of relative dimension $d := \dim(X) - \dim(Y)$. For any \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} coherent sheaves on X and Y respectively, there exists a functorial isomorphism in the bounded derived category of coherent sheaves on Y:

$$Rf_*R \mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}\left(\mathcal{F}, Lf^*\mathcal{G} \otimes \omega_X \otimes f^*\omega_Y^{-1}\left[d\right]\right) \simeq R \mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_Y}(Rf_*\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}),$$

where the R and L in the formula above mean that we are taking the right and left derived functors and [d] is the shift in the derived category. In particular, if we apply it to $F^e: X \to X$ and \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} locally free sheaves, we obtain the isomorphism:

$$F^e_* \mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}\left(\mathcal{F}, F^{e*}\mathcal{G} \otimes \omega_X^{\otimes (1-p^e)}\right) \simeq \mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_Y}(F^e_*\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}).$$

Remark 1.3.5. We can apply the above isomorphism also to $F^e: X \to X$, where X is a normal variety and to reflexive sheaves \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} on X by first restricting to the regular locus of X and then extending the isomorphism everywhere using the S_2 property of X.

Recall also that, if \mathcal{F} is a coherent sheaf on X and \mathcal{G} is reflexive, then $\mathscr{H}om_X(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G})$ is again reflexive, and so are the sheaves $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ for any Weil divisor D. In particular, as X is R_1 , we have that $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ always restricts to a line bundle on $X \setminus \operatorname{Sing}(X)$, thus we have isomorphisms

$$\mathscr{H}om_X(\mathcal{F}(-D),\mathcal{G})\cong \mathscr{H}om_X(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}(D)).$$

This fact will be tacitly used when applying Grothendieck–Verdier duality for a finite morphism.

From now on, throughout the section we will denote by (X, B) a sub-couple over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, such that $K_X + B$ is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor, unless otherwise stated.

We introduce notation relative to trace maps of Frobenius morphisms. Given (X, B), let $a \ge 1$ be the smallest integer such that aB is integral, and let $d \ge 1$ be the smallest integer such that a divides $(p^d - 1)$. As $(p^e - 1)B$ is integral for all $e \in d\mathbb{N}$, we have divisorial sheaves

$$\mathcal{L}_{X,B}^{(e)} := \mathcal{O}_X((1-p^e)(K_X+B)).$$

When X is clear from the context, we will simply write $\mathcal{L}_B^{(e)}$. In particular, $\mathcal{L}^{(e)} = \mathcal{O}_X((1-p^e)K_X)$. We have a trace map $F_*^e\mathcal{O}_X(K_X) \to \mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$ by Grothendieck–Verdier duality. When (X, B) is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -couple, i.e. $B \ge 0$, then twisting by $-K_X$ gives a map

$$T_B^e \colon F_*^e \mathcal{L}_{X,B}^{(e)} \subseteq F_*^e \mathcal{L}_X^{(e)} \to \mathcal{O}_X.$$

By further twisting the above map by any integral divisor L we then obtain

$$T_B^e(L): F_*^e \mathcal{L}_{X,B}^{(e)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_X(L) \to \mathcal{O}_X(L).$$

Definition 1.3.6. We define the space of **Frobenius stable sections of** $\mathcal{O}_X(L)$ as

$$S^{0}(X,B;L) := \bigcap_{e \in d\mathbb{N}} \operatorname{Im}(H^{0}(X,T^{e}_{B}(L))) \subseteq H^{0}(X,\mathcal{O}_{X}(L)).$$

Note that, when X is proper, we have $S^0(X, B; L) = \text{Im}(H^0(X, T_B^e(L)))$ for some sufficiently large $e \in d\mathbb{N}$ ([PST17, Definition 3.10]).

We now extend the above construction to the case where B is not necessarily effective. As B is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Weil, we have an \mathcal{O}_X -linear twisted trace map T_B^e , fitting in the following commutative diagram

for all $e \in d\mathbb{N}$. To construct it we work locally over the regular locus of X. Write $(p^e - 1)B = E^+ - E^-$, and let f be a regular function such that $E^- = (f = 0)$. If σ is a section of $\mathcal{L}_B^{(e)}$, then locally $\sigma = s/f$, where $s \in \mathcal{L}_{B^+}^{(e)}$. Then, by \mathcal{O}_X -linearity we must have

$$T_B^e(F_*^e(\sigma)) := \frac{T_{B^+}^e(F_*^e(f^{p^e-1}s))}{f}$$

In particular, $\operatorname{Im}(T_B^e) \subseteq \mathcal{O}_X(E^-)$.

Proposition 1.3.7 ([DS17, §2]). The assignment $B \mapsto (T_B^e \colon F_*^e \mathcal{L}_B^{(e)} \to k(X))$ defines bijections



where $\psi_1 \sim \psi_2$ if the two maps agree up to multiplication by a unit of $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$.

Sketch of proof. We construct the top horizontal maps. For the general case, we refer the reader to [DS17, 2.1.1]. Given $B \ge 0$ we set $\mathcal{L} := \mathcal{L}_{X,B}^{(e)}$ and $\psi := T_B^e$. Conversely, given ψ , by Grothendieck–Verdier duality (Theorem 1.3.4) we have

$$\psi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{O}_X) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{O}_X((1-p^e)K_X))$$
$$\simeq H^0(X, \mathcal{L}^{-1}((1-p^e)K_X)).$$

We identify ψ with an element $D_{\psi} \in H^0(X, \mathcal{L}^{-1}((1-p^e)K_X))$, up to multiplication by a unit in $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$, and we set $B := D_{\psi}/(p^e - 1)$. qed

1.3.2. Global *F*-singularities

In this section, we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Definition 1.3.8. Let (X, B) be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -sub-couple and d the smallest integer such that $(p^d - 1)B$ is integral. Then (X, B) is **globally sub-***F***-split** (GsFS) if, for some $e \in d\mathbb{N}$, there exists a map $\sigma^e \colon \mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_* \mathcal{L}^{(e)}$ such that $T^e_B \circ \sigma^e$ is the identity on \mathcal{O}_X . If $B \ge 0$, we say (X, B) is **globally** *F***-split** (GFS).

Remark 1.3.9 ([Eji17, Remark 2.2]). If (X, B) is globally sub-*F*-split, then T_B^e is split surjective for all $e \in d\mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 1.3.10. $A \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -couple (X, B) is globally F-split if and only if $S^0(X, B; \mathcal{O}_X) = H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$.

Proof. If T_B^e is split surjective for all $e \in d\mathbb{N}$, then clearly $S^0(X, B; \mathcal{O}_X) = H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$. Conversely, let $\sigma^e \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X((1-p^e)(K_X+B)))$ such that $H^0(X, T_B^e)(\sigma^e) = 1$. The induced map of sheaves $\sigma^e \colon \mathcal{O}_X \to F_*^e \mathcal{L}_B^{(e)}$ gives a splitting of T_B^e . qed

Definition 1.3.11. A $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -couple (X, B) is globally *F*-regular (GFR) if, for every divisor $E \ge 0$, the map $T^{e}_{B+E/(p^{e}-1)}$ is split surjective for all $e \in d\mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large.

Globally F-regular couples behave similarly to klt pairs with respect to perturbations of the boundary.

Lemma 1.3.12 ([SS10, Corollary 6.1]). Let (X, B) be a globally *F*-regular couple and let $D \ge 0$ be a divisor. Then $(X, B + \varepsilon D)$ is globally *F*-regular for all sufficiently small and positive $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$.

Lemma 1.3.13 ([SS10, Proposition 3.8(i)]). Let (X, B) be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -couple. Then (X, B) is globally *F*-regular if and only if for all divisors $D \ge 0$ and all sufficiently small positive $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ the couple $(X, B + \varepsilon D)$ is globally *F*-split.

The following examples show how the arithmetic comes into play when we consider these singularities.

Example 1.3.14. When B = 0, a variety X is GFS if and only if the morphism $\mathcal{O}_X \to F_*\mathcal{O}_X$ splits. This is equivalent to asking the map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F_*\mathcal{O}_X, \mathcal{O}_X) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{O}_X, \mathcal{O}_X)$$

to be surjective. If X is regular of dimension n, by Serre duality, this is in turn equivalent to asking

$$H^n(X,\omega_X) \to H^n(X,\omega_X \otimes F_*\mathcal{O}_X)$$

to be injective. Let E be an elliptic curve over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0, then it is GFS if and only if it is *ordinary*, i.e. its subgroup of p-torsion points E[p] is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$. This fact is well-known to the experts, anyway we sketch a proof here. Since ω_E is trivial, by the above discussion, the GFS condition is equivalent to F acting injectively on $H^1(E, \mathcal{O}_E)$. Note that $H^1(E, \mathcal{O}_E)$ can be identified with the tangent space to $\operatorname{Pic}^0(E) \simeq E$ and the action of the Frobenius on $H^1(E, \mathcal{O}_E)$ under this identification corresponds to the action of the Verschiebung morphism V on the tangent space to E. This action is injective if and only if it is an isomorphism and this happens if and only if it is étale. But V being étale is equivalent to asking that its kernel on E is a constant group scheme (of order p). Since the multiplication by p can be written as $[p] = F \circ V$, E[p] = E[F]E[V]. Since F is purely inseparable, E[p] contains the constant group scheme $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ if and only if E[V] does.

Example 1.3.15. Let $B := \sum_{i=1}^{4} \frac{1}{2}(p_i)$, where the p_i 's are distinct points on \mathbb{P}^1 . Consider the pair (\mathbb{P}^1, B) over a field of characteristic p > 2. Let $\pi : E \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be the natural cover by an elliptic curve ramified at the four chosen points. The pair (\mathbb{P}^1, B) is GFS if and only if E is GFS, thus ordinary. To prove this, apply [ST14, Theorem 6.28] to the map induced on the cones over E and \mathbb{P}^1 and conclude by [SS10, Proposition 5.3]. Globally F-split and globally F-regular pairs should be thought of as pairs of log Calabi–Yau type, resp. log Fano type, with arithmetically well-behaved Frobenius. This is made more precise in the next statements.

Definition 1.3.16. Let (X, B) be a projective pair over a perfect field of any characteristic. We say (X, B) is **log Fano** if $K_X + B$ is anti-ample and (X, B) is klt. We say it is **log Calabi–Yau** if $K_X + B$ is Q-linearly trivial and (X, B) is log canonical. We say (X, B) is of **log Fano type** (resp. of **log Calabi–Yau type**) if there exists an effective Q-divisor Δ such that $(X, B + \Delta)$ is log Fano (resp. log Calabi–Yau).

Definition 1.3.17. Let (X, B) be a projective sub-couple over \mathbb{C} . A model of (X, B) is a normal, integral, separated, projective scheme of finite type over a finitely generated \mathbb{Z} -algebra $A, \mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(A)$, together with a \mathbb{Q} -divisor \mathcal{B} such that $(X, B) = (\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(A)} \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime ideal of A and $k(\mathfrak{p})$ the corresponding residue field. We denote by $(X_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}}, B_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})$ the fibre product $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(A)} \operatorname{Spec}(\overline{k(\mathfrak{p})})$ and we call it the **reduction modulo** \mathfrak{p} of (X, B).

Theorem 1.3.18 ([SS10, Theorem 5.1]). Let (X, B) be a projective pair over \mathbb{C} of log Fano type. Then (X, B) has open globally F-regular type; that is, for every model $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \to \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ of (X, B), the set of primes $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq A$ such that $(X_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}}, B_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})$ is globally F-regular is open and dense in $\operatorname{Spec}(A)$.

Theorem 1.3.19 ([CGS16, Corollary 4.1]). Let $I \subseteq (0,1) \cap Q$ be a finite subset. Let

$$I_{+} := \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{j} i_{j} \mid i_{j} \in I, a_{j} \in \mathbb{N}, m \in \mathbb{N} \right\} \cap [0, 1]$$

and

$$D(I) := \left\{ \frac{m-1+f}{m} \mid m \in \mathbb{N}, \ f \in I_+ \right\} \cap [0,1]$$

Then there exists a positive integer p_0 such that, if (\mathbb{P}^1, B) is a log Fano pair defined over a perfect field of characteristic $p > p_0$ such that the coefficients of B belong to D(I), then (\mathbb{P}^1, B) is globally F-regular.

A similar result is expected to hold for log Calabi–Yau pairs.

Conjecture 1.3.20 (Weak Ordinarity, [HW02, Problem 5.1.2], [SS10, Remark 5.2]). Let (X, B) be a projective pair over \mathbb{C} of log Calabi–Yau type. Then (X, B) has dense globally F-split type; that is, for every model $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \to \text{Spec}(A)$ of (X, B), the set of primes $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq A$ such that $(X_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}, B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})$ is globally F-split is dense in Spec(A).

Remark 1.3.21. Let (X, B) be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -couple over k such that X is geometrically normal, then it is globally F-regular (resp. globally F-split) if and only if the base change $(\overline{X}, \overline{B}) := (X, B) \times_{\text{Spec}(k)} \text{Spec}(\overline{k})$ over the algebraic closure \overline{k} is globally Fregular (resp. globally F-split). To see this, apply Lemma 1.3.10 and Lemma 1.3.13 and use the fact that $S^0(X, B; \mathcal{O}_X) \times_k \overline{k} = S^0(\overline{X}, \overline{B}; \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}})$.
Given $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \to \operatorname{Spec}(A)$, model of a projective pair (X, B) over \mathbb{C} , by [Gro67, Proposition 9.9.4], the set of primes such that $X_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}}$ is normal, is open and dense. Therefore, asking for the existence of an open and dense set of primes \mathfrak{p} of $\operatorname{Spec}(A)$ for which $(X_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}}, B_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})$ is globally *F*-regular is equivalent to asking that there exists such set for which $(X_{\mathfrak{p}}, B_{\mathfrak{p}}) := (\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(A)} \operatorname{Spec}(k(\mathfrak{p}))$ is globally *F*-regular. In the same spirit, we can rephrase Conjecture 1.3.20 by asking for the set of primes $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq A$ such that $(X_{\mathfrak{p}}, B_{\mathfrak{p}}) := (\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(A)} \operatorname{Spec}(k(\mathfrak{p}))$ is globally *F*-split to be dense in Spec(A).

1.3.3. Local *F*-singularities

In this section, we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Definition 1.3.22. A couple (X, B) is sharply F-pure (resp. strongly *F*-regular or SFR for short) if X is covered by a finite number of open subsets U such that the pairs $(U, \Delta|_U)$ are globally *F*-split (resp. globally *F*-regular).

Example 1.3.23. If X is a regular variety, then it is SFR. Indeed, Kunz' theorem states that X is regular if and only if $F_*^e \mathcal{O}_X$ is locally free for all $e \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, on a regular variety, we can always construct the splitting maps locally.

Remark 1.3.24. If (X, B) is sharply F-pure (resp. SFR), then it is log canonical (resp. klt) ([HW02, Theorem 3.3]). A surface S over a field of characteristic p > 5 is SFR if and only if it is klt (with no boundary divisor). If we allow boundary divisors, we get the same conclusion for every $p \ge p_0$ for a fixed $p_0 \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$, which depends on the coefficients of the boundary (see [CGS16, Theorem 1.1]).

Furthermore, if X is a normal variety over \mathbb{C} and we choose \mathcal{X} a model of X over Spec(\mathbb{Z}), then X is klt if and only if X_p is SFR for infinitely many primes p (see [Har98, Theorem 5.2], [HW02, Theorem 3.7]).

Remark 1.3.25. If (X, B) is SFR and D is an effective divisor, then for any sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$, $(X, B + \varepsilon D)$ is SFR as well ([CTX15, Remark 2.8]).

The next results are Bertini-type theorems for semiample linear systems. This problem has been studied in [Tan17]. We will use a slight variation of those results, proven as a corollary below.

Definition 1.3.26. Let X be a normal projective variety. Let $|V_{\bullet}| := (|V_m|)_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq (|mM|)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a semiample graded linear system on X, where M is a Cartier divisor on X. We say $|V_{\bullet}|$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -semiample if there exists an integer $m \geq 1$ not divisible by p such that V_m is base point free.

Proposition 1.3.27 ([Tan17, Proposition 2]). Let k be an F-finite field of characteristic p > 0 and k_0 a perfect field contained in it. Let X be a projective regular variety over k and let (X, B) be a strongly F-regular pair, where B is an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor. Let M be a semiample \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X. Then, for $m \gg 0$, there exists an effective divisor $\Gamma_m \sim mM$ such that $\left(X, B + \frac{1}{m}\Gamma_m\right)$ is strongly F-regular.

Corollary 1.3.28. Let k be an F-finite field of characteristic p > 0 and k_0 a perfect field contained in it. Let X be a projective regular variety over k and (X, B) a strongly F-regular pair, where B is an effective Q-divisor. Let $|V_{\bullet}| := (|V_m|)_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq$ $(|mM|)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a semiample graded linear system on X, where M is a Cartier divisor on X. Then, for $m \gg 0$, there exists an effective divisor $\Gamma_m \in |V_m|$ such that $(X, B + \frac{1}{m}\Gamma_m)$ is strongly F-regular. Moreover, if $|V_{\bullet}|$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -semiample, Γ_m can be chosen in $|V_m|$, for some $m \gg 0$ not divisible by p.

Proof. The proof of Proposition 1.3.27 carries over in the same way, taking divisors inside $|V_{\bullet}|$ instead of divisors \mathbb{Q} -equivalent to L. This can be done since $|V_{\bullet}|$ is semiample. qed

Chapter 2

Fibrations in positive characteristic

Fibrations are a fundamental tool in birational geometry, used to "split" varieties into simpler pieces. In fact, the Minimal Model Program predicts that we can decompose each variety by means of fibrations into building blocks that are either log Fano varieties, log Calabi–Yau or varieties of general type.

In this section we study properties of fibrations that appear specifically in positive characteristic.

Definition 2.0.1. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a projective morphism between normal varieties over any field. It is called a **fibration** if $f_*\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_Z$.

Remark 2.0.2. In characteristic 0, the above definition is equivalent to asking f to be surjective with connected fibres ([Har77, §11, Chapter III]). On the other hand, purely inseparable morphisms are surjective with connected fibres, but they are not fibrations.

Notation

Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties over a field k of any characteristic.

- Given a prime divisor $D \subseteq X$, we say D is *horizontal* if f(D) = Z, we say it is *vertical* otherwise.
- Given a curve $\xi \subseteq X$, we say ξ is *horizontal* if $f(\xi)$ is a curve, we say it is *vertical* otherwise.
- Given a Q-divisor D on X, we can decompose it into its horizontal and vertical parts, denoted by D^h and D^v , respectively, so that $D = D^h + D^v$.
- A general (resp. very general) fibre of f is $X_z := f^{-1}(z)$ where z is a closed point over \overline{k} belonging to a dense open subset of Z (resp. to a countable intersection of dense open subsets of Z).

- If η is the generic point of Z, we denote by $\overline{\eta}$ its geometric generic point and by X_{η} (resp. $X_{\overline{\eta}}$) the generic (resp. geometric generic) fibre of f. Note that X_{η} may be defined over an imperfect field.
- Let D be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X, and let $z, \eta \in Z$ denote a general point and the generic point, respectively. We denote by D_{η} the base change of D to the generic fibre and $D_{\bar{\eta}}$ the base change to the geometric generic fibre. If X_z is normal, D is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier along any codimension 1 point of X_z , hence the restricted divisor $D_z := D|_{X_z}$ is well-defined.
- If δ is a prime divisor on Z whose preimage under f is of pure codimension 1 in X, we denote by $f^{-1}(\delta)$ the induced divisor on X with its reduced structure.
- Assume the general fibre X_z is normal and X is projective. Let D be a divisor on X and let $V \subseteq H^0(X, D)$ be a subspace. We denote by V_z the image of Vunder the natural restriction map $H^0(X, D) \to H^0(X_z, D_z)$ and by $|V|_z \subseteq |D_z|$ the linear subsystem generated by V_z . In other words, the divisors in $|V|_z$ are exactly the divisors in $|D_z|$ which extend to divisors in $|V| \subseteq |D|$.

Remark 2.0.3. Let $f: X \to Z$ be an equidimensional morphism of normal varieties, and let D be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on Z. Then we can define f^*D even if D is not \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. Let $Z^0 \subseteq Z$ denote the regular locus and let $f^0: X^0 := f^{-1}(Z^0) \to Z^0$ be the induced morphism: then we define f^*D as the closure of $f^{0*}(D|_{Z^0})$ inside X; it is canonically determined since $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_0) \geq 2$.

Up to a birational base change, we can always assume our fibration is equidimensional.

Lemma 2.0.4 (Flattening lemma, [AO00, §3.3], [RG71, Théorème 5.2.2]). Consider $f: X \to Z$, a projective dominant morphism of normal varieties, and let η be the generic point of Z. Then, there exists a projective birational morphism $Z' \to Z$ such that, if $\widetilde{X} \subset X \times_Z Z'$ is the Zariski closure of the generic fibre $X_\eta \times_{Z'} Z$, the induced morphism $\widetilde{f}: \widetilde{X} \to Z'$ is flat. In particular, if $X' := \widetilde{X}^{\nu}$, the morphism $f': X' \to Z'$ is equidimensional.

As a consequence of the Flattening lemma we have the following.

Lemma 2.0.5 ([JW21, Lemma 2.19]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a projective dominant morphism of normal varieties. Then, there is an open subset $U \subseteq Z$ with $\operatorname{codim}(Z \setminus U) \ge 2$ such that $X_U := f^{-1}(U)$ is flat over U.

We will often use the following straightforward extension of the projection formula. **Lemma 2.0.6.** Let $f: X \to Z$ be an equidimensional projective morphism between normal varieties, let \mathcal{L} be a divisorial sheaf on Z and \mathcal{F} a reflexive sheaf on X. Then we have a natural isomorphism

$$f_*\mathcal{F}[\otimes]\mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{\simeq} f_*(\mathcal{F}[\otimes]f^*\mathcal{L}).$$

Proof. By the usual projection formula, we have an isomorphism as above over the regular locus of Z. By [Har80, Corollary 1.7], if \mathcal{G} is a coherent reflexive sheaf on X, $f_*\mathcal{G}$ is a coherent reflexive sheaf on Z. Therefore, the sheaves on both sides of the equation are reflexive. As Z is normal, we conclude by restricting on the smooth locus of Z. qed

2.1. Separable fibrations

In characteristic 0, given a fibration, it is automatic that the generic fibre is geometrically reduced. In positive characteristic, this is no longer true and it is equivalent to asking that the fibration is *separable*.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Definition 2.1.1. Let $K \subseteq L$ be a field extension. It is called **separable** if there exists a transcendence basis $t_1, ..., t_{\ell}$ such that L is a finite separable extension of $K(t_1, ..., t_{\ell})$.

Let $f: X \to Z$ be a morphism between integral varieties. We say that f is **separable** if the field extension $k(Z) \subseteq k(X)$ is separable; otherwise, f is called **inseparable**.

Proposition 2.1.2 ([Liu02, Proposition 2.15, Chapter 3]). Let K be a field. A variety X over Spec(K) is geometrically reduced if and only if $f: X \to \text{Spec}(K)$ is separable.

Remark 2.1.3. In particular, a fibration $f: X \to Z$ is separable if and only if the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is reduced.

When Z is a curve, a theorem of MacLane [Mac40] allows us to compare the notion of separability of a surjective morphism with its Stein factorisation. In this case it is therefore easier to check this condition. We write here a version of it restated in geometric terms.

Theorem 2.1.4 ([Sch10, Corollary 2.5]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration onto a curve Z. Then f is separable.

Definition 2.1.5. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a surjective projective morphism between normal varieties and let $\varphi \circ g$ be its Stein factorisation, where φ is finite and g is a fibration. We denote by $\operatorname{St.deg}(f)$ the degree of φ and we call it the **Stein degree** of f. We further decompose $\varphi = \psi \circ \varphi'$, where ψ is purely inseparable and φ' is finite separable. We say that the degree of ψ is the **purely inseparable degree** of f.

Example 2.1.6. In general, the condition $f_*\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_Z$ is not enough to ensure separability. Consider, for example, the threefold $X = V(sx^p + ty^p + z^p) \subset \mathbb{P}^2_{[x:y:z]} \times \mathbb{A}^2_{(s,t)}$. Let f be the fibration induced by the natural projection onto $Z := \mathbb{A}^2_{(s,t)}$. Then fsatisfies $f_*\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_Z$, but it is not separable.

Remark 2.1.7. Even if a fibration is separable, its fibres may be highly singular. For example, in characteristics 2 and 3, there exist elliptic surfaces whose structural fibration has general fibre being a cuspidal curve. In dimension 2 this phenomenon happens only for p = 2,3, whereas in higher dimension it is not even known if Calabi–Yau fibrations have normal general fibre for $p \gg 0$.

2.2. Singularities of fibrations

2.2.1. Log canonical singularities in families

Over fields of positive characteristic, heuristically, the generic fibre of a fibration $f: X \to Z$ reflects properties of X, while the geometric generic fibre is strictly related to the general fibres of f. Here, we make this philosophy more precise, in particular studying the property of being log canonical.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of any characteristic, unless otherwise stated.

Definition 2.2.1. We denote by (X/Z, B) the data of a sub-pair (X, B) and a fibration between normal varieties $f: X \to Z$.

We say (X/Z, B) is generically log canonical or GLC if the sub-pair (X_{η}, B_{η}) is log canonical, where η is the generic point of Z and B_{η} is defined by restriction. We say (X/Z, B) is geometrically generically log canonical or GGLC if Zis irreducible and the sub-pair $(X_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}, B_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu})$ is log canonical, where $X_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}$ is the normalisation of the geometric generic fibre and $B_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}$ is the divisor defined on it by restriction.

Remark 2.2.2. In particular, given a fibration $f: X \to Z$ between normal varieties, if there exists a Q-divisor B on X such that (X/Z, B) is GGLC, then f is separable. Remark 2.2.3. If $f: X \to Z$ is a fibration between normal varieties over a field of characteristic 0 and B is a Q-divisor on X, then (X/Z, B) is GLC if and only if it is GGLC.

Definition 2.2.4. Let K be a field and \overline{K} its algebraic closure. Let $K \subseteq L \subseteq \overline{K}$ be a finite field extension of K. Let X be a variety over \overline{K} . We say that X is **defined over** L if there exists a variety X_L over L such that $X_L \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(L)} \operatorname{Spec}(\overline{K}) = X$. **Lemma 2.2.5.** Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties. Assume that B is a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. Suppose that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is integral and let $X_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}$ be its normalisation. Let $B_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}$ be the boundary divisor on $X_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}$ defined by restriction. If $(X_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}, B_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu})$ is log canonical, then $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal. In particular, the geometric generic fibre of a GGLC pair is normal.

Proof. The pair $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ is slc. In fact, the S_2 property is invariant by flat base change and X_{η} is normal. Moreover, if $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ had singularities worse than nodal in codimension 1, $B_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}$ would have coefficients strictly bigger than 1 coming from the conductor over those singularities, contradicting the log canonical assumption.

Furthermore, the normalisation of the geometric generic fibre is a universal homeomorphism by [Tan18, Lemma 2.2]. Thus, nodal singularities cannot appear. qed

Remark 2.2.6. If the characteristic of the base field is p > 2, the following is an alternative proof. Since $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ is slc, the divisor $B_{\bar{\eta}}{}^{\nu}$ can be written as $\overline{C} + \overline{B}$, where \overline{C} is the conductor of the normalisation (see [Kol13, 5.7]). By [PW22, Theorem 1.2], the coefficients of \overline{C} are divisible by p-1. When p > 2, this contradicts the assumption that $(X_{\bar{\eta}}{}^{\nu}, B_{\bar{\eta}}{}^{\nu})$ is log canonical. Hence, $\overline{C} = 0$ and the normalisation of the geometric generic fibre is an isomorphism.

Proposition 2.2.7 ([PW22, Proposition 2.1, Lemma 2.2]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a morphism of varieties. Then the geometric generic fibre is normal (resp. regular, reduced) if and only if a general fibre is normal (resp. regular, reduced). Let $Y \to X$ be the normalisation of X. If for a general point $z \in Z$, Y_z is normal, then Y_z is the normalisation of X_z .

Lemma 2.2.8. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal varieties and let $\varphi: Z' \to Z$ be a generically finite map. Let Y' be the normalisation of the main component of the fibre product $X' := X \times_Z Z'$. If the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal, the conductor of $Y' \to X'$ is vertical. In particular, $Y'_{\bar{\eta}} = X_{\bar{\eta}}$.

Proof. Note that $X_{\bar{\eta}} = X'_{\bar{\eta}}$, therefore X'_{η} is geometrically normal. This implies that there exists an open dense subset $U \subseteq Z'$ such that $V := f'^{-1}(U)$ is normal, whence $Y' \to X'$ is an isomorphism over V. Indeed, by the universal property of the normalisation, $Y'_{\bar{\eta}}$ is isomorphic to $X'_{\bar{\eta}}$. qed

Lemma 2.2.9. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal varieties. Assume that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal and let $\bar{\sigma}: \bar{Y} \to X_{\bar{\eta}}$ be a proper birational morphism between normal varieties. Then, there exist a generically finite map $\varphi: Z' \to Z$ and a proper birational morphism $\sigma: Y \to Y'$, where:

- (i) Y' is the normalisation of the main component of $X \times_Z Z'$;
- (*ii*) $Y_{\overline{\eta}} = \overline{Y}$.

If X and Z are projective, we can choose Z' and Y projective.

Proof. There exists L, finite extension of k(Z) such that \overline{Y} and $\overline{\sigma}$ are defined over L. By "spreading out techniques" (see [DW22, Proof of Corollary 1.10] and [Bri22, Lemma 2.25]), there exist $U \subseteq Z$ dense open subset and a finite map $\varphi \colon U' \to U$ such that, if W' is the normalisation of the main component of $f^{-1}(U) \times_U U'$, there is a proper birational map $s \colon W \to W'$ with $W_{\overline{\eta}} = \overline{Y}$. In general, we take Z' := U'. If Z is projective, let $\overline{U'}$ be a projective closure of U' and define $\varphi \colon Z' \to Z$ generically finite, as a resolution of the indeterminacies of $\overline{U'} \dashrightarrow Z$. Let Y' be the normalisation of the main component of $X \times_Z Z'$ and Y'' a projective closure of W, it has an induced rational map $\tau \colon Y'' \dashrightarrow Y'$, which is well-defined over U'. We take $\sigma \colon Y \to Y'$ to be a resolution of indeterminacies of τ that is an isomorphism over U'.

Proposition 2.2.10. Assume the existence of log resolutions of singularities in dimension d. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties such that $\dim(X) - \dim(Z) = d$. Let $B \ge 0$ be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor such that $K_X + B$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. The pair (X/Z, B) is GGLC if and only if:

- (i) the general fibre X_z of f is reduced and normal, and
- (ii) the pair (X_z, B_z) is log canonical.

Proof. Note that, by Proposition 2.2.7, condition (i) is equivalent to asking that $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is reduced and normal, where $\bar{\eta}$ is the geometric generic point of Z. Thus, by Lemma 2.2.5, the GGLC condition implies (i).

Let \overline{Y} be a log resolution of $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}})$. By the above Lemma 2.2.9, there exist a generically finite map $\varphi \colon Z' \to Z$ and a birational map $\sigma \colon Y \to Y'$, where Y'is the normalisation of the main component of $X' \coloneqq X \times_Z Z'$ and $Y_{\overline{\eta}} = \overline{Y}$. By Proposition 2.2.7, the general fibre of $Y \to Z$ is a log resolution of the general fibre of $Y' \to Z$. Let $\psi \colon Y' \to X$ be the induced generically finite map and define B' on Y' by log pullback, so that $K_{Y'} + B' = \psi^*(K_X + B)$.

Let X_z be the fibre of f over a general point $z \in Z$, $z' \in Z'$ a point mapping to zand $Y'_{z'} := f'^{-1}(z')$. By Lemma 2.2.8, since $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is reduced, the restriction of ψ to $Y'_{z'}$ is an isomorphism and the pairs (X_z, B_z) and $(Y'_{z'}, B'_{z'})$ defined via adjunction from (X, B) and (Y', B') respectively, coincide. So, (X_z, B_z) is log canonical if and only if $(Y'_{z'}, B'_{z'})$ is. Moreover, $X_{\bar{\eta}} = Y'_{\bar{\eta}}$. Now, let E be a horizontal exceptional divisor of σ . Since $\sigma^{-1}(Y'_{z'})$ is a log resolution of $(Y'_{z'}, B'_{z'})$, by construction the restriction of E to $\sigma^{-1}(Y'_{z'})$ is an irreducible exceptional divisor, call it $E_{z'}$. The same holds true for the restriction of E to the geometric generic fibre, say $E_{\bar{\eta}}$. Then, by adjunction, we see that the discrepancies of $E, E_{z'}$ and $E_{\bar{\eta}}$ coincide for $z' \in Z'$ general. qed

2.2.2. *F*-singularities in families

Here, we state some openness results for globally F-split and sharply F-pure singularities.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field k of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Remark 2.2.11. Let (X, B) be a sub-couple such that $K_X + B$ is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor. Then all the different classes of F-singularities can be given by replacing the absolute Frobenius F_X^e by the k-linear Frobenius $F_{X/k}^e$, as the two differ by the automorphism F_k^e .

Lemma 2.2.12. Let R be a smooth local k-algebra essentially of finite type, and let $0, \eta \in \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ be its closed and generic point, respectively. Let $(X, B = \sum_i a_i B_i)$ be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -pair and let $\pi \colon X \to \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ be a fibration with normal fibres such that π and $\pi|_{B_i}$ are flat for all i. Suppose that $(1 - p^e)(K_X + B) \sim 0$ and that (X_0, B_0) is globally F-split. Then $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}})$ is globally F-split.

Proof. Consider the Grothendieck trace map $F_{X/R*}^e \mathcal{O}_{X^e}(K_{X^e/R^e}) \to \mathcal{O}_{X_{R^e}}(K_{X_{R^e}/R^e})$ of the *R*-linear Frobenius. Twisting by $-K_{X_{R^e}/R^e}$ we obtain (\mathfrak{B})

$$T^{e}_{X/R,B} \colon F^{e}_{X/R*}\mathcal{O}_{X^{e}}((1-p^{e})(K_{X^{e}/R^{e}}+B)) \subseteq F^{e}_{X/R*}\mathcal{O}_{X^{e}}((1-p^{e})K_{X^{e}/R^{e}}) \to \mathcal{O}_{X_{R^{e}}}.$$

As all sheaves involved are reflexive and all varieties normal, we can replace X with the complement of some closed subset Z such that $\operatorname{codim}_X(Z), \operatorname{codim}_{X_t}(Z \cap X_t) \geq 2$ for all $t \in \operatorname{Spec}(R)$. In particular, we may assume that π is smooth. Taking global sections of (\mathfrak{B}) yields a map of finitely generated R^e -modules

$$H^{0}(X, T^{e}_{X/R,B}) \colon H^{0}(X^{e}, \mathcal{O}_{X^{e}}((1-p^{e})(K_{X^{e}/R^{e}}+B))) \to R^{e}.$$

Note that $H^0(X^e, \mathcal{O}_{X^e}((1-p^e)(K_{X^e/R^e}+B))) \simeq R^e$, since $(1-p^e)(K_X+B) \sim 0$.

By [PSZ18, Lemma 2.18] the trace map (\mathfrak{B}) is compatible with base change. As $T^{e}_{X/R,B} \otimes k(0)$ is surjective by the GFS hypothesis, then $T^{e}_{X/R,B} \otimes k(\bar{\eta})$ is also surjective by Nakayama's lemma. Thus, we have $H^{0}(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathcal{O}_{X_{\bar{\eta}}}) = S^{0}(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}}; \mathcal{O}_{X_{\bar{\eta}}})$, and we conclude by Lemma 1.3.10. qed

We state the next result in the assumptions in which we need to use it later. In the original paper it is proven in greater generality.

Theorem 2.2.13 ([PSZ18, Corollary 3.31]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties such that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal and the variety Z is Q-Gorenstein. Let B be an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Weil divisor on X. Suppose that $K_X + B$ is Q-Cartier and (X_z, B_z) is sharply F-pure, where X_z is a normal fibre over a closed point over \bar{k} and B_z is defined by $(K_X + B)|_{X_z} = K_{X_z} + B_z$. Then, $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ is sharply F-pure.

2.3. Foliations and purely inseparable morphisms

2.3.1. Foliations

Every separable fibration $f: X \to Z$ defines a *foliation* \mathcal{F} whose general leaves consist of the fibres of f and those subvarieties on which f is inseparable. Here, we give a formula for the canonical divisor of \mathcal{F} assuming that the general fibres of fare normal.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of any characteristic, unless otherwise stated.

Definition 2.3.1. Let X be a normal variety. A subsheaf $\mathcal{F} \subseteq T_X$ is said to be **saturated** if the quotient T_X/\mathcal{F} is torsion free. A **foliation** on X is a subsheaf of the tangent sheaf, $\mathcal{F} \subseteq T_X$, which is saturated, closed under Lie brackets, and, if the characteristic of the base field is p > 0, closed under p-powers.

Let $\omega_{\mathcal{F}} := \det(\mathcal{F})^*$, the dual of the reflexified top exterior power of \mathcal{F} . The canonical divisor of a foliation \mathcal{F} is any Weil divisor $K_{\mathcal{F}}$ such that $\mathcal{O}_X(K_{\mathcal{F}}) = \omega_{\mathcal{F}}$.

Remark 2.3.2. Over fields of characteristic p > 0, closure under Lie brackets follows from closure under *p*-powers by [Ger64].

Fibrations naturally induce foliations by considering the relative tangent bundle.

Lemma 2.3.3. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable flat fibration between normal varieties. The kernel of $df: T_X \to f^*T_Z$ is saturated in T_X .

Proof. Note that $T_X / \ker(df) \subseteq f^*T_Z$. Since Z is normal, T_Z is torsion free and since f is flat, by [Sta22, Tag 0AXV] f^*T_Z is torsion free. Therefore, $T_X / \ker(df)$ is torsion free as well. qed

Definition 2.3.4. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal varieties. It defines an induced foliation \mathcal{F} as the saturation of the kernel of $df: T_X \to f^*T_Z$.

Definition 2.3.5. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable equidimensional fibration between normal varieties. If f is equidimensional, we define the **ramification divisor of** fto be

$$R(f) := \sum (f^* \delta - f^{-1}(\delta)) = \sum (\ell_D - 1)D,$$

where the first sum is taken over all prime divisors δ of Z, while the second sum is taken over all vertical prime divisors D on X and ℓ_D is their multiplicity with respect to f. Assume now the characteristic of the base field is p > 0 and let D be a vertical prime divisor. If p divides ℓ_D , we call D a **wild fibre**. If $f: X \to Z$ is an equidimensional separable fibration without wild fibres, we call it a **tame fibration**. **Theorem 2.3.6.** Let $f: X \to Z$ be an equidimensional separable fibration between normal varieties and let \mathcal{F} be the foliation induced by f. Assume that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal. Then

$$K_{\mathcal{F}} = K_X - f^* K_Z - R(f) - W(f),$$

where R(f) is the ramification divisor and $W(f) \ge 0$ is supported on the wild fibres. More precisely, for every wild fibre D, there exists an integer $a_D \ge 0$ such that

$$W(f) = \sum_{D \text{ wild}} (a_D + 1)D$$

Proof. Step 1: Since f is equidimensional and X and Z are normal, by Lemma 2.0.5, by restricting to big open subsets, we can assume f is a flat morphism between smooth varieties. Therefore, by Lemma 2.3.3, we can assume $\mathcal{F} = \ker(df)$.

Step 2: We claim that there exists a dense open subset $U \subseteq X$ such that U_{η} is a big open subset of X_{η} and the sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{F}|_U \to T_X|_U \to f^*T_Z|_U \to 0$$

is exact. The sequence $0 \to \mathcal{F} \to T_X \to f^*T_Z$ is always exact, therefore we only need to show surjectivity at the generic fibre. Since $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal, its singular locus Σ has codimension ≥ 2 . Let L be a finite Galois extension of k(Z) over which Σ is defined. Let $G := \operatorname{Gal}(L/k(Z))$, then $\Sigma^G := \sum_{g \in G} g(\Sigma)$ descends to a cycle of codimension ≥ 2 defined on X_{η} . Let T be the Zariski closure of Σ^G in X, $U := X \setminus \operatorname{Supp}(T)$ and V := f(U). By [Sta22, Tag 01V8], up to possibly restricting V further (and restricting U accordingly), $f|_U : U \to V$ is a flat smooth fibration. By [Sta22, Tag 02G1], the sheaf $T_{U/V}$ is locally free and by [Sta22, Tag 02K4], the sequence

$$0 \to T_{U/V} \to T_U \to f^*T_V \to 0$$

is exact, whence the claim.

Step 3: By the first step, the difference between K_F and $K_X - f^*K_Z$ is supported on vertical divisors. Therefore, to conclude, we compute explicitly the image Iof $df: T_X \to f^*T_Z$ around codimension 1 points corresponding to prime vertical divisors. Note that I is locally free around points of codimension 1.

Let D be a prime vertical divisor. By localising at the generic point of D, we can assume $f: X \to Z$ is a fibration onto a curve Z. Around a general point of D, we can further assume that the fibres of f (with their reduced structure) are smooth. Therefore, we can choose local étale coordinates $x, y_1, ..., y_d$ around D such that D = V(x) and f is the map $(x, y_1, ..., y_d) \mapsto x^{\ell_D} u$, where $u \in k[x, y_1, ..., y_d]$ is a unit around D and ℓ_D is the multiplicity of D with respect to f. Let $\partial_x, \partial_{y_1}, ..., \partial_{y_d}$ be the derivations in T_X corresponding to the coordinate directions. Let $t := x^{\ell_D} u$ be a local coordinate of Z and ∂_t the corresponding derivation which generates T_Z .

<u>Tame case</u>: Assume that either the characteristic of the base field is 0 or p > 0and p does not divide ℓ_D . Then,

$$\begin{cases} df(\partial_x) = x^{\ell_D - 1}(v_x \partial_t); \\ df(\partial_{y_i}) = x^{\ell_D}(v_{y_i} \partial_t), \end{cases}$$

where v_x is a unit around D and v_{y_i} is a function. In particular, in this étale neighbourhood, $I = x^{\ell_D - 1} f^* T_Z$. Therefore, at the generic point of D, the sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{F} \to T_X \to x^{\ell_D - 1} f^* T_Z \to 0$$

is exact. By taking determinants, we get that $K_{\mathcal{F}} = K_X - f^* K_Z - (\ell_D - 1)D$ around D.

<u>Wild case</u>: Assume that the characteristic of the base field is p > 0 and p divides ℓ_D . Then,

$$\begin{cases} df(\partial_x) = x^{\ell_D}(x^{a_0}v_0\partial_t); \\ df(\partial_{y_i}) = x^{\ell_D}(x^{a_i}v_i\partial_t), \end{cases}$$

where, for j = 0, ..., d, $a_j \ge 0$ and, since f is separable, there exists an index j such that $0 \ne v_j$ is a unit around D. In particular, in this étale neighbourhood, $I = x^{\ell_D + a_D} f^*T_Z$, for some $a_D \ge 0$ and the sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{F} \to T_X \to x^{\ell_D + a_D} f^* T_Z \to 0$$

is exact. By taking determinants, we obtain $K_{\mathcal{F}} = K_X - f^* K_Z - (\ell_D + a_D)D$ around D. qed

Remark 2.3.7. The formula in Theorem 2.3.6 is well-known over fields of characteristic 0, where all fibrations are tame. See for example [Dru17, §2.6].

Example 2.3.8. Let $g: \mathbb{A}^2 \to \mathbb{A}^1$ be the fibration defined by $(x, y) \mapsto t := xy$. Let X be the blow-up at the origin of \mathbb{A}^2 and call E the exceptional divisor. Let $f: X \to \mathbb{A}^1$ be the induced fibration. Then, f is tame if and only if the characteristic of the base field is $\neq 2$, in which case $K_{\mathcal{F}} = K_X - f^* K_{\mathbb{A}^1} - E$. If the characteristic is 2, the wild fibre is exactly E and $K_{\mathcal{F}} = K_X - f^* K_{\mathbb{A}^1} - 2E$.

Example 2.3.9. The assumption on the normality of the geometric generic fibre in Theorem 2.3.6 is essential. Indeed, let k be a field of characteristic 3 and $S := V(y^2 - x^3 - t) \subseteq \mathbb{A}^3_{(x,y,t)}$. Let $f: S \to C := \mathbb{A}^1_t$ be the projection onto the third coordinate. The fibration f is a quasi-elliptic fibration, the geometric generic fibre

is reduced, but it has a cusp. Let $\mathcal{F} := \ker(df)$ and $D := V(y) \subseteq S$. We compute

$$\begin{cases} df(\partial_x) = 0; \\ df(\partial_y) = 2y\partial_t. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, we obtain the short exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{F} \to T_S \to 2yf^*T_C \to 0$, whence

$$K_{\mathcal{F}} = K_S - f^* K_C - D.$$

2.3.2. Frobenius base change

Note that the differential of the Frobenius morphism is 0. This easy observation plays a key role in the study of fibrations. In fact, to each finite purely inseparable morphism corresponds a foliation and vice-versa. In particular, given a fibration f, its induced foliation corresponds to the foliation induced by any power of the relative Frobenius. Using this correspondence, we provide formulas to relate the canonical divisors obtained from a Frobenius base change of a fibration. In Chapter 4, we perform this base change to overcome two issues: the fact that in positive characteristic we do not have a Cone theorem for foliations and to deal with fibrations with normal, but non-log canonical fibres. In Section 6.2, we use it to control fibrations with non-normal fibres.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field k of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Definition 2.3.10. Let X and X' be schemes over a field of characteristic p > 0. A purely inseparable morphism $a: X' \to X$ is called of **height one** if there exists $\alpha: X \to X'$ such that $a \circ \alpha = F$.

Proposition 2.3.11 ([PW22, Proposition 2.9]). Let X be a normal variety. There is a 1-to-1 correspondence

$$\left\{\begin{array}{c} Height one morphisms \\ X \to X' \text{ with } X' \text{ normal} \end{array}\right\} \longleftrightarrow \left\{\begin{array}{c} Foliations \mathcal{F} \subseteq T_X \end{array}\right\}$$

given by:

 $(\leftarrow) X' := \operatorname{Spec}_X(\mathcal{O}_X^{\mathcal{F}}), \text{ where } \mathcal{O}_X^{\mathcal{F}} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_X \text{ is the subsheaf of } \mathcal{O}_X \text{ that is taken to zero}$ by all the sections of \mathcal{F} ;

$$(\rightarrow) \mathcal{F} := \{ \partial \in T_X \text{ s.t. } \partial \mathcal{O}_{X'} = 0 \}$$

Moreover, morphisms of degree p^r correspond to foliations of rank r.

We now define the relative version of the Frobenius morphism and set some notation that will be used throughout the thesis, unless otherwise stated. **Definition 2.3.12.** Let $\pi: X \to V$ be a morphism of k-schemes. We have the following commutative diagram



where the square is Cartesian and in particular:

- $(F_V^e)_X$ and π_{V^e} are the natural morphisms induced on the fibre product $X_{V^e} := X \times_V V^e$;
- π^e is exactly the map π ;
- since $(F_V^e)_X$ factorises the Frobenius morphism F^e , there is an induced morphism $F_{X/V}^e$, which is called the $e^{\mathbf{th}}$ -relative Frobenius of X over V, or V-linear Frobenius.

In the rest of the thesis, we will often omit the superscript e on the source of F^e when it is clear from the context.

Remark 2.3.13. Note that $F^e \colon X^e \to X$ is not k-linear. On the other hand, if $\operatorname{Spec}(k^e) \to V^e$ is a k^e -point, the base change

$$F^e_{X^e/V^e} \otimes_{V^e} k^e \colon X^e_{k^e} \to X_{k^e}$$

coincides with the k-linear Frobenius of $X_k := X \times_V \text{Spec}(k)$.

(*****)<u>Construction</u>

Given a fibration $f\colon X\to Z$ between normal varieties, we consider the following diagram



where:

- $X^{(e)}$ is the normalisation of the reduction of X_{Z^e} and f_e is the induced fibration;
- α_e and β_e are the induced maps, so that $\beta_e \circ \alpha_e = F^e$. When X_{Z^e} is reduced, α_e generically coincides with the e^{th} -power of the relative Frobenius of X over Z;

- if $D \subseteq X$ is a prime divisor, denote by $D^{(e)} \subseteq X^{(e)}$ its reduced image in $X^{(e)}$;
- when f is separable, \mathcal{F} denotes the foliation induced by f and \mathcal{F}_e the foliation induced by f_e , unless otherwise stated.

Next, we study some properties of the maps and the varieties involved in diagram (*). In particular, we determine the relations between the canonical divisors K_X , $K_{X^{(e)}}$ and the canonical divisors of the foliations induced by f and f_e .

Lemma 2.3.14. If $f: X \to Z$ is a flat separable fibration between normal varieties, X_{Z^e} is integral and $X^{(e)}$ is its normalisation.

Proof. By [Wit21, Remark 2.5], if in X_{Z^e} there are some non-reduced components, they must dominate Z since f is flat. Thus, we can check reducedness at η , the generic point of Z. By Proposition 2.1.2, X_{η} is geometrically reduced. Moreover, since purely inseparable morphisms are homeomorphisms, X_{Z^e} is irreducible as X. All in all, X_{Z^e} is integral. qed

Lemma 2.3.15. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal varieties such that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal. Let ξ be a horizontal curve in Xand p^{e_0} the purely inseparable degree of $f|_{\xi}$. Let $e \in \mathbb{N}$ and assume that $\alpha_e(\xi)$ is not contained in the conductor of $X^{(e)} \to X_{Z^e}$ (note that this is automatically satisfied if Z is a curve). Then, $\deg(\alpha_e|_{\xi}) = \min\{p^e, p^{e_0}\}$.

Proof. Let np^{e_0} be the degree of $f|_{\xi}$, where $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is coprime with p. In particular, $f|_{\xi}$ factors through F^{e_0} , but not through F^{e_0+1} . Let $\xi_e := \alpha_e(\xi)$ and $\zeta := f(\xi)$. Around ξ_e we can assume that $X^{(e)} \to X_{Z^e}$ is an isomorphism. Note that, when Zis a curve, since the normalisation of X_{Z^e} is not an isomorphism only on a vertical subset by Lemma 2.2.8, we can always assume this. By the universal properties of the fibre product the purely inseparable part of $f_e|_{\xi_e}$ has degree p^{e_0-e} if $e \leq e_0$, while $f_e|_{\xi_e}$ is separable otherwise. Consider the diagram:



The purely inseparable parts of $f|_{\xi^{\nu}}$ and of $f_e|_{\xi^{\nu}} \circ \alpha_e|_{\xi^{\nu}}$ have the same degree, whence the conclusion. qed

Example 2.3.16. In general, we cannot conclude that e_0 in the above Lemma 2.3.15 is 0. Below an example where $e_0 = 1$, on Tango–Raynaud surfaces (for more details about their construction, see Section 5.4.3). A **Tango–Raynaud curve** is a normal projective curve C of genus ≥ 2 on which we can find a rational map r such that the divisor defined by dr is $pD \sim K_C$ for some D effective integral divisor. This determines a non-zero element of $H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C(-D))$ which is mapped to zero by the Frobenius morphism. Hence dr determines a (non-split) short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_C(-D) \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{O}_C \to 0,$$

which becomes split after applying the Frobenius morphism:

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_C(-pD) \to F^*\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{O}_C \to 0.$$

Let $P := \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{E})$ be the \mathbb{P}^1 -bundle defined by $\mathcal{E}, P' := \mathbb{P}(F^*\mathcal{E})$ the one defined by $F^*\mathcal{E}, f : P \to C$ and $g : P' \to C$ the structural maps. Thus, we have a commutative diagram:



where the lower square is a fibre product diagram and α is the relative Frobenius. The splitting of the last short exact sequence defines a section of g, T'. Let $T := \alpha^* T'$. The morphisms $f|_T$ and $\alpha|_T$ both coincide with the Frobenius morphism, while $g|_{T'}$ is separable.

Lemma 2.3.17. If $f: X \to Z$ is a separable fibration between normal varieties, the foliations induced by f and α_e coincide for every e > 0.

Proof. Fix e > 0. By [CS23, Lemma 2.2], we can check whether the foliation induced by f and the one induced by α_e coincide on a dense open subset of X. Therefore, since f is separable, we may assume that X_{Z^e} is normal, α_e is the e^{th} relative Frobenius of X over Z, f is smooth, and both ker $(d\alpha_e)$ and ker(df) are saturated.

Let $\xi \subseteq X$ be a curve. If ξ is vertical, both $df|_{\xi}$ and $d\alpha_e|_{\xi}$ are 0. On the other hand, if ξ is horizontal, by Lemma 2.3.15, $\alpha_e|_{\xi}$ is purely inseparable if and only if $f|_{\xi} = g \circ F$ for some surjective morphism g. Therefore, $d\alpha_e|_{\xi} = 0$ if and only if $df|_{\xi} = 0$.

Given a general point $x \in X$, if $v \in \ker(df)_x$, there exists a curve ξ passing through x with tangent vector v and the same holds for $\ker(d\alpha_e)$. This implies that $\ker(df)$ and $\ker(d\alpha_e)$ coincide on an open subset $U \subseteq X$. qed

Remark 2.3.18. Let X be a normal variety and \mathcal{F} a foliation on X. A subvariety W is said to be **tangent** to \mathcal{F} if $T_W \subseteq \mathcal{F}$. We point out that, over fields of positive characteristic, tangent subvarieties behave differently than in the characteristic 0 case.

Indeed, let \mathcal{F} be a the foliation induced by a separable fibration $f: X \to Z$ with normal general fibres. Then, there may be curves that are tangent to \mathcal{F} , but that are horizontal. Moreover, their image in $X^{(e)}$ may be not tangent to \mathcal{F}_e , the foliation induced by f_e . In fact, if ξ is a curve such that the purely inseparable degree of $f|_{\xi}$ is p^{e_0} , for some $e_0 > 0$, then $T_{\xi} \subseteq \ker(df)$, whereas, for $e \ge e_0$, $T_{\xi_e} \not\subseteq \ker(df_e)$, where ξ_e is the image of ξ in $X^{(e)}$.

Furthermore, there may be curves that are vertical, but not tangent to \mathcal{F} . For example, if $f \colon \mathbb{A}^2 \to \mathbb{A}^1$ is defined by $(x, y) \mapsto x^p(x+y)$, then the induced foliation is generated by $\partial_x - \partial_y$ and the curve defined by x = 0 is a fibre which is not tangent to \mathcal{F} .

2.3.3. Wild multiplicities

We now set the ground for the base change formula that we prove in Section 2.3.4. In particular, we study how the above base change (3) of a fibration with a power of the Frobenius morphism modifies the "multiplicities" of horizontal and vertical divisors.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field k of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated. We use the notation of (\clubsuit) in Section 2.3.2.

Lemma 2.3.19. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties such that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal. Let $D \subset X$ be a horizontal prime divisor. Let η be the generic point of Z and assume that $D_{\bar{\eta}} = p^{e_0}(D_{\bar{\eta}})_{\text{red}}$ at the generic point of $D_{\bar{\eta}}$ for some integer $e_0 \geq 0$. Then, at the generic point of $D_{\bar{\eta}}$, we have:

$$D_{\bar{\eta}} = \begin{cases} p^e D_{\bar{\eta}}^{(e)} & \text{if } e \leq e_0 \\ p^{e_0} D_{\bar{\eta}}^{(e)} & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\beta_e^* D = \begin{cases} p^e D^{(e)} & \text{if } e \le e_0 \\ p^{e_0} D^{(e)} & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \qquad \alpha_e^* D^{(e)} = \begin{cases} D & \text{if } e \le e_0 \\ p^{e-e_0} D & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Moreover, $D_{\bar{\eta}}^{(e_0)}$ is reduced at its generic point.

Proof. First of all, note that, by Lemma 2.2.8, around the generic point of D, we can assume X_{Z^e} is normal. By cutting Z with general hyperplanes, we can assume that $f: X \to Z$ is a fibration onto a curve. Let $f_e|_D: D^{(e)} \to Z$ be the induced map on $D^{(e)}$. By the universal property of the fibre product and since Z is a curve, $f_{e_0}|_{D^{(e_0)}}$ is separable, thus $D_{\bar{\eta}}^{(e_0)}$ is reduced. We will prove the lemma by induction on e_0 . If $e_0 = 0$, $f_e|_{D^{(e)}}$ is separable for each $e \in \mathbb{N}$, so $D_{\bar{\eta}}^{(e)}$ is reduced and it coincides with $D_{\bar{\eta}}$. In particular, $\beta_e^* D = D^{(e)}$ and $\alpha_e^* D^{(e)} = p^e D$ for all e > 0. If $e_0 > 0$, consider the natural maps $X^{(e_0)} \to X^{(1)} \to X$. By the universal properties of the fibre product and since Z is a curve, D and $D^{(e)}$ are isomorphic at their generic points for all $e \leq e_0$, thus $f_e|_{D^{(e)}}$ has purely inseparable degree p^{e_0-e} for $e \leq e_0$. In particular, $f_{e_0}|_{D^{(e_0)}}$ is separable and $f_1|_{D^{(1)}}$ has purely inseparable degree p^{e_0-1} . map $X^{(1)} \to X$ is purely inseparable of degree p and $D^{(1)} \to D$ is an isomorphism. Thus $\beta_1^* D = p D^{(1)}$. Then, we conclude by the inductive assumption. qed

Remark 2.3.20. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties and (X/Z, B)a GGLC pair associated with it. Let D be a horizontal prime divisor contained in the support of B. If $D_{\bar{\eta}} = p^{e_0}(D_{\bar{\eta}})_{\text{red}}$, the coefficient of D in B is at most $\frac{1}{p^{e_0}}$.

Remark 2.3.21. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a tame separable equidimensional fibration between normal varieties. Then, f_e is tame as well. Indeed, if δ is a prime divisor in Z,

$$p^e f_e^* \delta = \beta_e^* f^* \delta = \sum_{D \text{ over } \delta} \ell_D \beta_e^* D = \sum_{D \text{ over } \delta} \ell_D p^{d_D} D^{(e)},$$

where the divisors D and $D^{(e)}$ are prime and reduced, ℓ_D is coprime with p by the tameness assumption on f and $d_D \leq e$ since β_e is a purely inseparable morphism factorising F^e . Hence, we have $d_D = e$ and the multiplicity of the vertical divisor $D^{(e)}$ with respect to f_e is again ℓ_D .

Proposition 2.3.22. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable equidimensional fibration between normal varieties and D a vertical prime divisor with multiplicity $\ell = np^{e_0}$, for some n coprime with p and $e_0 \ge 0$. Then, the multiplicity of $D^{(e)}$ with respect to f_e is

$$\ell_e = \begin{cases} np^{e_0 - e} & \text{if } e \le e_0 \\ n & \text{if } e \ge e_0. \end{cases}$$

In particular,

$$\beta_e^* D = \begin{cases} D^{(e)} & \text{if } e \le e_0 \\ p^{e-e_0} D^{(e)} & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha_e^* D^{(e)} = \begin{cases} p^e D & \text{if } e \le e_0 \\ p^{e_0} D & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Proof. Step 1: If f is tame, i.e. $e_0 = 0$, $\ell_e = n$ for all $e \ge 0$ by Remark 2.3.21, whence the conclusion.

Step 2: Now, suppose $e_0 > 0$. Since f is equidimensional, by Lemma 2.0.5, up to restricting the fibration to a big open subset, we can assume $f: X \to Z$ is a flat fibration between smooth varieties. Let $d := \dim(X) - \dim(Z)$. By localising around the generic point of f(D), we can assume that Z is a curve. Then, around D, by [Sta22, Tag 039P] there exist étale morphisms φ and ψ and a fibration f^{et} , fitting in the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X & \stackrel{\psi}{\longrightarrow} A := \operatorname{Spec}(k[x, y_1, ..., y_d]) \\ f & & & & \downarrow^{f^{\operatorname{et}}} \\ Z & \stackrel{\varphi}{\longrightarrow} B := \operatorname{Spec}(k[t]). \end{array}$$

We can assume $D = V(x) \subseteq A$ and $t = x^{np^{e_0}}u$, where $u \in k[x, y_1, ..., y_d]$ is a unit around D and, since f is separable, its Jacobian has rank 1.

Step 3: Let $e \leq e_0$. In this step, we prove the proposition for the morphism $f^{\text{et}}: A \to B$.

Consider the diagram:



where $\tau^{p^e} = t$ and $A^{(e)}$ is the normalisation of $\operatorname{Spec}(k[x, y_1, ..., y_d, \tau]/(\tau^{p^e} - x^{np^{e_0}}u))$. We compute $A^{(e)}$ explicitly: it is constructed by adding an element z such that $zx^{np^{e_0-e}} = \tau$. The map f_e^{et} is described as:

$$A^{(e)} = \operatorname{Spec}\left(\frac{k[x, y_1, ..., y_d, z]}{(z^{p^e} - u)}\right) \to B; \qquad (x, y_1, ..., y_d, z) \mapsto z x^{n p^{e_0 - e}}.$$

Therefore, the multiplicity of the divisor $D^{(e)} \subseteq A^{(e)}$ with respect to f_e^{et} is np^{e_0-e} . **Step 4:** We claim that, around $D^{(e)} \subseteq X^{(e)}$, there are étale morphisms φ_e and ψ_e and a fibration f_{et}^e , fitting in the following diagram:



Since multiplicities can be computed étale locally, Step 3 shows that $\ell_e = np^{e_0-e}$.

Now, let us show the claim. Note that, by commutativity of the Frobenius morphism, we can choose $\varphi_e := \varphi$. Moreover, by the universal properties of the fibre product and since $X^{(e)}$ is normal, there is a map $X^{(e)} \xrightarrow{\psi_e} A^{(e)}$. We need to show that it is étale. Let $C := X \times_A A^{(e)} \xrightarrow{\chi} A^{(e)}$. Since ψ is étale and $A^{(e)}$ is normal, χ is étale and C is normal as well. By construction, there is a map $X^{(e)} \to C$. By the universal properties of the normalisation and of the fibre product, we construct also a map $C \to X^{(e)}$. With a diagram chasing, we conclude that C and $X^{(e)}$ are isomorphic and $\psi_e = \chi$ is étale.

Step 5: Let $e \ge e_0$. By the previous steps and Remark 2.3.21, f_e is tame around D and $\ell_e = n$.

As for the "In particular" part, we compute $\beta_e^* D$ and $\alpha_e^* D^{(e)}$ by using the fact that $f = f_e \circ \alpha_e$ and $\beta_e \circ \alpha_e = F^e$. qed

Corollary 2.3.23. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable equidimensional fibration between normal varieties. Define e_f to be the maximum of the integers e such that there exists a wild fibre with multiplicity $\ell = np^e$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$ coprime with p. Then, for $e \ge e_f$, f_e is tame.

Proof. First of all, note that f has at most finitely many wild fibres, therefore e_f is

a well-defined natural number. If $e \ge e_f$, by Proposition 2.3.22, for every vertical prime divisor in $X^{(e)}$, its multiplicity with respect to f_e is coprime with p. qed

2.3.4. Base change formula 1

In the papers [Eke87, Corollary 3.4], [PW22] and [JW21], the authors give a very explicit description of the relative canonical bundle of a purely inseparable base change of height 1. In the next two sections, we study similar relations for the base change described in (\clubsuit) in Section 2.3.2.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated. We use the notation of (\clubsuit) in Section 2.3.2.

Proposition 2.3.24 ([PW22, Proposition 2.10], [SB92, Proposition 9.1.2.3], [Eke87, Corollary 3.4]). Let $X \to X'$ be a purely inseparable morphism of height one between normal varieties and let \mathcal{F} be the corresponding foliation. Then

$$\omega_{X/X'} \simeq (\det \mathcal{F})^{[\otimes](p-1)}$$

Lemma 2.3.25. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable equidimensional fibration between normal varieties. If D is a wild fibre, denote by e_D the integer such that the multiplicity of D is $\ell_D = n_D p^{e_D}$, for some n_D coprime with p. Then,

$$\alpha_e^* R(f_e) = R(f) - \sum_D (p^{e_D} - 1)D,$$

for all $e \gg 0$. If f is tame, for any $e \ge 1$,

$$\alpha_e^* R(f_e) = R(f).$$

Proof. Let $D \subseteq X$ be a vertical prime divisor and $\delta := f(D) \subseteq Z$. We do local computations around D. Denote $f^*\delta = \ell D$, $f_e^*\delta = \ell_e D^{(e)}$. By Proposition 2.3.22, if $\ell = np^{e_0}$, with $e_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and n coprime with p, for all $e \ge e_0$, $\ell_e = n$. Moreover, $\alpha_e^* D^{(e)} = p^{e_0} D$. Hence,

$$\alpha_e^* R(f_e) = (n-1)\alpha_e^* D^{(e)} = R(f) - (p^{e_0} - 1)D.$$

qed

Corollary 2.3.26. If \mathcal{F} is the foliation induced by a separable equidimensional tame fibration $f: X \to Z$ between normal varieties such that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\overline{\eta}}$ is normal, then:

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p^e - 1)K_{\mathcal{F}} + K_X \quad and \quad \alpha_e^* K_{\mathcal{F}_e} = p^e K_{\mathcal{F}}.$$

Proof. We prove the statement by induction on e. For e = 1,

$$\alpha_1^* K_{X^{(1)}} = (p-1)K_{\mathcal{F}} + K_X,$$

by Proposition 2.3.24 and Lemma 2.3.17. Thus, since f is tame, by Theorem 2.3.6 and Lemma 2.3.25, $\alpha_1^* K_{\mathcal{F}_1} = p K_{\mathcal{F}}$.

If e > 1, factorise the diagram in (\circledast) in Section 2.3.2, in the following way:



Let \mathcal{F}_{e-1} be the foliation induced by f_{e-1} . By Proposition 2.3.24 and Lemma 2.3.17 applied to the lower part of the diagram above,

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = \alpha_{e-1}^* \delta^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p-1)\alpha_{e-1}^* K_{\mathcal{F}_{e-1}} + \alpha_{e-1}^* K_{X^{(e-1)}}.$$

Since f_{e-1} is tame by Remark 2.3.21, we get that $K_{\mathcal{F}_{e-1}} = K_{X^{(e-1)}} - f_{e-1}^* K_Z - R(f_{e-1})$ by Theorem 2.3.6.

By induction, we know that

$$\alpha_{e-1}^* K_{X^{(e-1)}} = (p^{e-1} - 1) K_{\mathcal{F}} + K_{X}.$$

Using that $K_{\mathcal{F}} = K_X - f^* K_Z - R(f)$ by Theorem 2.3.6 and that $\alpha_{e-1}^* R(f_{e-1}) = R(f)$ by Lemma 2.3.25, we get the result. qed

Theorem 2.3.27. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable equidimensional fibration between normal varieties such that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal. Then,

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p^e - 1)(K_X - f^* K_Z - R(f)) + K_X - \sum_{D \ wild} w_{D,e} D,$$

where $w_{D,e} \ge 0$ for all e and all D wild fibres.

More precisely, if the multiplicity of D with respect to f is $\ell = np^{e_0}$, with n coprime with p, then $w_{D,e} \ge p^e - 1$ if $e \le e_0$ and $w_{D,e} \ge p^{e_0} - 1$ otherwise.

Proof. Let $D \subseteq X$ be a vertical prime divisor. We prove the statement locally around D. By Corollary 2.3.26, if f is tame around D, the theorem holds. Therefore, we can suppose D is a wild fibre of multiplicity $\ell = np^{e_0}$.

Claim 2.3.28. *If* $e \le e_0$,

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p^e - 1)(K_X - f^* K_Z - R(f)) + K_X - w_e D,$$

where $w_e \ge p^e - 1$.

We prove the claim by induction. If e = 1, by Proposition 2.3.24, Lemma 2.3.17 and Theorem 2.3.6,

$$\alpha_1^* K_{X^{(1)}} = (p-1)(K_X - f^* K_Z - R(f)) + K_X - (p-1)(a_D + 1)D,$$

for some integer $a_D \ge 0$. If $1 < e \le e_0$, factorise the diagram in (*) in Section 2.3.2, in the following way:



Then, by Proposition 2.3.22, the multiplicity of $D^{(e)}$ is $\ell_e = np^{e_0-e}$. Then,

 $= (p^e - 1)(K_X - f^*K_Z - R(f)) + K_X - w_e D,$

where $b_D \ge 0$ and $w_{e-1} \ge p^{e-1} - 1$ by the inductive step. Therefore,

$$w_e = pw_{e-1} - (p-1)(p^{e-1} - 1) + p^{e-1}(p-1)(b_D + 1) \ge p^e - 1.$$

Now, let $e \ge e_0$ and consider the factorisation

$$X \xrightarrow{\alpha_e} X^{(e_0)} \xrightarrow{A_e} X^{(e)} \xrightarrow{\beta_e} X^{(e_0)} \xrightarrow{\beta_{e_0}} X.$$

By Proposition 2.3.22, f_e is tame around $D^{(e)}$ for $e \ge e_0$, therefore we can apply Corollary 2.3.26 to the morphisms $X^{(e_0)} \xrightarrow{A_e} X^{(e)} \xrightarrow{B_e} X^{(e_0)}$. After that, we apply Claim 2.3.28 to the morphisms $X \xrightarrow{\alpha_{e_0}} X^{(e_0)} \xrightarrow{\beta_{e_0}} X$. All in all,

by Claim 2.3.28 and Proposition 2.3.22

$$= (p^e - 1)(K_X - f^*K_Z - R(f)) + K_X - w_e D_f$$

where

$$w_e = p^{e-e_0} w_{e_0} - (p^{e-e_0} - 1)(p^{e_0} - 1) \ge p^{e_0} - 1.$$
 qed

Remark 2.3.29. Let $f: X \to Z$ be an equidimensional separable fibration between normal varieties with normal geometric generic fibre and let \mathcal{F} be the induced foliation. For every $e \geq 0$, let \mathcal{F}_e be the foliation induced by f_e . The sequence $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_1, ..., \mathcal{F}_e, ...)$ (resp. $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_1, ..., \mathcal{F}_e)$) is an ∞ -foliation (resp. an *e*-foliation) in the sense of [Gra23, Definition 2.19, Definition 4.6]. Combining the above Theorem 2.3.27 with Theorem 2.3.6, we see that

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p^e - 1) K_{\mathcal{F}} + K_X + \sum_{D \text{ wild}} ((p^e - 1)(a_D + 1) - w_{D,e}) D.$$

We compare this with the results in [Gra24], which state that

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p^e - 1) K_{\mathcal{F}} + K_X + E,$$

for E effective Q-divisor such that E = 0 if and only if $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_1, ..., \mathcal{F}_e)$ is *Ekedahl* in the sense of [Gra24]. Therefore, we conclude that E is supported on the wild fibres, $w_{D,e} \leq (p^e - 1)(a_D + 1)$ and $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_1, ..., \mathcal{F}_e)$ is Ekedahl if and only if f is a tame fibration. We expect that, if the geometric generic fibre of f is not normal, the divisor E is supported on the wild fibres *and* on the (horizontal) singular locus of the fibres.

2.3.5. Base change formula 2

Now, we study a base change formula for fibrations whose geometric generic fibre is not necessarily normal.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Lemma 2.3.30 ([JW21, Lemma 2.4], [PW22, Proposition 2.1]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0. Let $\bar{\eta}$ be the geometric generic point of Z. There exists an integer $e \ge 1$ such that $X_{\bar{\eta}^e}^{(e)} = (X_{\bar{\eta}, \text{red}})^{\nu}$. In particular, for $e \gg 0$, the general fibres of f_e are reduced and normal.

Theorem 2.3.31 ([PW22, Theorem 3.1]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a morphism between normal varieties. Let $a: Z' \to Z$ be a purely inseparable morphism of height one from a normal variety, let X' be the normalisation of the reduction of $X \times_Z Z'$ and let $f': X' \to Z'$ be the induced morphism. Set \mathcal{A} to be the foliation induced by a. Then:

- (i) $K_{X'/X} \sim (p-1)D$ for some Weil divisor D on X';
- (ii) there is a non-empty open subset $U \subseteq Z'$ and an effective divisor C on $f'^{-1}(U)$ such that $C \sim -D|_{f'^{-1}(U)}$.

Moreover, assume that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is reduced, and f is equidimensional. Then:

(iii) $f'^*(\det \mathcal{A}) - D \sim C'$ for some effective divisor C' on X'.

Proof. Points (i) and (ii) correspond to [PW22, Theorem 3.1(a),(b)]. We prove (iii). **Step 1.** Suppose first $X \times_Z Z'$ is reduced. Since f is equidimensional and f' is universally homeomorphic to f, f' is equidimensional as well. As Z and Z' are R_1 we can replace Z by $Z^0 := Z \setminus (\text{Sing}(Z) \cup a(\text{Sing}(Z'))), Z'$ by $Z'^0 := a^{-1}(Z^0), X$ by $f^{-1}(Z^0)$ and X' by $f'^{-1}(Z'^0)$. Then point (iii) follows from point (d) of [PW22, Theorem 3.1].

Step 2. Suppose now $X \times_Z Z'$ is not reduced. By [JW21, Lemma 2.19] we can find an open $U \subseteq Z$ with $\operatorname{codim}(Z \setminus U) \ge 2$ such that $f|_{X_U} : X_U \to U$ is flat, where $X_U := f^{-1}(U)$. Let $U' := a^{-1}(U)$ and $X_{U'} := f'^{-1}(U')$. By [Wit21, Remark 2.5] we have that $X_{U'}$ is reduced, since $f|_{X_U}$ is flat and $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is reduced. Let $X_{U'}^{\nu} \subseteq X'$ be the normalisation of $X_{U'}$. By applying Step 1 to $X_{U'}^{\nu} \to U'$, we conclude that $f'^*(\det A)|_{X_{U'}^{\nu}} - D \sim C'$ for some effective divisor C' on $X_{U'}^{\nu}$. Since $\operatorname{codim}_{Z'}(Z' \setminus U') \ge$ 2 and f' is equidimensional, we have $\operatorname{codim}(X' \setminus X_{U'}') \ge 2$, therefore, by normality of X', we can extend the above linear equivalence on all of X'.

We will need to consider base changes with purely inseparable maps that are not necessarily of height one. Theorem 2.3.31 extends to this situation by induction on the height.

Corollary 2.3.32. Let $f: X \to Y$ be an equidimensional fibration between normal varieties and let $g: Y \to Z$ be a morphism between normal varieties. Let $Y^{(e)}$ be the normalisation of the reduction of $Y \times_Z Z^e$, and $X^{(e)}$ the normalisation of the reduction of the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is reduced, where

 $\bar{\eta}$ is the geometric generic point of Y. Let $f_e \colon X^{(e)} \to Y^{(e)}$ and $g_e \colon Y^{(e)} \to Z^e$ be the induced morphisms. Then:

- (i) $K_{X^{(e)}/X} f_e^* K_{Y^{(e)}/Y} \sim (1-p)C$ for some effective Weil divisor C on $X^{(e)}$;
- (ii) $K_{Y^{(e)}/Y} \sim (p-1)D$ for some Weil divisor D on $Y^{(e)}$ and there is a nonempty open subset $U \subseteq Z^e$ with an effective divisor C' on $g_e^{-1}(U)$ such that $-D|_{g_e^{-1}(U)} \sim C'.$

Proof. We proceed by induction. When e = 1, let \mathcal{A} be the foliation on $Y^{(1)}$ corresponding to $Y^{(1)} \to Y$. By Proposition 2.3.24, $K_{Y^{(1)}/Y} \sim (\det \mathcal{A})^{[p-1]}$ and, by Theorem 2.3.31(i, iii),

$$K_{X^{(1)}/X} - (p-1)f_1^*(\det \mathcal{A}) \sim (1-p)C$$

for some effective divisor C on $X^{(1)}$, giving point (i). Point (ii) follows from Theorem 2.3.31(i, ii). If e > 1, consider the diagram:

$$X^{(e)} \xrightarrow{\pi_2} X^{(e-1)} \xrightarrow{\pi_1} X$$
$$\downarrow f_e \qquad \qquad \downarrow f_{e-1} \qquad \qquad \downarrow f$$
$$Y^{(e)} \xrightarrow{p_2} Y^{(e-1)} \xrightarrow{p_1} Y$$
$$\downarrow g_e \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow g_{e-1} \qquad \qquad \downarrow g$$
$$Z^e \xrightarrow{F} Z^{e-1} \xrightarrow{F^{e-1}} Z,$$

where π_1 , π_2 , p_1 and p_2 are the induced maps. By the inductive assumptions, there exist C_1 , C_2 , D_1 and D_2 Weil divisors on $X^{(e-1)}$, $X^{(e)}$, $Y^{(e-1)}$ and $Y^{(e)}$ respectively, such that:

- $K_{X^{(e-1)}/X} f_{e-1}^* K_{Y^{(e-1)}/Y} \sim (1-p)C_1$ and $C_1 \ge 0$;
- $K_{X^{(e)}/X^{(e-1)}} f_e^* K_{Y^{(e)}/Y^{(e-1)}} \sim (1-p)C_2$ and $C_2 \ge 0$;
- $K_{Y^{(e-1)}/Y} \sim (p-1)D_1$ and there exist a dense open $U_1 \subseteq Z^{e-1}$ and an effective divisor C'_1 on $g_{e-1}^{-1}(U_1)$ such that $-D_1|_{g_{e-1}^{-1}(U_1)} \sim C'_1$;
- $K_{Y^{(e)}/Y^{(e-1)}} \sim (p-1)D_2$ and there exist a dense open $U_2 \subseteq Z^e$ and an effective divisor C'_2 on $g_e^{-1}(U_2)$ such that $-D_2|_{g_e^{-1}(U_2)} \sim C'_2$.

Setting $C := \pi_2^* C_1 + C_2$, $D := p_2^* D_1 + D_2$, $U := U_1 \cap U_2$ and $C' := (p_2|_{g_e^{-1}(U)})^* C_1 + C_2|_{g_e^{-1}(U)}$ we get the claim. qed

Chapter 3

Overview on the canonical bundle formula

In this chapter we give an overview of the main results concerning the canonical bundle formula, presenting the different approaches that have been taken to address the problem.

The first instance of such result is Kodaira's theorem on elliptic surfaces. It states that, given a relatively minimal fibration $f: S \to C$ from a smooth surface Sto a smooth curve C with elliptic fibres, the canonical divisor of S can be computed in terms of K_C , the multiplicities of the singular fibres and the Euler characteristics $\chi(\mathcal{O}_S), \chi(\mathcal{O}_C)$ in a very explicit way. In Section 3.1 we present this and we highlight the main difference between the formula over fields of characteristic 0 and of positive characteristic: the possible presence of *wild fibres*.

Ideally, we would like to have similar formulae for K-trivial fibrations $f: X \to Z$, i.e. fibrations equipped with a pair (X, B), such that $K_X + B$ is the pullback of a line bundle L_Z from Z. More specifically, the goal is to write L_Z as the sum of K_Z , a divisor B_Z measuring the singularities of the fibres (the *discriminant part*) and another divisor M_Z which induces a map measuring the *variation* of f, determined by how "different" the fibres are between each other or how they vary in the moduli space if this is known to exist (the *moduli part*). The first property the moduli part should have in order to even being able to define such a map is being semiample. Unfortunately, there is no numerical criterion to prove whether a divisor is semiample, and the closest property that can be checked numerically is whether it is nef.

The main tool that has then been used to study positivity of the moduli part is variations of Hodge structures. In fact, given a smooth fibration $f: X \to Z$ over the complex numbers, the sheaf $f_*\mathcal{O}_X(K_X - f^*K_Z)$ naturally measures how the Hodge data of the fibres vary. Using Hodge theory, this sheaf has been proven to be *weakly positive*. In Section 3.2, we present the results obtained with this approach. Note that the Hodge theoretic input is not available over fields of positive characteristic. More recently, in [ACSS21], the authors adopt a different approach to the subject. In fact, they use the Minimal Model Program for foliations to get the desired positivity properties of the moduli part. We will talk more about this in Section 3.3. In the next Chapter 4 we discuss a canonical bundle formula result in positive characteristic that builds on these ideas.

Over fields of positive characteristic, weaker results on the canonical bundle formula have been obtained for fibrations of relative dimension 1, exploiting existence and properness of the moduli space of curves. Moreover, in [Wit21] and [CWZ23] the authors prove a canonical bundle formula result for fibrations of relative dimension 1 whose general fibres are non-normal. We discuss them in Section 3.4.1.

In the last Section 3.4.2, we discuss a canonical bundle formula for fibrations in positive characteristic with F-split fibres. Using the technique of Frobenius splittings, in [Eji17] and [DS17], the authors "descend" effective boundaries along a K-trivial fibration. We discuss also a generalisation of these results to morphisms such that the degree of the finite part of their Stein factorisation is not divisible by the characteristic, proven in [BBC23].

3.1. Elliptic surfaces

Kodaira's canonical bundle formula was reformulated in terms of the j-invariant and the singularities of the fibres by Fujita. We write this latter version since it is more suited for higher dimensional generalisations.

In this section we consider varieties defined over an algebraically closed field, we will specify the characteristic in each result.

Definition 3.1.1. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a surjective morphism between normal varieties and B a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. For each divisor $\delta \subseteq Z$, define

 $\gamma_{\delta} := \sup\{t \in \mathbb{R} \text{ s.t. } (X, B + tf^*\delta) \text{ is log canonical at the generic point of } \delta\}.$

Note that the pullback is always well-defined around the generic point of δ .

Theorem 3.1.2 ([Cor07, Theorem 8.2.1, Chapter 8]). Let $f: S \to C$ be a fibration from a smooth surface S to a smooth curve C over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Assume there are no (-1)-curves in the fibres and that the general fibres are smooth elliptic curves. Then,

$$K_S \sim_{\mathbb{O}} f^* \left(K_C + B_C + M_C \right),$$

with

(i) $B_C = \sum_{c \in C} (1 - \gamma_c)(c);$

(ii) $M_C = \frac{1}{12} j^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1)$, where $j: C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is defined by extending the natural map given by the *j*-invariant on the smooth fibres.

The \mathbb{Q} -divisor B_C is called **discriminant part**, while M_C is called **moduli part**.

There are similar versions of this theorem when S is only normal or when the characteristic of the base field is p > 0 ([BM77]). The main difference between the situation in characteristic 0 and in positive characteristic is the possible presence of wildly ramified fibres.

Definition 3.1.3. Let $f: S \to C$ be a fibration between a smooth projective surface S and a smooth projective curve C over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. The sheaf $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_S$ has rank 1 and it can be decomposed into $\mathcal{O}(L) \oplus \mathcal{T}$, where L is a divisor on C and \mathcal{T} is torsion. In positive characteristic \mathcal{T} may be non-trivial. The points in the support of \mathcal{T} are called **wildly ramified**. All the other points over which the fibre is multiple are called **tamely ramified** (see [KU85, §1] for some equivalent definitions). Remark that wild ramification is a more "arithmetic" phenomenon, rather than "geometric".

Theorem 3.1.4 ([BM77, Theorem 2]). Let $f: S \to C$ be a fibration from a smooth projective surface S to a smooth projective curve C over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. Assume there are no (-1)-curves in the fibres and that the general fibres are smooth elliptic curves. Then,

$$K_S \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^* (K_C - L) + \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} a_i S_{z_i},$$

where:

- (i) $m_i S_{z_i} = f^*(z_i)$ for $i = 1, ..., \ell$ are the multiple fibres, and S_{z_i} is defined so that, if $S_{z_i} = \sum_j d_j D_j$ is the decomposition in prime divisors, the greatest common divisor of the d_j 's is 1;
- (ii) $a_i = m_i 1$ if the fibre is tame and $0 \le a_i \le m_i 1$ otherwise.

Example 3.1.5. Let $f: S := E \times C \to C$, where E is an elliptic curve, C is any normal projective curve and f is the second projection over any algebraically closed field. Then, $K_S = f^*K_C$. In this case all the fibres are smooth and isomorphic, there is no variation in moduli, thus $B_C = M_C = 0$.

Example 3.1.6. Let S be the projective closure of $V(y^2 - x(x-1)(x-\lambda))$ inside $\mathbb{P}^2_{[x:y:z]} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{[\lambda:\mu]}$ over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0 and let $f: S \to C$, where $C := \mathbb{P}^1$, be the induced projection.

We compute the discriminant part of f. Note that S is normal. Indeed, it is a complete intersection and it is singular at the nodal points of the fibres over $\lambda = 0, 1$ and at the intersection point of the three lines composing the fibre over $[1:0] =: \infty$.

Let S' be a resolution of S and let $g: S'' \to C$ be the fibration obtained after a relative $K_{S'}$ -MMP over C. By Kodaira's canonical bundle formula Theorem 3.1.2, the moduli part of g is $\frac{1}{12}j^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1)$, where j is the j-invariant map. We remark that S is isomorphic to S'' everywhere but at its three singular points, therefore the moduli part of f can also be expressed as

$$M_C = \frac{1}{12} j^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1).$$

Since the *j*-map has degree 6 on the Legendre family, we conclude that the discriminant part has degree 1/2 since the canonical bundle of S is $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(0, -1)|_S$. Using [GS], we see that the reduction of S modulo 5 is strongly F-regular, thus, by [MS18, Theorem 7.9], S is klt. Using [GS], we check that the F-pure threshold of the fibres over 0 and 1 at the reduction of f modulo 5 is exactly 1. Therefore, $(S, f^*(0) + f^*(1))$ is log canonical. All in all, we get that the discriminant part is

$$B_C = \frac{1}{2}(\infty).$$

Example 3.1.7 ([KU85, Example 4.7]). This is an example of a wildly ramified fibration. Let E be an ordinary elliptic curve over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. Fix $P_0 \in E$ a point of order p. Define g to be the automorphism of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times E$ given by

$$g\colon (t,P)\mapsto (t+1,P+P_0).$$

The group $G = \langle g \rangle \simeq \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ acts freely on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times E$. Therefore, we have an elliptic surface structure $f : S := (\mathbb{P}^1 \times E)/G \to \mathbb{P}^1/G = \mathbb{P}^1$ given by the natural projection. This surface has only one multiple singular fibre pE_{∞} over $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$ of multiplicity p, it is a wild fibre and $K_S = f^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1) + (p-2)E_{\infty}$.

3.2. Hodge theoretic approach

The biggest evidence of nefness of the moduli part comes from Hodge theoretic inputs. Under the standard normal crossing assumptions, variations of Hodge structures can be used to prove *semipositivity* of $f_*\omega_{X/Z}$. The moduli part is closely related to this bundle, and, in particular, it is nef.

In this section we consider varieties defined over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0.

Definition 3.2.1. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties, let B and Σ be \mathbb{Q} -divisors on X and Z respectively. We say that (f, B, Σ) satisfies the standard normal crossing assumptions if:

(a) X and Z are smooth,

- (b) $\operatorname{Supp}(B + f^*\Sigma)$ and Σ are log smooth,
- (c) f is smooth over $Z \setminus \Sigma$,
- (d) B is simple normal crossing.

Theorem 3.2.2 ([Cor07, Theorem 8.3.7, Chapter 8]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between smooth projective varieties and B and Σ Q-divisors such that (f, B, Σ) satisfies the standard normal crossing assumptions. Assume that $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*L_Z$ for some Q-divisor L_Z on Z. Let $B = B^h + B^v$ be the decomposition of B into its horizontal and vertical parts and assume that $B^h \geq 0$. Then,

$$K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*(K_Z + B_Z + M_Z),$$

and the following holds.

- (i) The moduli part M_Z is nef. Moreover, it depends only on Z and $(X_\eta, B|_{X_\eta})$, where X_η is the generic fibre of f.
- (ii) The discriminant part B_Z is the unique smallest \mathbb{Q} -divisor supported on Σ such that

$$B^{v} + f^{*}(\Sigma - B_Z) \le f^{-1}(\Sigma).$$

Moreover, it depends only on f and B^{v} .

- (iii) (Z, B_Z) is log canonical if and only if (X, B) is log canonical;
- (iv) if $|B^h| = 0$, then (Z, B_Z) is klt if and only if (X, B) is klt;
- (v) an irreducible divisor B_i of Z appears with negative coefficient in B_Z if and only if $f^*B_i - f^{-1}(B_i) < -B^v$.

This formula was then generalized to other types of fibrations (see for instance [FM00], [Amb04], [Amb05], [Cor07]). In particular, the divisor B_Z is described in terms of the singularities of the fibres using log canonical thresholds.

Definition 3.2.3. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a surjective proper morphism between normal projective varieties and (X/Z, B) a GLC pair on it (see Definition 2.2.1). Applying generic smoothness and Bertini-type theorems, for all but finitely many divisors $\delta \subseteq Z$, the log canonical threshold (as in Definition 3.1.1) is $\gamma_{\delta} = 1$. The discriminant part of the fibration f is

$$B_Z := \sum_{\delta \subseteq Z} (1 - \gamma_\delta) \delta,$$

where the sum is taken over all prime divisors of Z.

Definition 3.2.4. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a surjective proper morphism between normal projective varieties and B a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. We

say (X/Z, B) is generically klt if (X_{η}, B_{η}) is klt, where η is the generic point of Z. Given a GLC (resp. generically klt) sub-pair (X/Z, B), we say that f is an lc-trivial fibration (resp. klt-trivial fibration) if:

- (a) there exists a \mathbb{Q} -Cartier divisor D on Z such that $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*D$;
- (b) there exists a log resolution $\pi: X' \to X$ of (X, B) such that, if $E := \pi^*(K_X + B) K'_X = \sum_i a_i E_i$ and $E^{<1} := \sum_{a_i < 1} a_i E_i$, then

$$\operatorname{rank}(f \circ \pi)_* \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\lceil -E^{<1} \rceil) = 1.$$

We will denote these fibrations as $f: (X, B) \to Z$.

Remark 3.2.5. With Ambro's approach it is useful to include sub-pairs (X, B) with B not effective. In fact, consider an lc-trivial fibration (X/Z, B) and $\nu: Z' \to Z$ proper birational. Let X' be the normalization of the main component of $X \times_Z Z'$ and let $\mu: X' \to X$ be the induced morphism. Define $B' := \mu^*(K_X + B) - K_{X'}$. Then the induced fibration $f': X' \to Z'$ with sub-pair structure (X'/Z', B') is lc-trivial as well. Note that, even if B is effective, B' needs not be. Condition (b) in Definition 3.2.4 is then needed in order to control the singularities of a possible negative part of the boundary B. What it is saying is that B^- is a *rigid divisor* over Z, i.e. the only global section (over Z) of B^- is B^- itself.

Definition 3.2.6. Let $f: X \to Z$ with pair structure (X/Z, B) be an lc-trivial fibration between normal projective varieties. In particular, $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*D$ for some \mathbb{Q} -Cartier divisor D on Z. Define the **moduli part** of f to be $M_Z := D - (K_Z + B_Z)$. Note that this is defined only up to \mathbb{Q} -linear equivalence.

Theorem 3.2.7 ([Amb04, §1, §2, §3]). Let $f: X \to Z$ with pair structure (X/Z, B)be an lc-trivial fibration between normal projective varieties, then there exists a proper birational map $\varphi: Z' \to Z$ such that, in the notation of the construction of Remark 3.2.5:

- (i) $M_{Z'}$ is Q-Cartier and nef;
- (ii) for every $\pi: Z'' \to Z'$ birational, considering the corresponding lc-trivial fibration constructed as in Remark 3.2.5, then $M_{Z''} = \pi^* M_{Z'}$;
- (iii) if (X, B) is klt (resp. log canonical), then $(Z', B_{Z'})$ is klt (resp. log canonical).

Such Z' is called an **Ambro model** of the fibration.

Even if we still do not know whether the moduli part gives a map to some moduli space, Ambro proved that it does give a measure of the variation of the fibres.

Theorem 3.2.8 ([Amb05, Theorem 3.3, Proposition 4.4]). Let $f: (X, B) \to Z$ be a klt-trivial fibration between normal projective varieties such that $B \ge 0$ over the generic point of Z. Then, there exists a diagram:



such that:

- (i) τ is generically finite and ρ is surjective;
- (ii) f^+ is klt-trivial;

(iii) $(X, B) \times_Z \hat{Z}$ and $(X^+, B^+) \times_{Z^+} \hat{Z}$ are isomorphic over an open subset $U \subseteq \hat{Z}$;

(iv) M_{Z^+} is big and, after possibly a proper birational base change, $\tau^*M_Z = \rho^*M_{Z^+}$.

Remark 3.2.9. The upshot of the above Theorem 3.2.8 is that M_Z measures the dimension of a variety (i.e. Z^+) over which the fibration is a product. We call $\dim(Z^+)$ the **variation** of f.

3.3. An MMP approach

In the paper [ACSS21], the authors study the canonical bundle formula in characteristic 0 using tools of the Minimal Model Program. In this setting it is useful to extend our focus on more general fibrations, not only the K-trivial ones. This will give us the necessary flexibility to perform birational transformations. In order to do that, we need to redefine the moduli part, while the definition of the discriminant part remains the same (see Definition 3.2.3).

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field and we will specify when we need the characteristic to be 0 or when we assume it is algebraically closed.

Definition 3.3.1. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair on it. Let B_Z be the discriminant of f. Suppose that f is equidimensional or that $K_Z + B_Z$ is Q-Cartier. Then, the **moduli part** of f is

$$M_X := K_X + B - f^*(K_Z + B_Z).$$

Note that M_X is defined on the total space X and only up to linear equivalence. In general, by the Flattening lemma (see Lemma 2.0.4), there exists an equidimensional fibration $f': X' \to Z'$ with proper birational maps $a: Z' \to Z$ and $b: X' \to X$. Define $B' := b^*(K_X + B) - K_{X'}$ and $M_{X'}$ on X' accordingly. The moduli part M_X is then defined as $b_*M_{X'}$. Likewise the previous approach, the idea is to first find a class of fibrations for which it is easier to get positivity properties and then we want to reduce to this case. Instead of standard normal crossing assumptions, the authors of [ACSS21] introduce the notion of Property (*): when a fibration satisfies this property, the moduli part coincides with the canonical divisor of the foliation associated with it. At this point, we can use the birational geometry of the foliation to get the desired positivity.

Definition 3.3.2 ([ACSS21, Definition 2.13]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties and (X/Z, B) a GGLC sub-pair on it. We say it satisfies **Property** (*) if:

- (a) there exists a reduced divisor Σ_Z on Z such that (Z, Σ_Z) is log smooth and $B^v = f^{-1}(\Sigma_Z);$
- (b) for any closed point $z \in Z$ and any divisor $\Sigma \geq \Sigma_Z$ such that (Z, Σ) is log smooth around z, then $(X, B + f^*(\Sigma - \Sigma_Z))$ is log canonical around $f^{-1}(z)$.

In the next proposition, we list some useful features that Property (*) pairs enjoy.

Proposition 3.3.3 ([ACSS21, Lemma 2.14, Proposition 2.18]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair on it satisfying Property (*). Then the following properties hold.

- (i) The pair (X, B) is log canonical and the discriminant part B_Z coincides with Σ_Z . Moreover, if $B \ge 0$, the map f is equidimensional outside Σ_Z .
- (ii) Suppose $B \ge 0$ and let $\varphi: X \dashrightarrow Y$ is a sequence of steps of the $(K_X + B)$ -MMP over Z. Let $C := \varphi_* B$ and $g: Y \to Z$ be the induced fibration. Then, (Y/Z, C) satisfies Property (*) and for any closed point $z \in Z$, the map φ^{-1} is an isomorphism along the generic point of any irreducible component of $g^{-1}(z)$. In particular, the discriminant part of (Y/Z, C) coincides with the discriminant part of (X/Z, B).

Over fields of characteristic 0, it is possible to construct (*)-modifications using the Weak Semistable Reduction results in [AK00].

Theorem 3.3.4 (Existence of (*)-modifications, [ACSS21, Proposition 2.17]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0 and (X/Z, B) a GLC pair on it such that M_X is f-nef. Then, there exist a Q-factorial pair (X', B') satisfying Property (*) and a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X' \xrightarrow{b} X \\ f' & & & \downarrow f \\ Z' \xrightarrow{a} Z, \end{array}$$

where a and b are projective birational morphisms and f' is equidimensional. Moreover,

$$K_{X'} + B' + R = b^*(K_X + B) + G,$$

where G and R are effective \mathbb{Q} -divisors that are vertical with respect to f' and b(R) is supported on the non-log canonical locus of (X, B). The fibration f' together with the pair (X'/Z', B') is called a (*)-modification of (X/Z, B).

Definition 3.3.5. Let X be a normal variety. Let \mathcal{F} be a foliation on X and Δ a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X such that $K_{\mathcal{F}} + \Delta$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. We call (\mathcal{F}, Δ) a **foliated pair**.

We say that (\mathcal{F}, Δ) satisfies **Property** (*) if there exists a \mathbb{Q} -divisor B on X such that $\Delta = B^h$ and (X/Z, B) satisfies Property (*).

Proposition 3.3.6 ([ACSS21, Proposition 3.6]). Let (\mathcal{F}, Δ) be a foliated pair on a normal variety X induced by an equidimensional separable tame fibration $f: X \to Z$ between normal varieties. Assume that (\mathcal{F}, Δ) satisfies Property (*) and let B be the divisor such that (X/Z, B) has Property (*) and $B^h = \Delta$. Let M_X be the moduli part of (X/Z, B). Then,

- (i) $K_{\mathcal{F}} + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} M_X$ and
- (*ii*) $K_{\mathcal{F}} + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Q},Z} K_X + B.$

Given any foliated pair on a normal projective variety X, using Theorem 3.3.4, it is possible to birationally modify it in order to get a foliated pair which satisfies Property (*). The existence of (*)-modifications, together with the Cone theorem for foliated pairs are the two main ingredients to prove positivity of the moduli part.

Definition 3.3.7. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties. If D is a horizontal divisor, we define $\epsilon(D) := 1$, while, if D is a vertical divisor, we define $\epsilon(D) := 0$. Given a proper birational morphism $\pi: X' \to X$, let U be the open subset on which π is an isomorphism. By [CS23, Lemma 2.2], there is a unique saturated sheaf \mathcal{F}' which extends $\mathcal{F}|_U$, call it the pullback of \mathcal{F} on X'. Then, we write:

$$K_{\mathcal{F}'} + \pi_*^{-1}\Delta = \pi^*(K_{\mathcal{F}} + \Delta) + \sum a(E, \mathcal{F}, \Delta)E,$$

where the sum is taken over all exceptional divisors. We call the foliated pair (\mathcal{F}, Δ) **F-log canonical** if $a(E, \mathcal{F}, \Delta) \geq -\epsilon(E)$ for all exceptional divisors over X. If there exists E such that $a(E, \mathcal{F}, \Delta) = -\epsilon(E)$ (resp. $a(E, \mathcal{F}, \Delta) < -\epsilon(E)$), then the image of E in X is called a **log canonical centre** (resp. **non-log canonical centre**) of (\mathcal{F}, Δ) . We denote by Nlc (\mathcal{F}, Δ) the union of all non-log canonical centers of (\mathcal{F}, Δ) .

Theorem 3.3.8 ([ACSS21, Theorem 3.9]). Let (\mathcal{F}, Δ) be a foliated pair on a normal projective variety over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0, where \mathcal{F} is

induced by a fibration $f: X \to Z$ between normal varieties and $\Delta \geq 0$. Then,

$$\overline{\mathrm{NE}}(X) = \overline{\mathrm{NE}}(X)_{K_{\mathcal{F}+\Delta\geq 0}} + Z_{-\infty} + \sum_{i} \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \left[\xi_{i}\right],$$

where:

- (i) the sum on the RHS is countable;
- (ii) the ξ_i 's are vertical rational curves;
- (iii) for each ξ_i , $0 \leq -(K_{\mathcal{F}} + \Delta) \cdot \xi_i \leq 2n$;
- (iv) all the curves in $Z_{-\infty}$ are contained in Nlc(\mathcal{F}, Δ).

Definition 3.3.9. Let (X/Z, B) and (X'/Z', B') be GGLC pairs over a perfect field of any characteristic such that the associated fibrations $f: X \to Z$ and $f': X' \to Z'$ are birationally equivalent. We say that (X/Z, B) and (X'/Z', B') are **crepant over the generic point of** Z if, given birational morphisms $p_1: \widetilde{X} \to X$ and $p_2: \widetilde{X} \to X'$ which resolve the indeterminacies of $X \dashrightarrow X'$, we have that

$$p_1^*(K_X + B) - p_2^*(K_{X'} + B')$$

is vertical with respect to the induced fibration $\widetilde{X} \to Z$.

Theorem 3.3.10 ([ACSS21, Theorem 1.1]). Assume termination of flips in dimension n. Let (X, B) be a projective log canonical pair of dimension n and let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Assume that $K_X + B$ is f-nef and $B \ge 0$. Then, there exist a projective log canonical pair (Y, C) with $C \ge 0$ and a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} Y - \stackrel{b}{-} > X \\ f' & & f' \\ Z' \stackrel{a}{\longrightarrow} Z, \end{array}$$

where a is a projective birational morphism and b is a birational map such that

- (i) (X/Z, B) and (Y/Z', C) are crepant over the generic point of Z;
- (ii) the moduli part M_Y of (Y/Z', C) is nef.

We outline the idea of the proof. Given a fibration $f: X \to Z$ and a log canonical pair (X, B) such that $K_X + B$ is f-nef, we take a (*)-modification (X'/Z', B') with induced fibration $f': X' \to Z'$ constructed with Theorem 3.3.4. Possibly after running an MMP, we can suppose the new moduli part $M_{X'}$ is f'-nef and it coincides with the canonical bundle of the induced foliation by Proposition 3.3.6. Therefore, by Theorem 3.3.8, we conclude that $M_{X'}$ is nef.
In the case of a K-trivial fibration, we recover the previous canonical bundle formula Theorem 3.2.7.

Theorem 3.3.11 ([ACSS21, Theorem 1.3]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Let $B \ge 0$ be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X such that (X/Z, B) is a GLC pair. Assume that $M_X \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*L_Z$ for some line bundle L_Z on Z. Then, there exists a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X' \xrightarrow{b} X \\ f' & & & \\ Z' \xrightarrow{a} Z, \end{array}$$

where a and b are proper birational, such that the moduli part $M_{X'}$ of the pair induced by crepant pullback, is nef.

3.4. Canonical bundle formula in positive characteristic

3.4.1. Canonical bundle formula for fibrations of relative dimension 1

In [CTX15, Lemmas 6.6, Lemma 6.7] and [Wit21] the authors prove a canonical bundle formula for fibrations of relative dimension 1 using properties of the moduli space of curves. In fact, if $f: X \to Z$ has relative dimension 1 with fibres of genus 0, under reasonable assumptions, there is a natural map from Z to the moduli space of curves of genus 0. When the fibres are elliptic curves, the result is a consequence of the subadditivity of Kodaira dimensions for fibrations of relative dimension 1 (see [CZ15]).

In this section we consider varieties defined over fields of characteristic p > 0.

Theorem 3.4.1 ([Wit21, Proposition 3.2]). Let (X, B) be a quasi-projective log pair over a perfect¹ field of characteristic p > 0 and let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties whose geometric generic fibre is a smooth curve. Let $\bar{\eta}$ be the geometric generic point of Z. Assume that $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ is log canonical and $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*L_Z$ for some Q-Cartier Q-divisor L_Z on Z. Then,

$$L_Z \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} K_Z + \Delta_Z$$

for some \mathbb{Q} -effective divisor Δ_Z on Z.

¹In the original paper, the result is proven over algebraically closed fields, but we can reduce the statement to that situation with a base change.

A similar theorem has been proven for fibrations with general fibres that are not necessarily log canonical by allowing to take purely inseparable covers of the base.

Theorem 3.4.2 ([Wit21, Theorem 3.4], [CWZ23, Theorem 6.2]). Let (X, B) be a quasi-projective log pair over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0 and let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal varieties of relative dimension 1. Assume that (X_{η}, B_{η}) is log canonical, where η is the generic point of Z, and $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*L_Z$ for some Q-Cartier divisor L_Z on Z.

Then, there exist finite purely inseparable morphisms $\tau_1: T \to Z$ and $\tau_2: T' \to T$, an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor E on T' and rational numbers $a, b, c \geq 0$ such that

 $\tau_2^* \tau_1^* L_Z \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} a K_{T'} + b \tau_2^* K_T + c \tau_2^* \tau_1^* K_Z + E.$

3.4.2. Canonical bundle formula for *F*-split fibrations

Over fields of positive characteristic, a similar canonical bundle formula has been established for K-trivial fibrations with globally F-split general fibres (see [DS17, Theorem 5.2] and [Eji17, Theorem 3.17]). Here, we recall its statement and extend it to morphisms with Stein degree not divisible by the characteristic p.

Throughout this section (X, B) will denote a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -sub-pair over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0 and we will use the notation set in Section 1.3.1.

Proposition 3.4.3. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration of normal varieties and let B be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X. Assume that $(1 - p^e)(K_X + B) \sim_Z 0$ for some $e \geq 1$, and that $(X_{\overline{\zeta}}, B_{\overline{\zeta}})$ is globally F-split, where $\zeta \in Z$ is the generic point. Then there exists a canonically defined effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor B^Z on Z such that

- (i) $(1-p^e)(K_X+B) \sim f^*((1-p^e)(K_Z+B^Z));$
- (ii) if $B \ge 0$ then $B^Z \ge 0$;

(iii) (X, B) is globally (sub-)F-split if and only if (Z, B^Z) is globally (sub-)F-split;

(iv) if $\Lambda \geq 0$ is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Z, then $(B + f^*\Lambda)^Z = B^Z + \Lambda$.

Proof. Point (i) follows by [DS17, Theorem 5.2]². This boils down to the following fact: write $(1 - p^e)(K_X + B) \sim f^*M$ for some Cartier divisor M on Z, so that $T_B^e: F_*^e \mathcal{O}_X(f^*M) \to k(X)$. By pushing forward via f and using the projection formula we obtain $f_*T_B^e: F_*^e \mathcal{O}_Z(M) \to k(Z)$. As $(X_{\bar{\zeta}}, B_{\bar{\zeta}})$ is GFS we have $f_*T_B^e \neq 0$ ([Eji17, Observation 3.19]), and Proposition 1.3.7 yields a canonically defined $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ divisor B^Z such that $M \sim (1 - p^e)(K_Z + B^Z)$ and $f_*T_B^e = T_{BZ}^e$. As for point (ii), if $B \geq 0$ then the images of T_B^e and $f_*T_B^e$ are contained in \mathcal{O}_X and \mathcal{O}_Z , respectively, hence by Proposition 1.3.7, the induced Q-divisor B^Z is effective.

²If $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}})$ is GFS, then so is (X_{η}, B_{η}) .

As for point (iii), first assume (X, B) is GsFS, i.e. there is $\sigma \colon \mathcal{O}_X \to F_*^r \mathcal{L}_{X,B}^{(r)}$, a map such that $T_B^r \circ \sigma = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{O}_X}$, for some $r \geq 1$. Without loss of generality, we may assume r is a multiple of e. In particular, we have the following commutative diagram

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_X \xrightarrow{g_*\sigma} f_*F_*^r\mathcal{L}_{X,B}^{(r)} \xrightarrow{f_*T_B^r} k(Z)$$

$$\uparrow \qquad \uparrow \qquad \uparrow \qquad \uparrow$$

$$\mathcal{O}_Z \xrightarrow{\tau} F_*^r\mathcal{L}_{Z,BZ}^{(r)} \xrightarrow{T_BZ} k(Z).$$

As the vertical arrows are isomorphisms by the projection formula, then $T_{BZ}^r \circ \tau = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{O}_Z}$, i.e. (Z, B^Z) is GsFS. The GFS case follows by the same argument. Conversely, suppose (Z, B^Z) is GsFS, and let $\tau \colon \mathcal{O}_Z \to F_*^r \mathcal{L}_{Z,BZ}^{(r)}$ such that $T_{BZ}^r \circ \tau = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{O}_Z}$. As τ corresponds to a global section of $\mathcal{L}_{Z,BZ}^{(r)}$ and we have an isomorphism $H^0(Z, \mathcal{L}_{Z,BZ}^{(r)}) \simeq H^0(Z, \mathcal{L}_{X,B}^{(r)})$ by the projection formula, we obtain a section σ , which satisfies $\sigma \circ T_{X,B}^r = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{O}_X}$. Again, the GFS case follows by the same argument.

As for point (iv), note that the rightmost half of the above diagram can be completed to



where the leftmost vertical arrow is also an isomorphism by the projection formula and $f_*T^r_{B+f^*\Lambda} = T^r_{B^Z+\Lambda}$. Note that the latter map is non-zero, as it coincides with $H^0(X_{\bar{\zeta}}, T^r_{B_{\bar{\zeta}}})$ at the geometric generic point of Z. We then conclude by the same argument as in point (i). qed

Remark 3.4.4 ([DS17, Proposition 5.7]). The divisor B^Z constructed in Proposition 3.4.3 can be also described in terms of the singularities of the fibration, similarly to the definition of the discriminant part for K-trivial fibrations over fields of characteristic 0. More precisely, if δ is a prime divisor of Z, let

 $d_{\delta} := \sup\{t \text{ s.t. } (X, B + tf^*\delta) \text{ is globally sub-}F\text{-split over the generic point of }\delta\}.$

Then,

$$B^Z = \sum_{\delta} (1 - d_{\delta})\delta,$$

where the sum is taken over all prime divisors δ of Z.

Definition 3.4.5. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties and B a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor satisfying the hypotheses of Proposition 3.4.3. The $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor B^Z is called the *F*-discriminant of the fibration.

Example 3.4.6. Let S be the projective closure of $V(y^2 - x(x-1)(x-\lambda))$ inside $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{Z},[x:y:z]} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{Z},[\lambda:\mu]}$ over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ and let $f: S \to C = \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{Z}}$ be the induced projection. We will denote by $f_0: S_0 \to C_0$ the fibration over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$ and by $f_p: S_p \to C_p$ the fibration over $\operatorname{Spec}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$. In Example 3.1.6 we studied the canonical bundle formula for f_0 . Now, let us consider what happens over $\operatorname{Spec}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ for $p \geq 3$. In particular, we compute $B_p^{C_p}$, the F-discriminant defined as in Proposition 3.4.3.

Let $X \to \mathbb{A}_p^1 := \operatorname{Spec}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p[t])$ be the family of cones over elliptic curves defined by $zy^2 - x(x-z)(x-tz)$ with a section $\gamma \colon \mathbb{A}_p^1 \to X$ mapping to the vertices of the cones. Call Z the image of γ . Let $\widetilde{X} \to X$ be the birational map obtained by blowing-up Z and let E be the exceptional divisor. Note that $E \to Z = \mathbb{A}_p^1$ is exactly the family f_p restricted to $C_p \setminus \{\infty\}$. By the computations in [DS17, Example 3.2], the F-discriminant here is given by $B_p^{C_p}|_{\mathbb{A}_p^1} = \frac{1}{p-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_p} (\lambda)$. Over ∞ we know by Example 3.1.6 that the coefficient is $\frac{1}{2}$. Therefore, the F-discriminant, for $p \geq 3$ is

$$B_p^{C_p} = \frac{1}{2}(\infty) + \frac{1}{p-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_p} (\lambda),$$

where Λ_p is the set of those λ 's corresponding to supersingular elliptic curves. Remark that the cardinality of Λ_p is $\frac{p-1}{2}$ by [Sil09, Theorem 4.1(b), Chapter V], thus giving the right degree for $B_p^{C_p}$.

Proposition 3.4.7. Let $h: Z \to Y$ be a surjective separable finite morphism of normal varieties such that deg(h) is not divisible by p, and let $B \ge 0$ be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ divisor on Z. Assume (Z, B) is globally F-split and $(1 - p^e)(K_Z + B) \sim_Y 0$ for some $e \ge 1$. Then there exists a canonically defined effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor B^Y on Y such that

- (i) $(1-p^e)(K_Z+B) \sim h^*((1-p^e)(K_Y+B^Y));$
- (ii) (Y, B^Y) is globally F-split;
- (iii) if $\Lambda \ge 0$ is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Y such that $(Y, B^Y + \Lambda)$ is globally F-split, then $(Z, B + h^*\Lambda)$ is globally F-split too, and $(B + h^*\Lambda)^Y = B^Y + \Lambda$;
- (iv) if (Z, B) is globally F-regular then (Y, B^Y) is globally F-regular.

Proof. Let M be a Cartier divisor such that $(1 - p^e)(K_Z + B) \sim h^*M$, set $\mathcal{L} :=$

 $\mathcal{O}_Y(M)$ and $d := \deg(h)$. By [ST14, Corollary 4.2] we have a commutative diagram



where the vertical maps are split surjective via $F_*^e(h^{\sharp} \otimes \mathcal{L}) \colon F_*^e \mathcal{L} \to h_* F_*^e h^* \mathcal{L}$ and $h^{\sharp} \colon \mathcal{O}_Y \to h_* \mathcal{O}_Z$, respectively, and $\psi_Y := \frac{\operatorname{Tr}_{Z/Y}}{d} \circ h_* T_B^e \circ F_*^e(h^{\sharp} \otimes \mathcal{L})$. As (Z, B) is GFS, by taking global sections we obtain $1 \in \operatorname{Im}(H^0(Y, \psi_Y))$. In particular, $\psi_Y \neq 0$, thus **Proposition 1.3.7** yields an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor B^Y such that $\psi_Y = T_{B^Y}^e$, (Y, B^Y) is GFS and $(1 - p^e)(K_Z + B) \sim h^*((1 - p^e)(K_Y + B^Y))$, thus proving points (i) and (ii).

To show point (iii), up to replacing e with a multiple, we may assume $(1 - p^e)\Lambda$ is also Cartier. Denote by $\lambda \colon \mathcal{L}((1 - p^e)\Lambda) \to \mathcal{L}$ the natural map, and observe that the above diagram can be completed to



As $(Y, B^Y + \Lambda)$ is GFS, we have $1 \in \text{Im}(H^0(Y, \varphi_Y))$, hence $1 \in \text{Im}(H^0(Z, \varphi_Z))$. By Proposition 1.3.7 the maps

 $F^e_*h^*\mathcal{L}((1-p^e)\Lambda) \xrightarrow{F^e_*h^*\lambda} F^e_*h^*\mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{T^e_B} \mathcal{O}_Z \text{ and } F^e_*\mathcal{L}((1-p^e)\Lambda) \xrightarrow{F^e_*\lambda} F^e_*\mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{\psi_Y} \mathcal{O}_Y$

correspond to the divisors $B + h^* \Lambda$ and $B^Y + \Lambda$, respectively.

As for point (iv), let $D \ge 0$ be a divisor on Y. By Lemma 1.3.13 it is enough to show that $(Y, B^Y + D/(p^r - 1))$ is GFS whenever r is large enough. As (Z, B)is GFR, we have that $(Z, B + h^* (D/(p^r - 1)))$ is GFS provided $r \gg 0$, again by Lemma 1.3.13. Arguing as in points (i) and (ii), we can pushforward the splitting to Y via the trace map of h

qed

$$\begin{array}{cccc} h_* \mathcal{O}_Z & \longrightarrow & h_* F^e_* \mathcal{L}^{(e)}_{B+h^*(D/(p^r-1))} & \xrightarrow{h_* T^e_{B+h^*(D/(p^r-1))}} & h_* \mathcal{O}_Z \\ \\ \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Tr}_{Z/Y}}{d} & & \downarrow F^e_* \left(\frac{\mathrm{Tr}_{Z/Y}}{d} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{(e)}_{B+h^*(D/(p^r-1))} \right) & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ \mathcal{O}_Y & \longrightarrow & F^e_* \mathcal{L}^{(e)}_{B^Y+D/(p^r-1)} & \xrightarrow{T^e_{B^Y+D/(p^r-1)}} & \mathcal{O}_Y, \end{array}$$

hence $(Y, B^Y + D/(p^r - 1))$ is GFS.

Example 3.4.8. It might be tempting to try extending this result to the case of a split finite morphism h (i.e. such that the natural map $\mathcal{O}_Y \to h_*\mathcal{O}_Z$ is split). However, this fails already when $Z = Y = \mathbb{P}^1$ and h = F over a field of characteristic p = 2. As explained in [ST14], this is because the splitting of $\mathcal{O}_Y \to h_*\mathcal{O}_Z$ is not given by the trace map. Indeed, let $h := F : \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be the Frobenius morphism over a perfect field of characteristic p = 2. Then, $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-K_{\mathbb{P}^1}) = F^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1)$. By a direct calculation, $F_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1)$. Therefore, we have a diagram:



Example 3.4.9 (See Example 1.3.15). On the other hand, when the splitting comes from the trace, we then have the familiar formula $B = h^*B^Y - \text{Ram}(h)$, where Ram(h) denotes the ramification divisor of h.

For example, consider $h: E \to \mathbb{P}^1$, the cyclic cover of degree 2 of \mathbb{P}^1 ramified over four points $p_1, ..., p_4$ over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 2. Assume that E is an ordinary elliptic curve (therefore it is GFS). By Proposition 3.4.7 and the above observation, we have that $(\mathbb{P}^1, \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^4 (p_i))$ is GFS.

Proposition 3.4.10. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a surjective projective morphism of normal varieties such that its Stein degree $\operatorname{St.deg}(f)$ is not divisible by p, and let $B \ge 0$ be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X. Assume (X, B) is globally F-split and $(1 - p^e)(K_X + B) \sim_Y 0$. Then, there exists a canonically determined effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor B^Y on Y such that

- (i) $(1-p^e)(K_X+B) \sim f^*((1-p^e)(K_Y+B^Y));$
- (ii) (Y, B^Y) is globally F-split;
- (iii) if $\Lambda \ge 0$ is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Y such that $K_Y + B^Y + \Lambda$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier, then $(B + f^*\Lambda)^Y = B^Y + \Lambda$;
- (iv) $(X, B + f^*\Lambda)$ is globally F-split if and only if $(Y, B^Y + \Lambda)$ is globally F-split.

Proof. Apply Proposition 3.4.3 and Proposition 3.4.7 to the Stein factorisation of the morphism $f: X \xrightarrow{g} Z \xrightarrow{h} Y$. qed

Chapter 4

On the canonical bundle formula for GGLC morphisms

This chapter is the core of [Ben23]. We remark that the proofs have been corrected and the methods improved compared to the original version of the paper. The aim of the chapter is a canonical bundle formula result over perfect fields of positive characteristic for morphisms onto curves, conjecturally to the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions. In particular, when we say "assume the LMMP in dimension n", we mean that:

- (a) we can run a Minimal Model Program for log canonical pairs (X, B) with $B \ge 0$ of dimension n and this terminates;
- (b) inversion of adjunction holds for log canonical pairs (X, B) with $B \ge 0$ (from dimension n 1 to dimension n).

Remark 4.0.1. If X is a normal threefold over a perfect field of characteristic p > 5, existence of log resolutions is proven and we can run the LMMP for log canonical pairs (see [HX15], [Bir16], [BW17] and [HNT20]). Moreover, inversion of adjunction holds by [BMP+23, Corollary 10.1].

4.1. The problem

Following the techniques used in [ACSS21], we work with more general fibrations than K-trivial ones. Therefore, we define the discriminant part measuring the singularities as in Definition 3.2.3 and the moduli part on the source of the fibration as in Definition 3.3.1. However, in order to get well-defined divisors, in positive characteristic we need to assume the GGLC condition (see Definition 2.2.1) on our fibration.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Proposition 4.1.1. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions of singularities in dimension n. Let X be a variety of dimension n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be an equidimensional fibration between normal varieties and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it with $B_{\eta} \ge 0$, where η is the generic point of Z. Then, the discriminant part B_Z is well-defined. Consequently, the moduli part M_X is also well-defined.

Proof. By Proposition 2.2.10, the general fibre X_z is normal and the pair defined by adjunction (X_z, B_z) is log canonical. Let $U \subseteq Z$ be the dense open subset of Zsuch that (X_z, B_z) is log canonical with $B_z \ge 0$ for all $z \in U$ and $f^*\delta$ is integral for every δ prime divisor not contained in $Z \setminus U$. Let δ be a prime divisor in Z which is not contained in $Z \setminus U$ and let X_δ be the fibre over δ . We claim that $\gamma_\delta = 1$. If this was not the case, there would exist a non-log canonical place E of (X_δ, B_δ) such that its centre contains the generic point of δ . In particular, by adjunction, this would imply that, for $z \in \delta$ general, there exists a non-log canonical place of (X_z, B_z) , contradiction. By inversion of adjunction, we conclude that $(X, B + f^*\delta)$ is log canonical around the generic point of δ .

In particular, $\gamma_{\delta} = 1$ for all, but finitely many prime divisors $\delta \subseteq Z$, therefore B_Z and consequently M_X are well-defined Q-divisors. qed

Remark 4.1.2. If we only assume the GLC condition, the canonical bundle formula fails to hold, as shown in [Wit21, Example 3.5].

Recall that our objective is to study positivity properties of the moduli part. In particular, the aim is to understand the following question in the case of fibrations onto curves.

Question 4.1.3. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension up to n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, where dim(X) = n, and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it with $B \ge 0$ and such that (X, B) is log canonical. Assume that $K_X + B$ is f-nef. Is the moduli part M_X nef up to a birational base change that is crepant over the generic point of Z, as in Theorem 3.3.10?

Example 4.1.4. With this example we illustrate the main idea of the approach we take to prove nefness of the moduli part in positive characteristic.

Let X be the projective closure of $V(y^2 - x^4 - x^2y^2t - t)$ inside $\mathbb{P}^2_{[x:y:z]} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{[s:t]}$ over a perfect field of characteristic $p \neq 2$ and let $f: X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be the induced projection. The fibration f is separable and there are no multiple fibres. Let \mathcal{F} be the foliation induced by f, then

$$K_X = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(1, -1)|_X$$
 and $K_F = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(1, 1)|_X$.

Now, let us perform a Frobenius base change as in diagram (*): the resulting variety $X^{(e)}$ is the projective closure of $V(y^2 - x^4 - x^2y^2\tau^{p^e} - \tau^{p^e})$ inside $\mathbb{P}^2_{[x:y:z]} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{[\sigma:\tau]}$,

therefore

$$K_{X^{(e)}} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(1, p^e - 2)|_X.$$

We observe that the divisor K_X is not nef, while both $K_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $K_{X^{(e)}}$ are nef. When performing a Frobenius base change, the positivity of $K_{X^{(e)}}$ somehow reflects the positivity of $K_{\mathcal{F}}$.

Under Property (*) assumptions, the moduli part coincides with the canonical bundle of the foliation, up to a term supported on the wild fibres. Therefore, we exploit the phenomenon shown in the above example to relate the positivity of the moduli part of $f: X \to Z$ to the positivity of the canonical divisor of the variety $X^{(e)}$ obtained after a high enough Frobenius base change. The advantage of doing so is that, although we do not have a foliated MMP in positive characteristic, we are able to study the positivity of the moduli part using the "standard" tools of the MMP on $K_{X^{(e)}}$.

4.2. Property (*) in positive characteristic

4.2.1. Moduli part

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated. We use the notation of (3) in Section 2.3.2.

For GGLC pairs, we define Property (*) as in Definition 2.2.1. When the fibration satisfies Property (*), the moduli part has an easy description.

Proposition 4.2.1. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions of singularities in dimension n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable equidimensional fibration between normal varieties, where $\dim(X) = n$, and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it which satisfies Property (*). Then

$$M_X = K_X + B^h - f^* K_Z - R(f),$$

where $R(f) := \sum_{\delta \subseteq Z} (f^* \delta - f^{-1}(\delta))$ is as in Definition 2.3.5.

Proof. The proof follows [ACSS21, Proposition 3.6], which states a similar equality over fields of characteristic 0. We need to show that, if B_Z is the discriminant part, $B^v - f^*B_Z = -R(f)$. Since (X/Z, B) has Property (*), B^v and B_Z are reduced divisors and $B^v = f^{-1}(B_Z)$. Let D be a vertical divisor such that its multiplicity with respect to f is $\ell_D = 1$. Then, the coefficient of D in $B^v - f^*B_Z$ is 0, as in R(f). On the other hand, if $\ell_D > 1$, its coefficient in $B^v - f^*B_Z$ is $1 - \ell_D$, as in -R(f).

Corollary 4.2.2. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions of singularities in dimension n. Let $f : X \to Z$ be an equidimensional fibration between

normal varieties, where $\dim(X) = n$, and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair on it satisfying Property (*). For every $e \ge 0$:

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p^e - 1)(M_X - B^h) + K_X - \sum_{D \text{ wild}} w_{D,e} D,$$

where $w_{D,e} \ge 0$ for every wild fibre D.

Proof. Combine Theorem 2.3.27 with Proposition 4.2.1.

4.2.2. Existence of (*)-modifications

Given any GLC pair in characteristic 0, we can construct a birationally equivalent model that satisfies Property (*) thanks to the existence of toroidal modifications as proven in [AK00]. In characteristic p > 0 however, we cannot always use this construction. In fact, in one of the steps, the authors consider a quotient by the action of a group and that does not have good enough properties if the order of the group is divisible by p ([AdJ97, Remark 0.3.2]). Nonetheless, when Z is a curve, we construct (*)-modifications by using log resolutions. Indeed, since in this case fibres are divisors, we can resolve them. This is one of the key reasons why we restrict our main results (Theorem 4.4.5, Theorem 4.4.6 and Theorem 4.4.7) to the case of Z being a curve.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Theorem 4.2.3 (Existence of (*)-modifications). Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective variety X of dimension n onto a normal curve Z and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it with $B \ge 0$. Then, there exists a GGLC pair (Y/Z, C)satisfying Property (*), with Y Q-factorial, $C \ge 0$, and (Y, C) dlt, together with a commutative diagram:

$$Y \xrightarrow{\mu} X$$

$$\downarrow g \qquad \downarrow f$$

$$Z,$$

where μ is a proper birational map and g is a fibration. Moreover, there exist a vertical effective exceptional \mathbb{Q} -divisor R on Y, whose image in X is supported in the non-log canonical locus of (X, B), and a vertical effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor G on Y, such that

$$K_Y + C + R = \mu^*(K_X + B) + G.$$

Additionally, the divisor $K_Y + C$ is μ -nef.

Proof. Step 1. First, we take a log resolution $\rho: X' \to X$ of (X, B). Then, we write $K_{X'} + D = \rho^*(K_X + B) + E$, where D and E are both effective with no common

qed

components and E is exceptional. If $D = \sum_i a_i D_i$, define $B' := \sum_i \min\{a_i, 1\} D_i$ and R' := D - B', so that

$$K_{X'} + B' + R' = \rho^*(K_X + B) + E.$$

Note that R' is supported on the non-log canonical locus of (X, B), thus it is a vertical divisor. Since $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ is log canonical, so is $(X_{\bar{\eta}}'^{\nu}, B_{\bar{\eta}}'^{\nu})$, where $B_{\bar{\eta}}'^{\nu}$ is defined by restriction. In particular, the general fibre of the induced map $f': X' \to Z$ is normal and log canonical by Lemma 2.2.5 and Proposition 2.2.10.

Step 2. Let $T \subset Z$ be the finite set of points over which the fibre is not normal or not log canonical. Consider now a further log resolution $\sigma \colon X^* \to X$ so that the strict transform of $\operatorname{Supp}(B') \cup f'^{-1}(T)$, together with the support of the exceptional divisors of σ , is simple normal crossing. We can choose $X^* \to X'$ to be an isomorphism over $Z \setminus T$. Define effective Q-divisors $\overline{B}, \overline{R}, \overline{E}$ in the same way we defined B', R', Erespectively, so that

$$K_{X^*} + \overline{B} + \overline{R} = \sigma^*(K_X + B) + \overline{E}.$$

Let $h: X^* \to Z$ be the induced map, then $(X^*/Z, \overline{B})$ is GGLC. Let

$$G^* := \left(\sum_{z \in T} h^{-1}(z)\right) - \overline{B}^v.$$

Finally, let $B^* := \overline{B} + G^*$ and let Σ_Z be the discriminant part of $(X^*/Z, B^*)$. Note that $\Sigma_Z = \sum_{z \in T} (z)$, where (z) denotes the divisor corresponding to the point $z \in Z$.

We claim that $(X^*/Z, B^*)$ satisfies Property (*).

- The pair is GGLC because G^* is vertical, so adding it does not affect the singularities at the general fibre.
- Since Z is a curve, (Z, Σ_Z) is log smooth.
- If z ∈ Z \ Supp(Σ_Z), (X^{*}_z, B^{*}_z) is log canonical, where X^{*}_z := h⁻¹(z) is normal and B^{*}_z is defined via adjunction. Thus, by inversion of adjunction, the pair (X^{*}, B^{*} + X^{*}_z) is log canonical around X^{*}_z.
- If z ∈ Supp(Σ_Z), by construction, Supp(B) ∪ X^{*}_z is simple normal crossing. Thus, (X^{*}, B^{*}) is log canonical (around X^{*}_z).

Step 3. Now, run a $(K_{X^*} + B^*)$ -MMP over X and let Y be the resulting variety, so that it fits in the following diagram:



where μ is the induced birational map and $g := f \circ \mu$ is a fibration. Let $C := \varphi_*B^*$. Note that $X^* \dashrightarrow Y$ is also a sequence of steps of the $(K_{X^*} + B^*)$ -MMP over Z, thus, by Proposition 3.3.3, (Y/Z, C) satisfies Property (*). Moreover, it is dlt and Q-factorial since these properties are preserved under the MMP. We have $K_{X^*} + B^* + \overline{R} = \sigma^*(K_X + B) + \overline{E} + G^*$. Define $R := \varphi_*\overline{R}$, let Q be the horizontal part of $\varphi_*(\overline{E} + G^*)$ and G its vertical part. We claim that Q = 0. In fact

$$Q + G - R = K_Y + C - \mu^*(K_X + B)$$

is μ -nef, and the horizontal part of this divisor is μ -exceptional, therefore $-\mu_*(Q|_{Y_{\overline{\eta}}}) = 0$. By the Negativity lemma [KM98, Lemma 3.39] applied to $Y_{\overline{\eta}}$, since $R|_{Y_{\overline{\eta}}} = 0$, we conclude that $-Q|_{Y_{\overline{\eta}}} \ge 0$. All in all, we get:

$$K_Y + C + R = \mu^*(K_X + B) + G_X$$

qed

4.2.3. Geometric (*)-modifications

In order to do induction on the dimension, we will perform adjunction on log canonical centres of the geometric generic fibre. For this, we need to extract divisors with discrepancy -1 over them. However, this cannot always be done over the total space X. In the next examples, we see that it may happen that X does not have any log canonical centre, even if the geometric generic fibre does. To overcome this issue, we base change our fibration with a high enough power of the Frobenius morphism as in (\clubsuit) in Section 2.3.2: in this way the singularities of the geometric generic fibre appear on the total space.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated. We use the notation of (\circledast) in Section 2.3.2.

Example 4.2.4. Let X be the projective closure of $V(x^3s + y^3s + xyzs + v^3t)$ inside $\mathbb{P}^3_{[x:y:z:v]} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{[s:t]}$ and let $f: X \to \mathbb{P}^1_{[s:t]}$ be the fibration induced by the projection onto the second factor. On the open set where $s \neq 0, v \neq 0$, X is regular everywhere. If the characteristic is $\neq 3$, $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is also smooth. Only the fibre over t = 0 has a singularity at the origin. On the other hand, if the characteristic of the base field is 3, the general fibre is a deformation of a cone and it has two singularities that come together over t = 0. On the geometric generic fibre they can be described by the equations $W := V(x, z, y^3 + t)$ and $W' := V(y, z, x^3 + t)$. These are canonical centres of the geometric generic fibre. Note that $f|_W$ and $f|_{W'}$ are the Frobenius morphism.

Now, consider the base change with the Frobenius morphism $F: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}$ and let $X^{(1)}$ be the normalisation of the fibre product. Let τ be an element of $k(X^{(1)})$ such

that $\tau^3 = t$. Then, the total space $X^{(1)}$ is no longer regular, but has singularities at $W^{(1)} := V(x, z, y + \tau)$ and $W'^{(1)} := V(y, z, x + \tau)$.

Example 4.2.5. Let $X := \mathbb{P}^2_{[x:y:z]} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{[s:t]}$, $D = V(x^p s - y^p t) \subset \mathbb{P}^2_{[x:y:z]} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{[s:t]}$ and $B := \frac{1}{p}D$ over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. Let $f : X \to \mathbb{P}^1_{[s:t]}$ be the natural projection. Consider the base change with $F : \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$, let $X^{(1)}$ be the normalisation of the fibre product and $\beta_1 : X^{(1)} \to X$. Then (X, B) is klt, while $(X^{(1)}, \beta_1^* B)$ is strictly log canonical.

Remark 4.2.6. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal varieties with a pair (X/Z, B). Let $W \subset X$ be a subvariety such that $(W_{\bar{\eta}})_{\text{red}}$ is a log canonical centre of $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$, where $\bar{\eta}$ is the geometric generic point of Z. Even if $f|_W$ is separable, it may be that W is not a log canonical centre of (X, B). This is because, in order to extract a log canonical place over $(W_{\bar{\eta}})_{\text{red}}$, we may have to blow-up centres \overline{V} defined over $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ such that the variety V over X "corresponding" to \overline{V} is not geometrically reduced over Z.

Lemma 4.2.7. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal varieties such that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\overline{\eta}}$ is normal. Let B be a Q-divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is Q-Cartier. Let $\sigma: Z' \to Z$ be a generically finite separable map and consider the diagram:



where X' is the normalisation of the main component of the fibre product $X \times_Z Z'$. Define a Q-divisor B' on X' by log pullback, so that $K_{X'} + B' = s^*(K_X + B)$. Let η be the generic point of Z. Then a subset $W \subseteq X$ such that W_{η} is non-empty, is a log canonical centre (resp. non-log canonical centre) of (X, B) if and only if there exists $W' \subseteq X'$, irreducible component of $s^{-1}(W)$, which is a log canonical centre (resp. non-log canonical centre) of (X', B').

Proof. By Lemma 2.2.8, the conductor of X' is vertical, so, up to shrinking Z, we can assume the fibre product is already normal. Moreover, up to shrinking Z further, we can assume both σ and its Galois closure are étale, so s and its Galois closure are étale as well. In particular, they do not have any (wild) ramification. Thus, the discrepancies over the two pairs are the same ([KM98, Proposition 5.20]). qed

Definition 4.2.8. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable flat fibration between normal varieties and B a Q-divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is Q-Cartier. Assume that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal. A geometric non-klt centre (resp. geometric log canonical centre/ geometric non-log canonical centre) of (X, B) is a subvariety $W \subset X$ such that, if $\bar{\eta}$ is the geometric generic point of Z, $(W_{\bar{\eta}})_{\rm red}$ is a non-klt (resp. log canonical/ non-log canonical) centre of $(X, B_{\bar{\eta}})$.

Proposition 4.2.9. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal varieties such that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\overline{\eta}}$ is normal. Let B be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$, B^v and all the vertical divisors D whose multiplicity is $\ell_D > 1$ are \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. Let \overline{W} be a log canonical (resp. non-log canonical) centre of $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}})$ and let W be a subvariety of X such that an irreducible component of $(W_{\overline{\eta}})_{\text{red}}$ is exactly \overline{W} . Then, there exists $e \gg 0$ such that $W^{(e)}$ is a log canonical (resp. non-log canonical) centre of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$, where $B_e := \beta_e^* B^h + \beta_e^{-1} B^v$.

Proof. Since \overline{W} is a log canonical (resp. non-log canonical) centre of $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}})$, there exists $\overline{Y} \to X_{\overline{\eta}}$ proper birational map that extracts an exceptional divisor \overline{E} over \overline{W} with discrepancy -1 (resp. < -1).

By Lemma 2.2.9, there is a generically finite map $\varphi \colon Z' \to Z$ such that, if X' is the normalisation of the main component of $X \times_Z Z'$, there exists $\sigma \colon Y \to X'$ birational with $Y_{\overline{\eta}} = \overline{Y}$. Up to possibly taking a further purely inseparable base change, the map φ can be decomposed as $F^e \circ \psi$, with ψ separable and $e \in \mathbb{N}$, so that we have the following diagram:



Let $B_e := \beta_e^* B^h + \beta_e^{-1}(B^v)$ and define B' by log pullback from $X^{(e)}$, so $K_{X'} + B' = \gamma^*(K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e)$. Note that, by Theorem 2.3.27 and the Q-Cartier assumptions in the statement, $K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e$ is Q-Cartier. Since $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal, by Lemma 2.2.8, $X'_{\bar{\eta}} = Y_{\bar{\eta}} = X_{\bar{\eta}}^{(e)}$, and β_e and γ are isomorphisms on the geometric generic fibre, therefore, $B_{\bar{\eta}} = B_{e,\bar{\eta}} = B'_{\bar{\eta}}$.

Let $E \subset Y$ be an exceptional divisor on Y such that $E_{\overline{\eta}} = \overline{E}$. The discrepancy of E with respect to the pair (X', B') can be computed at $\overline{\eta}$, therefore it is 1 (resp. < -1). Hence, $\sigma(E)$ is a log canonical (resp. non-log canonical) centre of (X', B')and $(\beta_e \circ \gamma \circ \sigma)(E) = W$. We conclude by Lemma 4.2.7. qed

Remark 4.2.10. The above Proposition 4.2.9 says that, if W is a geometric nonklt (resp. log canonical/ non-log canonical) centre of (X/Z, B), it is not necessarily a non-klt (resp. log canonical/ non-log canonical) centre of (X, B). However, for $e \gg 0$, its base change $W^{(e)}$ inside $X^{(e)}$ is a non-klt (resp. log canonical/ non-log canonical) centre of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$, where $B_e := \beta_e^* B^h + \beta_e^{-1} B^v$.

Moreover, since the non-klt centres of the geometric generic fibre $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ are finitely many, for $e \gg 0$, they all appear as (geometric) non-klt centres of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$. Assuming the existence of log resolutions, we can construct a birational model of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$ which extracts all these geometric non-klt centres. More precisely, for $e \gg 0$, there exists a birational map $Y \to X^{(e)}$ such that, if \overline{W} is a non-klt centre of $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$, there is a place $E \subset Y$ that extracts \overline{W} . **Theorem 4.2.11** (Existence of geometric (*)-modifications). Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal variety X of dimension n onto a normal curve Z, such that the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal. Let $B \ge 0$ be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$, B^v and all the vertical divisors D whose multiplicity is $\ell_D > 1$ are \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. Assume that the coefficients of B and $B_{\bar{\eta}}$ are ≤ 1 . Let \overline{W} be a log canonical centre of $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ and let W be a subvariety of X such that an irreducible component of $(W_{\bar{\eta}})_{\text{red}}$ is exactly \overline{W} . For $e \ge 0$, let $B_e := \beta_e^* B^h + \beta_e^{-1} B^v$. Then, there exists e_0 such that, for all $e \ge e_0$, there exists a (*)-modification of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$ which extracts an exceptional divisor E over $W^{(e)}$ with discrepancy -1. More precisely, there exist a dlt GGLC pair (Y/Z, C + E) with Y \mathbb{Q} -factorial, $C \ge 0$, and a diagram:



where μ is a proper birational map which extracts E over $W^{(e)}$ and g is a fibration. Moreover, there exist an effective exceptional \mathbb{Q} -divisor R on Y, whose image in $X^{(e)}$ is supported in the non-log canonical locus of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$, and a vertical effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor G on Y, such that

$$K_Y + C + E + R = \mu^* (K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e) + G.$$

Additionally, $(K_Y + C + E)$ is μ -nef.

Proof. Step 1. First of all note that $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ is not necessarily log canonical. In this first step we find a model over $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$ that satisfies the GGLC property.

Choose $e \in \mathbb{N}$ big enough, so that, for all \overline{V} non-log canonical centre of $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}})$, there exists $V_e \subseteq X^{(e)}$ (geometric) non-log canonical centre of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$ such that $V_{e,\overline{\eta}}$ is reduced and one of its components is \overline{V} . Such e exists by Proposition 4.2.9. Note that, by the assumptions on B, the coefficients of B_e are all ≤ 1 .

Let $\sigma: X_1 \to X^{(e)}$ be a log resolution of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$ which extracts all the geometric non-log canonical centres.

Write $K_{X_1} + D_1 = \sigma^*(K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e) + T_1$, where T_1 is effective and σ -exceptional, and D_1 is effective and it does not have any components in common with T_1 . If $D_1 = \sum_i a_i D_i$, with D_i prime divisors, let $B_1 := \sum_i \min\{a_i, 1\} D_i$ and $R_1 = D_1 - B_1$, so that

$$K_{X_1} + B_1 + R_1 = \sigma^* (K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e) + T_1.$$

Note that R_1 is σ -exceptional and supported on the non-log canonical places of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$. Moreover, (X_1, B_1) is log smooth and $(X_{1,\bar{\eta}}, B_{1,\bar{\eta}})$ is log canonical since we have extracted all the non-log canonical places.

Now, we run a $(K_{X_1} + B_1)$ -MMP over $X^{(e)}$. Let $\varphi \colon X_1 \dashrightarrow X'_1$ and $\tau \colon X'_1 \to X^{(e)}$ be the resulting morphisms, $B'_1 := \varphi_* B_1$ and $R'_1 := \varphi_* R_1$. By the Negativity lemma [KM98, Lemma 3.39], $\varphi_* T_1 = 0$. In fact, $-R'_1 + \varphi_* T_1$ is τ -nef and $\tau_* (R'_1 - \varphi_* T_1) \ge 0$, whence $-\varphi_* T_1 \ge 0$. All in all, we have:

$$K_{X_1'} + B_1' + R_1' = \tau^* (K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e),$$

where R'_1 is τ -exceptional and supported on the non-log canonical places of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$. Moreover, both (X'_1, B'_1) and $(X'_{1,\bar{\eta}}, B'_{1,\bar{\eta}})$ are log canonical and X'_1 is \mathbb{Q} -factorial. **Step 2.** In this step, we extract a log canonical place over $W^{(e)}$.

Let $s: X_2 \to X'_1$ be a birational morphism extracting a log canonical place E_2 over $W^{(e)}$. Define B_2 and T_2 effective Q-divisors with no common components so that

$$K_{X_2} + B_2 + E_2 = s^* (K_{X_1'} + B_1') + T_2.$$

Note that X_2 is Q-factorial. Run a $(K_{X_2} + B_2 + E_2)$ -MMP over $X^{(e)}$. Define $\psi: X_2 \dashrightarrow X'_2$ and $t: X'_2 \to X^{(e)}$ to be the resulting morphisms, $B'_2 := \psi_* B_2$ and $E'_2 := \psi_* E_2$. Note that, since $(K_{X_2} + B_2 + E_2) \sim_{\mathbb{Q},s} T_2$, all the contracted (or flipped) curves are in the support of T_2 ; in particular, E_2 is not contracted. Let $s': X'_2 \to X'_1$ be the induced map, then, $\psi_* T_2$ is s'-nef and $-s'_* \psi_* T_2 = 0$, therefore, $-\psi_* T_2 \ge 0$ by the Negativity lemma [KM98, Lemma 3.39], whence $\psi_* T_2 = 0$. All in all, we have:

$$K_{X_2'} + B_2' + E_2' + R_2' = t^*(K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e),$$

where $R'_2 := \psi_* s^* R'_1$ is t-exceptional and supported on the non-log canonical places of $(X^{(e)}, B_e)$. Moreover, both $(X'_2, B'_2 + E'_2)$ and $(X'_{2,\bar{\eta}}, B'_{2,\bar{\eta}} + E'_{2,\bar{\eta}})$ are log canonical, X'_2 is \mathbb{Q} -factorial and $K_{X'_2} + B'_2 + E'_2$ is t-nef.

Step 3. In this step, we find a (*)-modification of $(X'_2, B'_2 + E'_2)$.

We apply Theorem 4.2.3 to $(X'_2, B'_2 + E'_2)$ to find a (*)-modification (Y'/Z, C' + E')with $\lambda: Y' \to X'_2$ birational, where E' is the strict transform of E'_2 . Let $g': Y' \to Z$ be the induced fibration. In particular,

- (a) (Y'/Z, C' + E') is GGLC and satisfies Property (*);
- (b) Y' is \mathbb{Q} -factorial and (Y', C' + E') is dlt;
- (c) there exists an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor G', such that we have $K_{Y'} + C' + E' = \lambda^*(K_{X'_2} + B'_2 + E'_2) + G'$ and G' is g'-vertical;
- (d) $K_{Y'} + C' + E'$ is λ -nef and, if $U := Y' \setminus \text{Supp}(G'), (K_{Y'} + C' + E')|_U$ is μ' -nef, where $\mu' : Y \to X^{(e)}$;
- (e) let $R_{Y'} := \lambda^* R'_2$, then $K_{Y'} + C' + E' + R_{Y'} = \mu'^* (K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e) + G'$.

Step 4. As last step, we run a $(K_{Y'} + C' + E')$ -MMP over $X^{(e)}$.

By point (d) in Step 3, this MMP is an isomorphism on U, so it does not contract E'. Let Y be the resulting variety, $\mu: Y \to X^{(e)}$ the induced morphism, and C, E, R and G the push-forward on Y of $C', E', R_{Y'}$ and G', respectively. Let $g: Y \to Z$ be the induced morphism. Then:

- (a) (Y/Z, C + E) is GGLC and satisfies Property (*) by Proposition 3.3.3;
- (b) Y is \mathbb{Q} -factorial and (Y, C+E) is dlt since these properties are preserved under the MMP;
- (c) $K_Y + C + E + R = \mu^*(K_{X^{(e)}} + B_e) + G$ by point (e) in Step 3;
- (d) $K_Y + C + E$ is μ -nef.

qed

4.2.4. Adjunction of the moduli part

Now, we study the restriction of the moduli part to geometric log canonical centres for fibrations onto curves.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Lemma 4.2.12. Let (X, B + S) be a dlt pair, where S is a prime divisor and X is a normal Q-factorial variety. Then, the normalisation morphism $S^{\nu} \to S$ is an isomorphism in codimension 1. Moreover, if either

- (a) X has dimension ≤ 3 and is defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 5, or
- (b) S satisfies the S_2 property;

then, S is normal.

Proof. The pair $(S^{\nu}, B_{S^{\nu}})$ induced on S^{ν} by adjunction is log canonical. Moreover, by [HW23, Lemma 2.1], $S^{\nu} \to S$ is a universal homeomorphism, therefore the singularities in codimension 1 are worse than nodal. Thus, if $S^{\nu} \to S$ was not an isomorphism in codimension 1, the conductor would have coefficients > 1, leading to a contradiction.

If X is a threefold over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 5, the claim is proven in [Bir16, Lemma 5.2]. If X is defined over a perfect field k of characteristic p > 5, by the same argument, we conclude that $\overline{S} := S \times_k \overline{k}$ is normal, which means that S is geometrically normal, whence normal. On the other hand, if S satisfies the S_2 property, the pair (S, B_S) induced on S by adjunction is slc and, since $S^{\nu} \to S$ is a universal homeomorphism, there cannot be nodal singularities in codimension 1, thus S is normal. qed Remark 4.2.13. If X has dimension > 3, or the characteristic of the base field is $p \leq 5$, then it is no longer true in general that plt centres are normal (see [Ber19] and [CT19]).

We now set some notation that we will use in the following results.

 (\diamondsuit) Set-up

- (i) Let $f: X \to Z$ be an equidimensional fibration between normal varieties, where Z is a curve. Let (X/Z, B + S) be a GGLC pair associated with it, where S is a prime horizontal divisor.
- (ii) Assume that X is Q-factorial and (X, B + S) is dlt. Then, by Lemma 4.2.12, S is normal in codimension 1. For the sake of the computations we are going to do, we can suppose S = S^ν. In fact, we will only be interested in working around codimension 1 points.
- (iii) Let $(S^{\nu}, B_{S^{\nu}})$ be the pair induced on S^{ν} by adjunction.
- (iv) Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension up to $n := \dim(X)$. Suppose that (X/Z, B + S) satisfies Property (*).
- (v) Let $f|_{S^{\nu}} = g \circ \varphi$, be the Stein factorisation of $f|_{S^{\nu}}$; in particular g is a fibration and $\varphi: Z' \to Z$ is a finite morphism.

Remark 4.2.14. In the above Set-up (\diamondsuit), since (X/Z, B + S) is GGLC, if $\overline{\eta}$ is the geometric generic point of Z, $S_{\overline{\eta}}$ is reduced, therefore, by Proposition 2.1.2, φ is separable.

Moreover, we have some control over the ramification of φ . More precisely, if $\delta \subseteq Z$ is a prime divisor and $\varphi^* \delta = \sum_i m_i \delta'_i$, then m_i divides the multiplicities with respect to f of all the vertical divisors over δ intersecting S non-trivially. Indeed, without loss of generality, we can suppose $S = S^{\nu}$. Since (X/Z, B+S) has Property $(*), (S, f^{-1}(\delta)|_S)$ is log canonical around $f^{-1}(\delta)|_S$, whence $f^{-1}(\delta)|_S$ is reduced. Then

$$f^*\delta|_S = \sum_j \ell_j D_j|_S = \sum_j \ell_j \left(\sum_l D_l^S\right)$$
$$= g^*\varphi^*\delta = \sum_i m_i g^*\delta'_i.$$

The same computation shows that, if D is a prime vertical divisor in X and D_S is a prime component of $D|_S$, the multiplicity of D_S with respect to g divides the multiplicity of D with respect to f. All in all, if we work around a general point of D_S and we let $\delta' := g(D_S)$ and $\delta := f(D)$, we can write $\varphi^* \delta = m\delta'$, $g^* \delta' = nD_S$ and $f^* \delta = \ell D$. Then, $\ell = mn$.

Remark 4.2.15. Recall that, if $\delta' \subseteq Z'$ is a prime divisor such that its multiplicity with respect to φ is divisible by p, δ' is called a divisor of **wild ramification**. If the multiplicity is ≥ 2 and coprime with p, δ' is a divisor of **tame ramification**. If Dis a wild fibre for f, then $\delta' := g(D)$ may be a divisor of wild ramification for φ . On the other hand, if D is tame, then δ' is either unramified or of tame ramification.

Proposition 4.2.16. In the above Set-up (\diamondsuit) , the pair $(S^{\nu}/Z', B_{S^{\nu}})$ associated to the fibration $g: S^{\nu} \to Z'$ is GGLC and satisfies Property (\ast) . Moreover, $(B_{S^{\nu}})^{v} = B^{v}|_{S^{\nu}}$.

Proof. First of all, note that the geometric generic points of Z and Z' coincide. Since $S_{\bar{\eta}}$ is a log canonical centre of $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$, the pair $(S_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}, B_{S_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}})$ is log canonical. By the universal properties of the normalisation, $(S^{\nu})_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu} = S_{\bar{\eta}}^{\nu}$. Thus, $(S^{\nu}/Z', B_{S^{\nu}})$ is GGLC.

Since $S^{\nu} \to S$ is an isomorphism in codimension 1, for the purpose of the proof, we can assume S is normal. Let us verify that $(S/Z', B_S)$ satisfies Property (*). Let Σ_Z be the discriminant part of (X/Z, B+S). Since X is Q-factorial, we define B_S^h by adjunction, so that $(K_X + B^h + S)|_S = K_S + B_S^h$ and $K_S + B_S = K_S + B_S^h + B^v|_S$.

- (a) We claim that B_S^h does not contain any vertical component. In particular, $(B_S)^v = B^v|_S$ and $(B_S)^h = B_S^h$. Indeed, if this was not the case, let D_S be a vertical divisor contained in $\operatorname{Supp}(B_S^h)$ and $z := f|_S(D_S)$. Since $(X, B^h + S + f^{-1}(z))$ is log canonical, $(S, B_S^h + D_S)$ is log canonical as well. Therefore, the coefficient of D_S in B_S^h must be 0, contradiction. To conclude, note that $(B^v)|_S \leq (B_S)^v$ since S is horizontal.
- (b) Let $\Sigma_{Z'} := \varphi^{-1}(\Sigma_Z)$. Then $B_S^v = f|_S^{-1}(\Sigma_Z) = g^{-1}(\Sigma_{Z'})$ and, since Z' is a normal curve, $(Z', \Sigma_{Z'})$ is log smooth.
- (c) Let $z' \in Z' \setminus \text{Supp}(\Sigma_{Z'})$ be a closed point and $z := \varphi(z') \in Z \setminus \text{Supp}(\Sigma_Z)$. In particular, f is unramified at z, therefore, by the computations in Remark 4.2.15, both φ and g are unramified at z'. Since $(X, B + S + f^*z)$ is log canonical around $f^{-1}(z)$, $(S, B_S + f|_S^*z) = (S, B_S + g^*z' + D)$ is log canonical around $g^{-1}(z')$ by adjunction, where $f|_S^*z = g^*z' + D$.

The "moreover" part follows from point (a).

Proposition 4.2.17. In Set-up (\diamondsuit) , let M_X and $M_{S^{\nu}}$ be the moduli parts of (X/Z, B+S) and $(S^{\nu}/Z', B_{S^{\nu}})$, respectively. Then,

$$M_{S^{\nu}} = M_X|_{S^{\nu}} - \sum_{D_S} v_{D_S} D_S,$$

where the sum is on those divisors D_S that lie over points of wild ramification of φ and the coefficients v_{D_S} are positive integers.

qed

Proof. For the sake of the proof, we can assume $S = S^{\nu}$. By Proposition 4.2.16, $(S/Z', B_S)$ satisfies Property (*) and $(B_S)^{\nu} = B^{\nu}|_S$, therefore, by Proposition 4.2.1,

$$M_X = K_X + B^h - f^* K_Z - R(f)$$
 and $M_S = K_S + B_S^h - g^* K_{Z'} - R(g)$,

where B_S^h satisfies $(K_X + B^h)|_S = K_S + B_S^h$. By the Hurwitz formula [Har77, Proposition 2.3, Chapter IV],

$$K_{Z'} = \varphi^* K_Z + \sum_i (m_i - 1) z'_i + \sum_j (a_j + 1) z'_j,$$

where the first sum is taken over all ramified point of φ (wild and tame), with m_i being their multiplicity, and the second sum only over the wildly ramified points of φ , with a_j being a non-negative integer. Now, let us do the computations locally around a vertical prime divisor $D_S \subseteq S$. Let $D \subseteq X$ be a vertical prime divisor such that $D_S \leq D|_S$, z := f(D) and $z' := g(D_S)$. We can suppose $f^*z = \ell D$, $\varphi^*z = mz'$, $g^*z' = nD_S$ and $\ell = mn$. If φ is tamely ramified at z', locally we have:

$$M_{S} = K_{S} + B_{S}^{h} - g^{*}K_{Z'} - (n-1)D_{S}$$

= $K_{S} + B_{S}^{h} - f|_{S}^{*}K_{Z} - (m-1)g^{*}z' - (n-1)D_{S}$
= $(K_{X} + B^{h} - f^{*}K_{Z} - (mn-1)D)|_{S} = M_{X}|_{S}.$

If φ is wildly ramified at z', locally we have:

$$M_{S} = K_{S} + B_{S}^{h} - g^{*}K_{Z'} - (n-1)D_{S}$$

= $K_{S} + B_{S}^{h} - f|_{S}^{*}K_{Z} - g^{*}(m+a)z' - (n-1)D_{S}$
= $(K_{X} - f^{*}K_{Z} - (mn-1)D)|_{S} - (an+n)D_{S} = M_{X}|_{S} - (an+n)D_{S}$

for some $a \ge 0$. Set $v_{D_S} := an + n$ to conclude.

Remark 4.2.18. In Set-up (\diamondsuit) , let Σ_Z be the discriminant part of (X/Z, B + S). Define $\Sigma_{Z'} := \varphi^{-1}(\Sigma_Z)$. If Z is not a curve, then $(Z', \Sigma_{Z'})$ may be even not log canonical, due to the possible presence of wild ramification in φ . Therefore, we may not be able to describe the moduli part $M_{S^{\nu}}$ as $K_{S^{\nu}} + B^h_{S^{\nu}} - g^*K_{Z'} - R(g')$ and we cannot conclude a formula similar to the one in Proposition 4.2.17 for adjunction of the moduli part.

4.3. Bend and Break theorem for the moduli divisor

A crucial step in the proof of positivity of the moduli part in characteristic 0 is the Cone theorem for foliations [ACSS21, Theorem 3.9]. If the canonical bundle of a

foliation is not nef, we can find rational curves that are *tangent to the foliation*. The idea is to find them by applying Miyaoka–Mori's Bend and Break theorem [MM86] to the variety reduced modulo a big enough prime (see [SB92]). If our setting is in positive characteristic to start with, we do not have the possibility of changing the prime. However, for fibrations under Property (*) conditions, we can relate the moduli part to the canonical divisor of the variety obtained after a Frobenius base change using Theorem 2.3.27. This is a key ingredient for our strategy and it constitutes one of the main differences between the situation in characteristic 0 and over fields of positive characteristic.

In this section we consider varieties defined over an algebraically closed field, unless otherwise stated. We will specify the characteristic in each result. We use the notation of (\clubsuit) in Section 2.3.2.

We will use the following version of the Bend and Break theorem.

Theorem 4.3.1 (Bend and Break theorem, [Kol96, Theorem II.5.8]). Let X be a normal projective variety of dimension n over an algebraically closed field of any characteristic and let ξ be a smooth curve such that X is smooth around ξ . Let $x \in \xi$ be a general point and G a nef divisor on X. If $K_X \cdot \xi < 0$, there exists a rational curve ζ_x such that $x \in \zeta_x$ and

$$G \cdot \zeta_x \le 2n \frac{G \cdot \xi}{-K_X \cdot \xi}.$$

The next result is a direct consequence of the Bend and Break theorem; the proof is inspired by [KMM94, Theorem 6.1] and [Spi20, Corollary 2.28].

Corollary 4.3.2. Let X be a normal projective variety of dimension n over an algebraically closed field of any characteristic and let $D_1, ..., D_n, G$ be nef divisors on X. Assume that

- (a) $D_1 \cdot ... \cdot D_n = 0;$
- (b) $K_X \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n < 0.$

Then, for $x \in X$ general point, there is a rational curve $\zeta_x \subseteq X$ containing x such that

- (i) $G \cdot \zeta_x \leq 2n \frac{G \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n}{-K_X \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n};$
- (*ii*) $D_1 \cdot \zeta_x = 0$.

Proof. Let H be an ample divisor and $0 \leq \varepsilon \ll 1$ small enough such that, if $H_i := D_i + \varepsilon H$ for i = 2, ..., n, we have that $K_X \cdot H_2 \cdot ... \cdot H_n < 0$. Now, choose $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $m_i H_i$ are very ample for i = 2, ..., n and let ξ be a curve in the intersection of the linear systems $|m_i H_i|$, passing through a general point of X and such that ξ

is smooth and contained in the regular locus of X. Let $G_{\varepsilon,k} := kD_1 + G + \varepsilon H$. By Theorem 4.3.1, there exists $\zeta_{\varepsilon,k}$ through a general point of ξ such that

$$(\bigstar) \qquad \qquad G_{\varepsilon,k} \cdot \zeta_{\varepsilon,k} \le 2n \frac{G_{\varepsilon,k} \cdot \xi}{-K_X \cdot \xi}.$$

Since $D_1 \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n = 0$, there exists a constant $c \ge 0$ with the following property. For every k > 0, there exists $\varepsilon_k > 0$ such that the RHS of the equation (\bigstar) is $\le c$ for every $\varepsilon \le \varepsilon_k$. Therefore the family $\{\zeta_{\varepsilon_k,k}\}_k$ is bounded. Since bounded integral points in the cone of curves are finitely many, up to passing to a sub-sequence, we can assume $\zeta_{\varepsilon_k,k} = \zeta$ is constant.

Now, letting k approach $+\infty$, we get that $(kD_1+G+\varepsilon_kH)\cdot\zeta$ is bounded, whence $D_1\cdot\zeta = 0$. Therefore, (\bigstar) becomes

$$(G + \varepsilon H) \cdot \zeta \leq 2n \frac{(kD_1 + G + \varepsilon H) \cdot H_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot H_n}{-K_X \cdot H_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot H_n}$$

Finally, letting ε go to 0, we get the conclusion.

The next proposition is one of the key steps for the proof of the main result of this chapter, Theorem 4.4.6. Roughly it says that, when the fibration satisfies Property (*) and the boundary divisor is vertical, if the moduli part is f-nef, it is non-negative on curves that are general enough.

Proposition 4.3.3. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair of dimension n associated with it over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. Assume that (X/Z, B) satisfies Property (*) with X Qfactorial and let M_X be the moduli part of (X/Z, B). Assume there exist $D_2, ..., D_n$ nef Q-divisors, $k \in Q_{>0}$ and A ample Q-divisor such that:

- (a) $(M_X + kA) \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n = 0;$
- (b) $M_X \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n < 0;$
- (c) $(M_X + kA)$ is nef.

Then, through a general point $x \in X$, there exists a vertical rational curve ζ such that $M_X \cdot \zeta < 0$.

Proof. By Corollary 4.2.2,

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n = (p^e - 1)(M_X - B^h) \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n + K_X \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n - W_e \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n,$$

where $W_e := \sum_{D \text{ wild }} w_{D,e} D$, for some $w_{D,e} \ge 0$.

We claim that for each effective Q-divisor $E, E \cdot D_2 \cdot ... \cdot D_n \geq 0$. Indeed, let H be an ample divisor, $\varepsilon > 0$ and define $H_i := D_i + \varepsilon H$ for i = 2, ..., n. Let ξ_{ε} be

qed

a curve not contained in Supp(D), taken in the intersection of the linear systems $|m_iH_i|$, where $m_i > 0$ is chosen so that m_iH_i are very ample. Then, $E \cdot \xi_{\varepsilon} > 0$, and, letting ε go to 0, we get the claim.

Therefore, $B^h \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n \ge 0$ and $D \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n \ge 0$ for every wild fibre D. All in all, for $e \gg 0$, we have $\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n < 0$.

Let $D_1 := M_X + kA$ and $D_{i,e} := \beta_e^* D_i$ for i = 1, ..., n. Note that $\alpha_e^* D_{i,e} = p^e D_i$. Then,

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} \cdot p^e D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot p^e D_n = \deg(\alpha_e) K_{X^{(e)}} \cdot D_{2,e} \cdot \ldots \cdot D_{n,e} < 0$$

Therefore, for $e \gg 0$,

- (a) $D_{1,e} \cdot D_{2,e} \cdot \ldots \cdot D_{n,e} = \deg(\beta_e) D_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n = 0;$
- (b) $K_{X^{(e)}} \cdot D_{2,e} \cdot \dots \cdot D_{n,e} < 0.$

Let $G_e := \beta_e^* G$, for some ample Cartier divisor G on X. We apply Corollary 4.3.2 on $X^{(e)}$, $D_{1,e}, ..., D_{n,e}, G_e$ to find, through a general point of $X^{(e)}$, a rational curve ζ_e such that:

(i) $G_e \cdot \zeta_e \leq 2n \frac{G_e \cdot D_{2,e} \cdot \dots \cdot D_{n,e}}{-K_{X^{(e)}} \cdot D_{2,e} \cdot \dots \cdot D_{n,e}};$

(ii)
$$D_{1,e} \cdot \zeta_e = 0.$$

Let ζ_e^X be the image of ζ_e in X. By point (ii) and since A is ample,

$$M_X \cdot \zeta_e^X < 0.$$

To conclude, we show that there exists e such that ζ_e^X is vertical. Assume, for the sake of a contradiction, that this was not the case. Let $p^{\varphi(e)}$ be the minimum between the purely inseparable degree of $f|_{\zeta_e^X}$ and p^e . Remark that, by Lemma 2.3.15, the degree of $\beta_e|_{\zeta_e}$ is $p^{e-\varphi(e)}$. We claim that $\varphi(e) = e - O(1)$, where $O(1) \ge 0$ is a bounded function. Indeed,

$$p^{e}G \cdot p^{e}D_{2} \cdot \ldots \cdot p^{e}D_{n} = \alpha_{e}^{*}G_{e} \cdot \alpha_{e}^{*}D_{2,e} \cdot \ldots \cdot \alpha_{e}^{*}D_{n,e}$$
$$= \deg(\alpha_{e})G_{e} \cdot D_{2,e} \cdot \ldots \cdot D_{n,e}.$$

Therefore:

$$p^{e-\varphi(e)} \leq p^{e-\varphi(e)}G \cdot \zeta_e^X = G_e \cdot \zeta_e \leq 2n \frac{G_e \cdot D_{2,e} \cdot \dots \cdot D_{n,e}}{-K_{X^{(e)}} \cdot D_{2,e} \cdot \dots \cdot D_{n,e}}$$

$$= 2n \frac{p^e G \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n}{-(p^e - 1)(M_X - B^h) \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n - K_X \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n + W_e \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n}$$

$$\leq 2n \frac{p^e G \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n}{-(p^e - 1)(M_X - B^h) \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n - K_X \cdot D_2 \cdot \dots \cdot D_n},$$

where the equality on the second line is given by Corollary 4.2.2. The last line is bounded as e grows, whence the claim.

From the above chain of inequalities, we also infer that $G \cdot \zeta_e^X \leq p^{e-\varphi(e)}G \cdot \zeta_e^X$ is bounded. Therefore, $\{\zeta_e^X\}_e$ is a bounded family of curves. Since the integral points in the cone of curves that are bounded are finitely many, up to considering a sub-sequence of indices, ζ_e^X is eventually constant. However, this contradicts the fact that $\varphi(e) = e - O(1)$. qed

Remark 4.3.4. The Bend and Break theorem needs the base field to be algebraically closed. If the base field k is only perfect, the rational curves we find may be defined over an extension of k. However, if $f: X \to Z$ is defined only over a perfect field k and we find a rational curve over an extension of k, then its Galois orbit descends to a curve over k which satisfies similar inequalities.

Remark 4.3.5. If $f: X \to Z$ is a separable equidimensional tame fibration between normal projective varieties, a similar proof shows a "generic" Bend and Break theorem for $K_{\mathcal{F}}$, the canonical divisor of the foliation induced by f. However, if f is not tame, the proof does not go through for $K_{\mathcal{F}}$ due to the correction term given by the wild fibres.

4.4. The canonical bundle formula

In this section, we prove positivity of the moduli part. First, we prove that, for pairs satisfying Property (*), the moduli part is nef. Then, we use (*)-modifications to recover this situation.

4.4.1. Property (*) case

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field k of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated. We use the notation of (\clubsuit) in Section 2.3.2.

Before stating the theorem, we prove that we can assume the field k to be algebraically closed.

Definition 4.4.1. Let X be a variety defined over a perfect field k and \overline{k} the algebraic closure of k. Define $\overline{X} := X \times_k \overline{k}$. If $W \subseteq \overline{X}$ is a subvariety, let $k \subseteq k'$ be a normal finite extension of k over which W is defined. Let $G := \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/k)$ and $G' := \operatorname{Gal}(k'/k)$. Then $\sum_{g \in G'} g(W)$ descends to a cycle \mathcal{C} on X defined over k. Let $\mathcal{C} := \sum a_i C_i$ be the decomposition of \mathcal{C} into irreducible components defined over k, then we define $W^G := \sum C_i$. Note that an integral component of $W^G \times_k \overline{k}$ is exactly W.

Lemma 4.4.2. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over a perfect field k and D a \mathbb{Q} -Cartier \mathbb{Q} -divisor on it. Let \overline{k} be the algebraic closure of k, $\overline{f}: \overline{X} \to \overline{Z}$ the base change of f with \overline{k} , and $\overline{D} := D \times_k \overline{k}$. Then, D is f-nef if and only if \overline{D} is \overline{f} -nef. Proof. Let $G := \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/k)$ and $\xi \subset \overline{X}$ a curve. Note that $\overline{f}(\xi)$ has dimension 0 if and only if $f(\xi^G)$ has dimension 0. Since $D \cdot \xi^G$ is a positive multiple of $\overline{D} \cdot \xi$, if Dis f-nef, then \overline{D} is \overline{f} -nef as well. The converse is trivial. qed

Lemma 4.4.3. Let (X, B) be a pair over a perfect field k and $(\overline{X}, \overline{B})$ its base change to the algebraic closure \overline{k} . Then (X, B) is log canonical if and only if $(\overline{X}, \overline{B})$ is.

Proof. Note that, since k is perfect, \overline{X} is normal by [Sta22, Tag 0C3M]. Moreover, by [Sta22, Tag 01V0], $K_{\overline{X}} = K_X \times_k \overline{k}$.

If $(\overline{X}, \overline{B})$ is log canonical, then (X, B) is log canonical. Indeed, let $Y \to X$ be a birational map over X and E an exceptional divisor. Consider the base change with $\overline{k}, \overline{Y} \to \overline{X}, \overline{E} \subseteq \overline{Y}$. Since k is perfect, \overline{E} is reduced, thus the discrepancy of E over X coincides with the discrepancy of \overline{E} over \overline{X} .

Conversely, assume for the sake of a contradiction that there exists a non-log canonical place $E' \subseteq Y' \xrightarrow{\sigma} \overline{X}$ over \overline{X} with discrepancy a' < -1. Without loss of generality, we can assume E', Y' and σ are defined over k', a finite Galois extension of k. Let $R := \mathcal{O}_{Y',\eta_{E'}}$, where $\eta_{E'}$ is the generic point of E', let $\mathfrak{m}_R := (t)$, where $t \in k'(Y')$ is a local equation for E', and let v' be the valuation induced by E' on k'(Y'). Let $t_0 = t, t_1, ..., t_d$ be the Galois conjugates of t. Note that, since k'(Y')is a separable extension of k(X), $t_i \neq t_j$ for every $i \neq j$. Then $v := v'|_{k(X)}$ is a valuation on k(X) whose associated DVR is $(S := R \cap k(X), \mathfrak{m}_S := (\prod_{i=1,...,d} t_i))$. By [KM98, Lemma 2.45], there exists a proper birational map $\widetilde{X} \to X$ extracting a divisor \widetilde{E} with induced valuation v. Let a be its discrepancy and $\widetilde{X'} \to X', \widetilde{E'} \subseteq \widetilde{X'}$ be the base change to k'. Then, $\widetilde{E'}$ is locally the zero locus of $\prod_{i=1,...,d} t_i$ and it is reduced. Moreover, its discrepancy \widetilde{a} coincides with a. Let E_0 be the zero locus of t_0 . Since the local ring around E_0 is exactly (R,\mathfrak{m}_R) , by [KM98, Remark 2.23], its discrepancy coincides with a'. Therefore, $a = \widetilde{a} = a' < -1$, contradiction.

Corollary 4.4.4. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal varieties, where dim(X) = n, and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it. Suppose that (X/Z, B) satisfies Property (*). Let \bar{k} be the algebraic closure of k, $\bar{f}: \bar{X} \to \bar{Z}$ the base change of f with $\bar{k}, \bar{B} := B \times_k \bar{k}$. Then $(\bar{X}/\bar{Z}, \bar{B})$ is GGLC, it satisfies Property (*), $B_{\bar{Z}} = B_Z \times_k \bar{k}$ and $M_{\bar{X}} = M_X \times_k \bar{k}$.

Proof. If Y is a variety over k, we denote by $\overline{Y} := Y \times_k \overline{k}$. Similarly, if D is a divisor on Y, we denote by $\overline{D} := D \times_k \overline{k}$. Let $G := \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/k)$.

By Lemma 4.4.3, given $t \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ and $\delta \subseteq Z$ prime divisor, if $(X, B + tf^*\delta)$ is log canonical around δ , then $(\overline{X}, \overline{B} + t\overline{f}^*\overline{\delta})$ is log canonical around $\overline{\delta}$.

Conversely, given $t \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, $\delta \subseteq \overline{Z}$ prime divisor, if $(\overline{X}, \overline{B} + t\overline{f}^*\delta)$ is log canonical around δ , then $(X, B + tf^*\delta^G)$ is log canonical around δ^G . Indeed, let $Y \to X$ be a birational map over X and E a place over $f^*\delta^G$. Consider the base change with \overline{k} , $\overline{Y} \to \overline{X}, \overline{E} \subseteq \overline{Y}$. Since k is perfect, \overline{E} is reduced, thus the discrepancy of E over X coincides with the discrepancy of \overline{E} over \overline{X} .

To conclude the proof, note that it is enough to show that $B_{\overline{Z}} = B_Z \times_k \overline{k}$, which follows from the above discussion. qed

We are now ready to prove that the moduli part is nef for fibrations satisfying Property (*).

Theorem 4.4.5. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension up to n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective variety X of dimension n onto a normal projective curve Z and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it. Suppose that (X/Z, B) satisfies Property (*) and X is Q-factorial. Assume that $K_X + B$ is f-nef, then the moduli part M_X is nef.

Proof. The strategy to prove Theorem 4.4.5 is inspired by the proof of [ACSS21, Lemma 3.12]. First of all, if k is not algebraically closed, let \overline{k} be its algebraic closure, $\overline{f}: \overline{X} \to \overline{Z}$ the base change of f with \overline{k} and $\overline{B} := B \times_k \overline{k}$. By Corollary 4.4.4 and Lemma 4.4.2, $(\overline{X}/\overline{Z}, \overline{B})$ is GGLC, it satisfies Property (*) and $M_{\overline{X}} = M_X \times_k \overline{k}$ is \overline{f} -nef. If we prove nefness of $M_{\overline{X}}$, by Lemma 4.4.2, this implies that M_X is nef as well. Therefore, we can assume k is algebraically closed.

If M_X was not nef, there would exist ρ , extremal ray whose support dominates Z, such that $M_X \cdot \rho < 0$. Let A be an ample divisor on X such that $H_{\rho} := M_X + A$ is a supporting hyperplane for ρ . In particular, H_{ρ} is nef.

Outline of the proof

<u>Non big case</u>. The idea when H_{ρ} is not big is that we can find a negative curve that is general enough on which M_X is negative. Then we apply Proposition 4.3.3.

<u>Big case.</u> If H_{ρ} is big, we produce a geometric log canonical centre containing ρ . Thanks to Theorem 4.2.11, we extract this centre over $X^{(e)}$, i.e. after a base change of f with a high enough power of the Frobenius morphism. The aim is to prove nefness of the moduli part by induction on the dimension, thus we perform adjunction using Proposition 4.2.17. Note that the case dim(X) = 1 is trivial.

Non big case.

Let d be the numerical dimension of H_{ρ} . Since H_{ρ} is not big, d < n. Define $D_i := H_{\rho}$ for $2 \le i \le d+1$ and $D_i := A$ for $d+1 < i \le n$. Since $H_{\rho}^{d+1} \cdot A^{n-d-1} = 0$, $M_X \cdot H_{\rho}^d \cdot A^{n-d-1} = (H_{\rho} - A) \cdot H_{\rho}^d \cdot A^{n-d-1} < 0$. Then,

- (a) $(M_X + A) \cdot D_2 \cdot ... \cdot D_n = 0;$
- (b) $M_X \cdot D_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot D_n < 0;$
- (c) $M_X + A$ is nef.

Therefore, by Proposition 4.3.3, there exists a vertical curve ζ such that $M_X \cdot \zeta < 0$, contradiction.

Big case.

Step 1. In this step, we produce a log canonical centre on the geometric generic fibre of f, containing a curve that is negative on the moduli part. More precisely, we find a horizontal curve $\xi \subseteq X$ and an effective Q-divisor Γ on X such that:

- (a) $M_X \cdot \xi < 0;$
- (b) $\Gamma \cdot \xi \leq 0;$
- (c) $\xi|_{X_{\overline{\eta}}}$ is a log canonical centre of $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}} + \Gamma_{\overline{\eta}})$;
- (d) all non-log canonical centres of $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}} + \Gamma_{\bar{\eta}})$ are disjoint from $\xi|_{X_{\bar{\eta}}}$.

By [CMM14, Theorem 1.1], if $\varepsilon > 0$ is small enough and $m \gg 0$ is divisible enough, then Bs $(m(H_{\rho} - \varepsilon A))$ is supported on those subvarieties $W \subseteq X$ such that $H_{\rho}|_{W}$ is not big. Let $\sum_{i=1}^{r} a_i \zeta_i$ be a representative of the ray ρ , where $a_i > 0$ and ζ_i are irreducible curves on X. Since H_{ρ} is nef, $H_{\rho} \cdot \zeta_i = 0$, therefore Bs $(m(H_{\rho} - \varepsilon A)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{r} \zeta_i$. Consider the restriction maps

$$r_m \colon H^0(X, m(H_\rho - \varepsilon A)) \to H^0(X_{\overline{\eta}}, m(H_\rho - \varepsilon A)|_{X_{\overline{\eta}}}).$$

Define the sub-linear system $|V_{\bullet}| := (|m(H_{\rho} - \varepsilon A)|_{\bar{\eta}})_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ on $X_{\bar{\eta}}$, then, for some $\overline{m} > 0$ sufficiently divisible, $\operatorname{Bs}(V_{\overline{m}}) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{r} \zeta_{i}|_{X_{\overline{\eta}}}$. Let $V_{\overline{m}}(k)$ be the image of $r_{\overline{m}}$ and let $\{s_{1}, ..., s_{\ell}\}$ be a choice of basis of $V_{\overline{m}}(k)$, considered as a k-vector space. Since M_{X} is f-nef and $H_{\rho} - \varepsilon A \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} M_{X} + (1 - \varepsilon)A$, there exists a horizontal curve $\xi \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^{r} \zeta_{i}$ such that $(H_{\rho} - \varepsilon A) \cdot \xi < 0$ and $M_{X} \cdot \xi < 0$. Let $\rho_{\overline{\eta}}$ be the ray corresponding to ρ in $X_{\overline{\eta}}$ and $\xi_{\overline{\eta}} := \xi|_{X_{\overline{\eta}}}$. By Corollary 1.2.10, there exists an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $\overline{\Gamma} \in |V_{\overline{m}m}|$ such that $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}} + \frac{1}{m}\overline{\Gamma})$ is log canonical outside $\bigcup_{i=1}^{r} \zeta_{i}|_{X_{\overline{\eta}}}$ and has a non-klt centre at $\xi_{\overline{\eta}}$. Moreover, $\overline{\Gamma}$ has a decomposition as $\sum_{i=1}^{m} D_{i}$ with $D_{i} \in |V_{\overline{m}}(k)|$; in particular, $\overline{\Gamma}$ belongs to the image of $r_{\overline{m}m}$. Assume there is $0 < \lambda \leq \frac{1}{m}$ such that $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}} + \lambda\overline{\Gamma})$ has a log canonical centre at $\xi_{\overline{\eta}}$ and is log canonical outside $\bigcup_{i=1}^{r} \zeta_{i}|_{X_{\overline{\eta}}}$. Let $\Gamma' \in |\overline{m}m(H_{\rho} - \varepsilon A)|$ be a lift of $\overline{\Gamma}$ to X and let $\Gamma := \lambda \Gamma'^{h}$, we claim that it satisfies the required properties. Indeed, points (a), (c) and (d) follow by construction and point (b) because $\Gamma \cdot \xi = \lambda \overline{m}m(H_{\rho} - \varepsilon A) \cdot \xi - \lambda \Gamma'^{v} \cdot \xi < 0$.

If such λ does not exist, it means that $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ has already a log canonical centre at $\xi_{\bar{\eta}}$ and we define $\Gamma := 0$.

Step 2. In this step, we perform a Frobenius base change on the base of the fibration in order to find a curve $\xi_e \subseteq X^{(e)}$, that is a log canonical centre of $(X^{(e)}, B_e + \Gamma_e)$, where $B_e := \beta_e^* B^h + \beta_e^{-1} B^v$ and $\Gamma_e := \beta_e^* \Gamma$.

Let $\Delta := B^h + \Gamma$ and $\Delta_e := \beta_e^* \Delta$. By choosing $e \gg 0$, by Corollary 2.3.23, we can suppose f_e is tame. Now, we want to compare the moduli part M_X of (X/Z, B)

to $K_{X^{(e)}}$. By Theorem 2.3.27, we have:

$$\alpha_e^* K_{X^{(e)}} = (p^e - 1)(K_X - f^* K_Z - R(f)) + K_X - \sum_{D \text{ wild}} w_{D,e} D,$$

where $w_{D,e} \ge 0$ for every D wild fibre. Since f_e is tame, by Theorem 2.3.6:

$$\alpha_e^*(K_{\mathcal{F}_e} + \Delta_e) = \alpha_e^*(K_{X^{(e)}} - f_e^*K_Z - R(f_e) + \Delta_e)$$

= $(p^e - 1)(K_X - f^*K_Z - R(f)) + K_X - \sum_{D \text{ wild}} w_{D,e}D - f^*K_Z - \alpha_e^*R(f_e) + p^e\Delta.$

Now, if D is a vertical prime divisor in X, let $\ell_D = n_D p^{e_D}$ be its multiplicity with respect to f, where $e_D \ge 0$ and n_D is coprime with p. By Lemma 2.3.25:

$$\alpha_e^* R(f_e) = R(f) - \sum_{D \text{ wild}} (p^{e_D} - 1)D.$$

Bringing everything together:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{e}^{*}(K_{\mathcal{F}_{e}} + \Delta_{e}) &= \\ (p^{e} - 1)(K_{X} - f^{*}K_{Z} - R(f)) + K_{X} - f^{*}K_{Z} - R(f) + p^{e}\Delta \\ &- \sum_{D \text{ wild}} w_{D,e}D + \sum_{D \text{ wild}} (p^{e_{D}} - 1)D = \\ p^{e}(M_{X} + \Gamma) - \sum_{D \text{ wild}} w_{D,e}D + \sum_{D \text{ wild}} (p^{e_{D}} - 1)D. \end{aligned}$$

Let ξ_e be a curve corresponding to ξ in $X^{(e)}$. Note that $\sum_{D \text{ wild}} (p^{e_D} - 1)D \cdot \xi$ is independent of e for $e \gg 0$. Therefore, up to choosing a bigger $e \ge 0$:

$$(K_{\mathcal{F}_e} + \Delta_e) \cdot \xi_e < 0.$$

Step 3. In this step, we construct a geometric (*)-modification that extracts a log canonical place over ξ and we compute its moduli part.

Up to possibly choosing an even bigger $e \ge 0$, by Theorem 4.2.11, there exists a dlt GGLC pair (Y/Z, C + E) with Y Q-factorial, and a diagram:



where μ is a birational map and the centre of E is ξ_e . The induced fibration $E \to Z$ is separable. Moreover, there exist an effective exceptional \mathbb{Q} -divisor R, whose image in $X^{(e)}$ is supported on the non-log canonical locus of $(X^{(e)}, \Delta_e + B_e^v)$, and a vertical effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor G, such that

$$K_Y + C + E + R = \mu^* (K_{X^{(e)}} + \Delta_e + B_e^v) + G,$$

where $K_Y + C + E$ is μ -nef.

Now, we want to compare the moduli part M_X of (X/Z, B) to the moduli part M_Y of (Y/Z, C + E). Recall that f_e is tame and all the vertical divisors with multiplicity > 1 lie over the discriminant part B_Z of (X/Z, B), which is reduced by Property (*). Thus, by Theorem 2.3.6:

$$K_{\mathcal{F}_e} + \Delta_e = K_{X^{(e)}} + \Delta_e + B_e^v - f_e^* (K_Z + B_Z).$$

Therefore:

$$\mu^*(K_{\mathcal{F}_e} + \Delta_e) = K_Y + C + E - g^*(K_Z + C_Z) + R + g^*(C_Z - B_Z) - G = M_Y + R + g^*(C_Z - B_Z) - G,$$

where C_Z is the discriminant part of (Y/Z, C + E).

Now, we study more closely the Q-divisor $g^*(C_Z - B_Z) - G$. Let $z \in Z$ and b_z and c_z be its coefficients in B_Z and C_Z , respectively. If $b_z = 1$, then the fibre over zis contained in B^v , so $c_z = 1$ as well by construction. If $b_z = 0$, it may happen that $c_z = 1$. Let D be a non μ -exceptional vertical prime divisor contained in $g^{-1}(z)$. By abuse of notation, call D also $\beta_e(\mu(D))$. Then, by construction, the coefficient of Din G is 1 and, since (X/Z, B) has Property (*) and $b_z = 0$, the coefficient of D in $f^*(z)$ must be 1, hence its coefficient in $g^*(z)$ is 1 as well (μ is an isomorphism at the generic point of D). All in all, we get that $g^*(C_Z - B_Z) - G$ is μ -exceptional. Then, applying the Negativity lemma ([KM98, Lemma 3.39]), we conclude that $R + g^*(C_Z - B_Z) - G$ is effective. By abuse of notation, let $\xi \subseteq \text{Supp}(E)$ be a curve mapping to ξ_e . Then, since ξ is horizontal, $(R^v + g^*(C_Z - B_Z) - G) \cdot \xi \ge 0$. Moreover, $R^h \cdot \xi \ge 0$ by point (d) in Step 1. Thus,

$$M_Y \cdot \xi < 0.$$

Step 4. In this step we do adjunction on E and we conclude by induction on the dimension.

Since (Y, C+E) is Q-factorial and dlt, the normalisation morphism $\nu: E^{\nu} \to E$ is an isomorphism in codimension 1 by Lemma 4.2.12. Define $C_{E^{\nu}}$ on E^{ν} by adjunction, so that we have $(K_Y + C + E)|_{E^{\nu}} = K_{E^{\nu}} + C_{E^{\nu}}$, and let $E^{\nu} \xrightarrow{g_E} Z' \xrightarrow{\varphi} Z$ be the Stein factorisation of $g|_{E^{\nu}}$. By Proposition 4.2.16, $(E^{\nu}/Z', C_{E^{\nu}})$ is GGLC and satisfies Property (*). Moreover, by Proposition 4.2.17, there exists a vertical effective divisor V on E^{ν} such that $M_Y|_{E^{\nu}} - V = M_{E^{\nu}}$, the moduli part of $(E^{\nu}/Z', C_{E^{\nu}})$. By abuse of notation, let ξ be a curve in E^{ν} mapping onto ξ . Then, $M_{E^{\nu}} \cdot \xi < 0$.

If dim(X) = 2, $E^{\nu} \to Z'$ is the identity, whence $M_{E^{\nu}} = 0$, giving a contradiction. Assume then that dim $(X) \geq 3$. Note that, if $\zeta \subseteq \text{Supp}(E^{\nu})$ is vertical over Z', $\nu(\mu(\zeta))$ is a point because $\mu(E)$ is supported on a horizontal curve. Therefore, $(K_Y + C + E)|_{E^{\nu}} \cdot \zeta \geq 0$. If E^{ν} is not Q-factorial, substitute it with a (*)-modification (E'/Z', C') constructed with Theorem 4.2.3. Let $\mu' \colon E' \to E^{\nu}$ be the resulting map, $g' \colon E' \to Z'$ the induced fibration, and let $C_{E^{\nu},Z'}, C'_{Z'}$ be the discriminant parts of $(E^{\nu}/Z', C_{E^{\nu}})$ and (E'/Z', C'), respectively. By construction, there is a vertical effective Q-divisor D' such that $K_{E'} + C' = \mu'^*(K_{E^{\nu}} + C_{E^{\nu}}) + D'$ and $K_{E'} + C'$ is μ' -nef. Note also that $K_{E'} + C'$ is g'-nef over $U := Z' \setminus g'(\text{Supp}(D'))$. With computations similar to the ones in Step 3, we find that

$$\mu'^* M_{E^{\nu}} = M_{E'} + g'^* (C'_{Z'} - C_{E^{\nu}, Z'}) - D',$$

where $g'^*(C'_{Z'} - C_{E^{\nu},Z'}) - D'$ is effective and $M_{E'}$ is the moduli part of (E'/Z', C'). Let ξ' be a curve mapping to ξ , then $M_{E'} \cdot \xi' < 0$.

If $M_{E'}$ is not g'-nef, run a $(K_{E'} + C_{E'})$ -MMP over Z' and let (E''/Z', C'') be the resulting pair with associated fibration $g'': E'' \to Z'$. Since $K_{E'} + C'$ is g'-nef over U, E' and E'' are isomorphic on $g'^{-1}(U)$. In particular, ξ' is not contracted and the MMP does not terminate with a Mori fibre space. Let ξ'' be the image of ξ' in E''. Let $p_1: \tilde{E} \to E'$ and $p_2: \tilde{E} \to E''$ be the projections from a resolution of $E' \dashrightarrow E''$. Then, $p_2^*(K_{E''} + C'') = p_1^*(K_{E'} + C') - D''$, where D'' is an effective p_2 exceptional Q-divisor. We can choose p_2 to be an isomorphism on $g'^{-1}(U)$, therefore D'' is vertical over Z'. By Proposition 3.3.3, (E''/Z', C'') satisfies Property (*) and its discriminant part coincides with the discriminant part of (E'/Z', C'), whence:

$$M_{E''} \cdot \xi'' = M_{E'} \cdot \xi' - D'' \cdot \widetilde{\xi} < 0,$$

where $M_{E''}$ is the moduli part of (E''/Z', C'') and $\tilde{\xi}$ is a lift of ξ' to \tilde{E} .

To sum up, (E''/Z', C'') satisfies Property (*), E'' is Q-factorial, $M_{E''}$ is g''-nef and there is a horizontal curve $\xi'' \subseteq E''$ such that $M_{E''} \cdot \xi'' < 0$. By the inductive assumption $M_{E''}$ is nef, contradiction. qed

4.4.2. General case

In the general case, we may need to go to a higher model of X to achieve positivity of the moduli part.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Theorem 4.4.6. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension up to n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective variety X of dimension n onto a normal projective curve Z and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it such that $B \ge 0$ and (X, B) is log canonical. Suppose that $K_X + B$ is f-nef. Then, there exist a projective pair (Y, C) satisfying Property (*), with $C \ge 0$, and a commutative diagram



with b birational and such that:

- (i) the pairs (X/Z, B) and (Y/Z, C) are crepant over the generic point of Z (as in Definition 3.3.9);
- (ii) the moduli part M_Y of (Y/Z, C) is nef.

Proof. By Theorem 4.2.3, there exists (X', B') a Q-factorial dlt pair satisfying Property (*) with $B' \ge 0$ and a commutative diagram



where μ is projective birational and $K_{X'} + B' = \mu^*(K_X + B) + G$ with G a vertical effective Q-divisor. The two pairs are crepant over η , the generic point of Z, thus $(X'_{\bar{\eta}}, B'_{\bar{\eta}})$ is log canonical. The divisor $K_{X'} + B'$ may be not f'-nef anymore. In this case, we run a $(K_{X'} + B')$ -MMP over Z. Let (Y, C) be the resulting pair, $b: Y \dashrightarrow X$ the induced birational map and $g: Y \to Z$ the induced fibration. Note that the MMP only contracts (or flips) curves inside the support of G and it is an isomorphism elsewhere, so the MMP cannot end with a Mori fibre space and $(K_{X'} + B')|_{X'_{\eta}} = (K_Y + C)|_{X'_{\eta}}$, whence (Y/Z, C) and (X/Z, B) are crepant over the generic point of Z. Moreover, (Y/Z, C) satisfies Property (*) by Proposition 3.3.3 and $K_Y + C$ is g-nef. Thus, we conclude by applying Theorem 4.4.5.

4.4.3. The *K*-trivial case

As a corollary of the previous results we get the canonical bundle formula in the classical setting, i.e. when the fibration is K-trivial. The proof is very similar to the one in the characteristic 0 case ([ACSS21, Theorem 1.3]).

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Theorem 4.4.7. Assume the LMMP and the existence of log resolutions in dimension up to n. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective variety X of dimension n onto a normal projective curve Z and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it such that $B \ge 0$ and (X, B) is log canonical. Assume that $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*L_Z$ for some \mathbb{Q} -Cartier \mathbb{Q} -divisor L_Z on Z. Then, $M_X = f^*M_Z$ is nef.

Proof. First, let $\mu: X' \to X$ be a (*)-modification as in Theorem 4.2.3. Let $f': X' \to Z$ be the induced morphism and $B' \geq 0$ defined so that $K_{X'} + B' = \mu^*(K_X + B)$. Let B'_Z and M' be respectively the discriminant and the moduli parts of (X'/Z, B'). Then $M' = \mu^*M_X \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f'^*L'_Z$, for some Q-Cartier Q-divisor L'_Z on Z, so it is enough to show that M' is nef. There exists an effective vertical Q-divisor G such that, if $B^* := B' + G$, $(X'/Z, B^*)$ satisfies Property (*) and $B^* \geq 0$. Let Σ_Z be the discriminant part of $(X'/Z, B^*)$ and M^* its moduli part. Let γ_z^* be the log canonical threshold of $f'^*(z)$ with respect to $(X'/Z, B^*)$ and γ_z' the one with respect to (X'/Z, B'), for $z \in Z$. Note that $\gamma_z^* \leq \gamma_z'$. In particular, $\Sigma_Z \geq B_Z'$.

Now, define $B'' := B' + f'^*(\Sigma_Z - B'_Z)$, so that $K_{X'} + B'' \sim_{\mathbb{Q},Z} 0$, the discriminant part of (X'/Z, B'') is Σ_Z and its moduli part is M'. Note that $B'' \leq B^*$ and the difference is vertical.

It is possible that $K_{X'} + B^*$ is not f'-nef, in which case we perform a $(K_{X'} + B^*)$ -MMP over Z. Let $\varphi \colon X' \dashrightarrow Y$ be the result of this MMP and (Y, C) the resulting pair, where $C := \varphi_* B^*$. Note that this MMP cannot end with a Mori fibre space since $K_{X'} + B'$ is f'-nef. Call $g \colon Y \to Z$ the induced fibration and M_Y the moduli part of (Y/Z, C). Since (X, B^*) is log canonical, so is (Y, C) and, by Proposition 3.3.3, (Y/Z, C) satisfies Property (*) and its discriminant part is Σ_Z . Let $C'' := \varphi_* B''$. Since $K_{X'} + B'' \sim_{\mathbb{Q},Z} 0$, the divisor $(K_Y + C) - (K_Y + C'')$ is g-nef. Moreover, by construction, it is effective and supported on a vertical \mathbb{Q} -divisor Φ which does not contain any fibre. Let Ψ be an effective vertical \mathbb{Q} -divisor such that $\Phi + \Psi \sim_{\mathbb{Q},Z} 0$. Then, $(K_Y + C) - (K_Y + C'') \sim_{\mathbb{Q},Z} -\Psi$ is g-nef, whence $\Psi = 0 = \Phi$ and C = C''. The pair (Y/Z, C) satisfies Property (*) and M_Y is g-nef by construction. Therefore, M_Y is nef by Theorem 4.4.5.

Now, we want to compare M_Y and M'. Let \widetilde{X} be a common resolution of $X' \dashrightarrow Y$ with $p: \widetilde{X} \to X', q: \widetilde{X} \to Y$ the induced projections. We have that both $p^*M' - q^*M_Y$ and $q^*M_Y - p^*M'$ are q-nef since M' is f'-trivial. Moreover, $q_*(p^*M' - q^*M_Y) = \varphi_*B'' - C = 0 = q_*(q^*M_Y - p^*M')$. Therefore, by the Negativity lemma ([KM98, Lemma 3.39]), $p^*M' = q^*M_Y$, and it is nef, whence the conclusion. qed

4.4.4. The canonical bundle formula in dimension 3

For threefolds over perfect fields of characteristic p > 5, the LMMP and existence of log resolutions are known to hold, so our results hold unconditionally.

Corollary 4.4.8. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective variety X of dimension 3 onto a normal projective curve Z over a perfect field of characteristic p > 5, and (X/Z, B) a GGLC pair associated with it such that $B \ge 0$ and (X, B)is log canonical. Let B be an effective Q-divisor on X such that (X, B) is a log canonical pair. Suppose that $K_X + B$ is f-nef. Then, there exist a pair (Y, C) satisfying Property (*), with $C \ge 0$, and a commutative diagram



with b birational and

- (i) (X/Z, B) and (Y/Z, C) are crepant over the generic point of Z;
- (ii) the moduli part M_Y of (Y/Z, C) is nef.

Moreover, if $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*L_Z$ for some \mathbb{Q} -Cartier \mathbb{Q} -divisor L_Z on Z, $M_X = f^*M_Z$ is nef.

Proof. By Remark 4.0.1, we can conclude that Theorem 4.4.5, Theorem 4.4.6 and Theorem 4.4.7 hold unconditionally for threefolds over a perfect field of characteristic p > 5. qed
Chapter 5

Iitaka conjectures

One of the most important invariants in the birational classification of varieties is the Kodaira dimension $\kappa(X, K_X)$; it measures the growth of pluricanonical sections. A fundamental problem is to relate Kodaira dimensions in fibrations: the Iitaka conjecture. In this chapter, we recall the definition of Iitaka dimension, alongside with some of its properties. Then, we present a variant of the Iitaka conjecture for the anticanonical Iitaka dimension.

5.1. Iitaka dimension

In this section we consider varieties defined over any field.

Definition 5.1.1 ([Laz04a, 2.1.A]). Let X be a normal projective variety and L a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on it. For every m > 0 such that mL is integral and the linear system |mL| is not empty, |mL| defines a rational map $\phi_{|mL|} \colon X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{N_m} \simeq \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, mL)^*)$. For $m \gg 0$ and sufficiently divisible, $\dim(\phi_{|mL|}(X))$ stabilises. The **Iitaka dimension** of L is defined as:

$$\kappa(X,L) := \begin{cases} -\infty & \text{if } |mL| = \emptyset \text{ for all } m \ge 0; \\ \max_{m \ge 1} \dim(\phi_{|mL|}(X)) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Remark 5.1.2. Sometimes it is useful to work with different characterisations of the Iitaka dimension. We recall a couple of them here. Fix X a normal projective variety over a field k and L a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on it.

Define the section ring of L as $R(X, L) := \bigoplus_{m=0}^{\infty} H^0(X, mL)$, if $R(X, L) \neq 0$, it is an integral domain. If $|L|_{\mathbb{Q}} \neq 0$, then

$$\kappa(X, L) = \operatorname{tr.deg}_k R(X, L) - 1,$$

the transcendence degree of R(X, L) over k. For more details, we refer to [Mor87, 1.3].

When $|L|_{\mathbb{Q}} \neq \emptyset$ the Iitaka dimension can be characterised also as

$$\kappa(X,L) = \sup\left\{ d \ge 0 \text{ s.t. } \limsup_{m \to \infty} \frac{\dim(H^0(X,mL))}{m^d} \neq 0 \right\}.$$

For more details, we refer to [Laz04a, Chapter 2].

Remark 5.1.3. Let X be a normal projective variety over a field k, L a Q-divisor, and $k' \supseteq k$ a field extension. Denote by X' and L' the base change of X and L, and suppose that X' is normal. Then $\kappa(X, L) = \kappa(X', L')$ by flat base change. Note that, if k is perfect, X is geometrically normal by [Sta22, Tag 038N], therefore X' is always normal.

Theorem 5.1.4 ([Laz04a, Theorem 2.1.3.3]). Let X be a normal projective variety and let L be a Cartier Q-divisor such that $|L|_{\mathbb{Q}} \neq \emptyset$. Then there exists a fibration of normal projective varieties $\phi_{\infty} \colon X_{\infty} \to Z_{\infty}$ fitting in the following commutative diagram for all sufficiently divisible m:



where the maps u, v are birational, Z_m is the closure of the image of $\phi_{|mL|}$, and, for $z \in Z_{\infty}$ very general, $\kappa(X_{\infty,z}, (u^*L)|_{X_{\infty,z}}) = 0$. In particular, $\dim(Z_{\infty}) = \kappa(X, L)$.

Remark 5.1.5. Let X be a normal projective variety over a field k, and let L be a semiample Cartier divisor; i.e. $\phi_{|mL|}$ is a morphism for some $m \ge 1$.

Moreover, suppose that $|V| \subseteq |mL|$ is a base point free linear subsystem so that, in particular, L is semiample. Consider the Stein factorisation

$$\phi_{|V|} \colon X \xrightarrow{g} Y \xrightarrow{h} Z.$$

Then $g = \phi_{|mL|}$ for all $m \ge 1$ sufficiently divisible. In other words, the Stein factorization of $\phi_{|V|}$ recovers the Iitaka fibration of L. Indeed, if this was not the case, let $h_1 \circ h_2$ be the Stein factorisation of h. Since V is base point free, there are ample divisors H and H' such that $H^0(X, mL) = H^0(X, g^*H)$ and $V \supseteq H^0(X, (h_2 \circ g)^*H')$. In particular, the inclusion map $V \subseteq H^0(X, mL)$ is given by multiplication by an element in $H^0(X, (h_2 \circ g)^*H' - g^*H)$. Since V is base point free, this element is a constant and h_2 is an isomorphism. We will make use of this fact repeatedly. Such $\phi_{|mL|}$ will also be called the **semiample contraction of** L.

Lemma 5.1.6. Let $\varphi \colon X' \to X$ be a surjective morphism between normal projective varieties and let L be a Cartier divisor on X. Then $\kappa(X', \varphi^*L) = \kappa(X, L)$. Moreover, if φ is equidimensional and L is Weil, then the equality still holds. *Proof.* Since φ is surjective we have $\kappa(X, L) \leq \kappa(X', \varphi^*L)$. If φ is a fibration then the result follows by the projection formula. By considering the Stein factorisation of φ we can thus reduce to the case where φ is finite.

If φ is purely inseparable, there exists $\psi \colon X \to X'$ such that $\varphi \circ \psi = F^e$, for some $e \ge 0$. Then:

$$\kappa(X,L) \le \kappa(X',\varphi^*L) \le \kappa(X,\psi^*\phi^*L) = \kappa(X,L).$$

If φ is a Galois cover, the result is proven in [Mor87, Proposition 1.5]¹. If φ is separable, there exists $\psi: X'' \to X'$ such that $\varphi \circ \psi$ is Galois. Thus:

$$\kappa(X,L) \le \kappa(X',\varphi^*L) \le \kappa(X'',\psi^*\phi^*L) = \kappa(X,L).$$

As for the general case, we can decompose $\phi = \psi_1 \circ \psi_2$, where $\psi_1 \colon X'' \to X$ is separable and $\psi_2 \colon X' \to X''$ is purely inseparable. Then, by the discussion above applied to ψ_1 and ψ_2 , we have:

$$\kappa(X, L) = \kappa(X'', \psi_1^*L) = \kappa(X', \psi_2^*\psi_1^*L).$$

The "moreover" part follows from the same argument, after observing that f^*L is well-defined by Remark 2.0.3, and replacing the projection formula by Lemma 2.0.6. qed

5.2. Easy Additivity theorems

Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties. Some inequalities between the Kodaira dimensions of X, Z and the general fibre X_z have been known for a long time in any characteristic. They are the so-called "Easy Additivity" theorems.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of any characteristic. However, by Remark 5.1.3, for the proofs we can assume the field of definition is algebraically closed.

Theorem 5.2.1 (Easy Additivity, [Uen75, Theorem 6.12], [Fuj20, Lemma 2.3.31]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a separable fibration between normal projective varieties. Let L be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X, then:

$$\kappa(X,L) \le \kappa(X_z^{\nu},L|_{X_z^{\nu}}) + \dim(Z),$$

where X_z is a general fibre of f and X_z^{ν} is its normalisation.

¹In *loc.cit.* this is proven over fields of characteristic 0, but the same proof works in positive characteristic.

Proof. We follow the proof in [Fuj20, Lemma 2.3.31]. By possibly substituting L with mL for $m \gg 0$, we may suppose that L is integral. The inequality is obvious if $\kappa(X, L) = -\infty$. If $\kappa(X, L) = 0$, then $\kappa(X_z^{\nu}, L|_{X_z^{\nu}}) \ge 0$, proving the inequality.

If $\kappa(X,L) > 0$, consider the rational map $\phi_{|mL|} \colon X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^N = \mathbb{P}(H^0(X,mL)^*)$ induced by the linear system |mL|, for some $m \gg 0$ computing $\kappa(X,L)$. Define a morphism $\varphi := \phi_{|mL|} \times f$, so that we have the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X & \xrightarrow{\varphi} & \mathbb{P}^N \times Z \xrightarrow{p_1} & \mathbb{P}^N \\ f & & & \\ Z, & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & &$$

where p_1 and p_2 are the projections onto the two factors. Let Y be the image of φ and note that, for a general point z of Z, $Y_z := Y \cap p_2^{-1}(z) = \varphi(f^{-1}(z))$. Hence, we have:

$$\kappa(X, L) = \dim(p_1(Y)) \le \dim(Y) = \dim(Y_z) + \dim(Z) \le \kappa(X_z^{\nu}, L|_{X_z^{\nu}}) + \dim(Z).$$

The last inequality follows from $H^0(X_z^{\nu}, mL|_{X_z^{\nu}}) \supseteq H^0(X, mL)|_{X_z^{\nu}}$. qed

Theorem 5.2.2 (Easy Additivity 2, [Fuj77, Proposition 1]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties. Assume the general fibre X_z is normal. Let L be an effective Q-Cartier Q-divisor on X and H a big Q-Cartier Q-divisor on Z. Then,

$$\kappa(X, L + f^*H) \ge \kappa(X_z, L|_{X_z}) + \dim(Z).$$

Remark 5.2.3. With similar arguments, it is possible to prove the inequalities in Theorem 5.2.1 and Theorem 5.2.2 for X_{η} , the generic fibre of f, instead of the general one. For the proof, see [Fuj20, Remark 2.3.32] and [BCZ18, Lemma 2.20].

Lemma 5.2.4. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties. Assume that a very general fibre X_z is reduced and normal. Let η be the generic point of Z and L be a Q-Cartier Q-divisor on X. Then,

$$\kappa(X_{\bar{\eta}}, L_{\bar{\eta}}) = \kappa(X_{\eta}, L_{\eta}) = \kappa(X_z, L_z).$$

Moreover, if $\kappa(X_{\eta}, L_{\eta}) \geq 0$, the above equalities hold also for a general fibre X_z .

Proof. The first equality is a consequence of the flat base change theorem. As for the second, we can assume that f is flat without loss of generality, hence we conclude by [Har13, Theorem 12.8, Chapter III].

Now, suppose $\kappa(X_{\eta}, L_{\eta}) \geq 0$. Let H be an ample enough Cartier divisor on Z such that $L + f^*H$ is \mathbb{Q} -effective. By the Easy Additivity theorems (Theorem 5.2.1, Theorem 5.2.2 and Remark 5.2.3), for a general fibre X_z we have:

$$\kappa(X, L+f^*H) = \kappa(X_z, L_z) + \dim(Z) \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa(X, L+f^*H) = \kappa(X_\eta, L_\eta) + \dim(Z).$$

Thus, $\kappa(X_z, L_z) = \kappa(X_\eta, L_\eta).$

Remark 5.2.5. With notation as in Lemma 5.2.4, when $\kappa(X_{\eta}, L_{\eta}) = -\infty$ and $z \in Z$ is general, the equality $\kappa(X_z, L_z) = -\infty$ may fail. Let A be an Abelian variety, let Z denote its dual, and consider the second projection $f: X := A \times Z \to Z$. Then the Poincaré line bundle L on X gives a counterexample, as $\kappa(X_z, L_z) = 0$ for all torsion points $z \in Z$.

Proposition 5.2.6. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration of normal projective varieties with general fibre X_z . Let L be a \mathbb{Q} -divisor such that there exists an integer $m \ge 1$ for which Bs(mL) does not dominate Z. Then

$$\kappa(X,L) \ge \kappa(X_z,L_z).$$

Proof. For all $n \ge 1$ let $V_n := H^0(X, nmL)$ and r_n be the dimension of $V_{n,z}$ for a general point $z \in Z$. Define $\mathcal{F}_n := f_*\mathcal{O}_X(nmL)$. A choice of basis for V_n yields a map

$$\mathcal{O}_Z^{\oplus r_n} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{F}_n.$$

By taking global sections we obtain $\dim(H^0(X, nmL)) \ge r_n$. By letting n go to infinity and considering the respective rates of growth, we conclude $\kappa(X, L) \ge \kappa(X_z, L_z)$. qed

5.3. The Iitaka conjecture

The Iitaka conjecture complements the Easy Additivity theorems. It is also called $C_{n,m}$ conjecture, where the C stands for "contractions", another name for fibrations, and n, m are the dimensions of the source and the target of the fibration, respectively.

Although still open in general, over fields of characteristic 0 this conjecture is proven for many important classes of fibrations ([Vie77, Vie82, Vie83, Kaw82, Kaw81, Kaw85, Fuj03, HPS18, Bir09, Cao18, CP17, CH11]). In particular, $C_{n,m}$ holds when dim $(Z) \leq 2$, and when X_z admits a good minimal model.

It is then natural to ask whether the same inequality holds over fields of positive characteristic. Given the substantial difference between the generic fibre and the geometric generic fibre, in positive characteristic, we have two versions of the conjecture.

Questions 5.3.1 ([Zha19, Conjecture 1.2, Conjecture 1.4]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over a perfect field of positive characteristic and let η be the generic point of Z. Assume that $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ admits a smooth birational model \overline{Y} .

(1) (Strong form) Is it true that $\kappa(X, K_X) \ge \kappa(X_\eta, K_{X_\eta}) + \kappa(Z, K_Z)$?

qed

(2) (Weak form) Is it true that $\kappa(X, K_X) \ge \kappa(\overline{Y}, K_{\overline{Y}}) + \kappa(Z, K_Z)$?

In [CZ15, Theorem 1.2] the conjecture is proven when the general fibre of f is a curve and f is separable. The papers [Eji17], [BCZ18], [EZ18] show that the conjecture does hold when dim(X) = 3, the characteristic of the base field is p > 5 and the geometric generic fibre is smooth. In [Zha19], the author proves $C_{3,m}$ when the base of the fibration is of general type and the relative canonical divisor is relatively big, but they relax the assumptions on the smoothness of the generic fibre. However, it is known that over fields of positive characteristic the Iitaka conjecture does not hold in general. The paper [CEKZ21] gives some counterexamples using the construction of Tango–Raynaud surfaces.

5.4. The anticanonical Iitaka conjecture

Recently, an Iitaka-type statement for the anticanonical divisor has been proven in characteristic 0 by Chang in [Cha23]. We call $C_{n,m}^-$ this version of the Iitaka conjecture. In this section, first we recall the theorem and then we explain a heuristic on why we should expect such an inequality to hold. We conclude with some counterexamples to the inequality over fields of positive characteristic, where the geometric generic fibre is not normal. In the next Chapter 6, we discuss some positive results, assuming that the general fibres have "nice" *F*-singularities.

5.4.1. Results in characteristic 0

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field, we specify the characteristic if needed.

Theorem 5.4.1 ([Cha23, Theorem 1.1]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective Q-Gorenstein varieties over a field² of characteristic 0 and let X_z be a general fibre of f. Suppose X has at worst klt singularities, $-K_X$ is effective and there exists an integer $m \ge 1$ such that $Bs(-mK_X)$ does not dominate Z, then:

$$\kappa(X, -K_X) \le \kappa(X_z, -K_{X_z}) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z).$$

The result is generalised also to pairs (X, B) with similar assumptions (see [Cha23, Theorem 4.1]).

Counterexamples for $C_{n,m}^-$, in any characteristic, removing the hypothesis on the anticanonical base locus, are easy to obtain already for ruled surfaces.

 $^{^{2}}$ In the original paper, the result is stated over an algebraically closed field, but, by Remark 5.1.3, the same proof gives the inequality over perfect fields.

Example 5.4.2 ([Cha23, Example 1.7]). Let Z be a smooth projective curve of genus $g \ge 2$ and let D be a divisor of degree d > 2g - 2. Consider the ruled surface

$$f: X := \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_Z \oplus \mathcal{O}_Z(-K_Z - D)) \to Z.$$

Let Z_0 be the fixed section of f. Then, $-K_X = 2Z_0 + f^*D \ge Z_0 + f^*D$. We claim that the divisor $Z_0 + f^*D$ is big. Using the Riemann-Roch Theorem, we get:

$$h^{0}(X, n(Z_{0} + f^{*}D)) \ge \frac{1}{2}n(f^{*}D + Z_{0}) \cdot (n(f^{*}D + Z_{0}) + 2Z_{0} + f^{*}D) + O(n).$$

Given our choice of d, it is immediate to see that the coefficient of n^2 on the RHS is strictly positive, whence the claim.

Note that $-K_X \cdot Z_0 = 2 - 2g < 0$. This tells us that Z_0 is contained in the base locus of $-nK_X$ for every integer $n \ge 1$, which, therefore, surjects onto Z. In conclusion, we have $\kappa(X, -K_X) = 2$, $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = -\infty$, thus $C_{n,m}^-$ does not hold for this example.

We expect a more general version of Theorem 5.4.1 to hold: more precisely we expect one should be able to relax the condition on $Bs(-K_X)$ being *f*-vertical.

Definition 5.4.3. Let (X, B) be a projective sub-pair over a field of characteristic 0 and $V_{\bullet} = \{V_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ a graded linear subsystem. Let $\mathcal{J}(X, B; V_{\bullet})$ be the *asymptotic multiplier ideal* of V_{\bullet} (for the definition see [Laz04b, §11.1]). We define the **non-klt locus of** (X, B, V_{\bullet}) as

$$Nklt(X, B, V_{\bullet}) := \{ x \in X \text{ s.t. } \mathcal{J}(X, B; V_{\bullet})_x \subseteq \mathfrak{m}_x \}.$$

When V_{\bullet} is the full graded linear series associated to some \mathbb{Q} -divisor L, we write $Nklt(X, B, ||L||) := Nklt(X, B, V_{\bullet})$

Remark 5.4.4. If $Z \not\subseteq \text{Nklt}(X, B, V_{\bullet})$, for $m \gg 0$ and $D_1, ..., D_k$ general elements in V_m , then $Z \not\subseteq \text{Nklt}\left(X, B + \frac{1}{mk}(D_1 + ... + D_k)\right)$, by [Laz04b, Proposition 9.2.26, Definition 9.3.9].

Remark 5.4.5. We state a generalisation of [Cha23, Theorem 4.1] (see Theorem 5.4.1).

Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over a field of characteristic 0, where Z is Q-Gorenstein. Let B be an effective Q-divisor on X and let D be a Q-Cartier Q-divisor on Z. Let $L := -K_X - B - f^*D$, and assume that L is Q-effective and Nklt(X, B, ||L||) does not dominate Z. Then

$$\kappa(X,L) \le \kappa(X_z,L_z) + \kappa(Z,-K_Z-D).$$

Furthermore, if $\kappa(Z, -K_Z - D) = 0$, equality holds.

Instead of asking Bs(mL) to not dominate Z for some integer $m \ge 1$, it is enough to ask for Nklt(X, B, ||L||) to not dominate Z. Indeed, the way the hypothesis on Bs(mL) is used is to find a Q-divisor $\Lambda \in |L|_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $(X_z, B_z + \Lambda_z)$ is still klt. This is clearly true when Bs(mL) is vertical, since in this case $|mL|_z$ will be base point free. However, Remark 5.4.4 shows that the same is true under the weaker assumption on Nklt(X, B, ||L||). Using this, it is possible to prove the above version of [Cha23, Theorem 4.1].

We give an example showing that $C_{n,m}^{-}$ can fail when Nklt(X, B, L) is horizontal.

Example 5.4.6. Let Z be an elliptic curve and D a divisor on Z of degree d > 0. Define $X := \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_Z \oplus \mathcal{O}_Z(-D))$ and let $f: X \to Z$ be the structure map. Let $B := Z_0$, where Z_0 is the section of f corresponding to the surjection $\mathcal{O}_Z \oplus \mathcal{O}_Z(-D) \to \mathcal{O}_Z(-D)$, so that $\mathcal{O}_X(Z_0) = \mathcal{O}_X(1)$. Then, $-K_X - B \sim Z_0 + dX_z$, where z is a general point of Z. In this case, (X, B) is strictly log canonical and the non-klt locus dominates the base. We have

$$2 = \kappa(X, -K_X - B) > \kappa(X_z, -K_{X_z} - B_z) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 1.$$

In this case we even have $Bs(-K_X - B) = \emptyset$.

5.4.2. Heuristic

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field. The first step to prove $C_{n,m}^-$ is a positivity descent result, showing that, if $-K_X$ is Q-effective, then so is $-K_Y$. In characteristic zero this is done by picking a sufficiently general $\Gamma \in |-K_X|_Q$, so that $f: X \to Y$ with the pair structure (X, Γ) is a Calabi–Yau fibration. By the canonical bundle formula we then write

$$K_X + \Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*(K_Y + M_Y + B_Y) \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} 0,$$

where $M_Y + B_Y$ is Q-effective, from which we conclude. In positive characteristic we do not have a canonical bundle formula in such generality, but we do have it in some cases (see Section 3.4). Hence, we conclude by the same argument as above, once we show that there exists $\Gamma \in |-K_X|_Q$ such that (X_y, Γ_y) has "controlled" singularities.

Suppose now that we have a fibration $f: X \to Y$ where both $-K_X$ and $-K_Y$ have sections; for simplicity, let us assume that they are both semiample. Then we can think of X as being "built from" Calabi–Yau and Fano varieties: more precisely, letting $X \to X_{\text{Fano}} := \operatorname{Proj} \left(\bigoplus_{m \geq 0} H^0(X, -K_X) \right)$ be the semiample contraction of $-K_X$ (see Remark 5.1.5), by the canonical bundle formula we have that X_{Fano} is a Fano-type variety with $\kappa(X, -K_X) = \dim(X_{\text{Fano}})$, and a general fibre X_{CY} is a Calabi–Yau variety. Analogous descriptions hold for Y and X_y . Then we have the following commutative diagram



where $V := \operatorname{Proj}_{Y_{\operatorname{Fano}}} \left(\bigoplus_{m \geq 0} h_* \mathcal{O}_X(-mK_X) \right)$. In particular, for $z \in Y_{\operatorname{Fano}}$ general, we have $V_z = (X_z)_{\operatorname{Fano}}$. Consider the induced fibration $f_z \colon X_z \to Y_z$: the base is a Calabi–Yau variety.

For such fibrations we prove an injectivity theorem which implies $C_{n,m}^-$ for f_z . The idea of this result can be easily explained when $\dim(Y_z) = 1$ and X_z is normal. We want to prove that the restriction map $H^0(X_z, -mK_{X_z}) \to H^0(X_y, -mK_{X_y})$ is injective for $y \in Y_z$ general and $m \gg 0$. If this was not the case, there would exist an effective Q-divisor $N \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -K_{X_z}$ containing X_y in its support. This implies that, for a positive constant $c \in \mathbb{Q}$, $-K_{X_z} - cX_y$ is Q-effective. With the canonical bundle formula we can descend this effectivity to Y_z , proving that $-K_{Y_z} - \varepsilon y$ is effective for some $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, contradicting the fact that Y_z is Calabi–Yau.

We then conclude:

$$\kappa(X, -K_X) = \dim(X_{\text{Fano}})$$

$$\leq \dim(V)$$

$$= \dim(X_z)_{\text{Fano}} + \dim(Y_{\text{Fano}})$$

$$= \kappa(X_z, -K_{X_z}) + \kappa(Y, -K_Y)$$

$$\leq \kappa(X_y, -K_{X_y}) + \kappa(Y, -K_Y).$$

5.4.3. Counterexamples in positive characteristic

The next examples, studied in [Ben22, §5], show that in positive characteristic we cannot expect the result in Remark 5.4.5 to hold in such generality. They are constructed from Tango–Raynaud surfaces. Analysing them, in the paper [CEKZ21], the authors found counterexamples to $C_{n,m}$ in characteristic p, for any p > 0. A similar construction gives counterexamples to $C_{7,6}^-$ in characteristics 2 and 3. Roughly speaking, they are based on the failure of generic smoothness.

In this section, we consider varieties defined over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0.

Definition 5.4.7. Let C be a smooth projective curve of genus $g_C \ge 2$. Define the

Tango invariant:

$$n(C) := \max\left\{ \deg\left(\left\lfloor \frac{(df)}{p} \right\rfloor\right) \text{ s.t. } f \in k(C) \right\},\$$

where (df) denotes the divisor of zeroes and poles of the differential df. Note that $pn(C) \leq 2g_C - 2$. We say that C is a **Tango curve** if n(C) > 0 and that it is a **Tango-Raynaud curve** if, moreover, $pn(C) = 2g_C - 2$.

Example 5.4.8 ([Muk13, Example 1.3]). Let $e \in \mathbb{N}$ and let C be the plane curve defined by the equation $Y^{pe} - YX^{pe-1} = Z^{pe-1}X$ in $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ with coordinates [X : Y : Z]. It is smooth and, by adjunction, if g_C is its genus, $2g_C - 2 = pe(pe - 3)$. Consider the differential form $d\left(\frac{Z}{X}\right)$ and denote by ∞ the point $[0 : 0 : 1] \in C$. Then, $\left(d\left(\frac{Z}{X}\right)\right) = pe(pe - 3)(\infty) = (2g_C - 2)(\infty)$, showing that C is a Tango–Raynaud curve.

Let C be a normal projective curve and consider the Frobenius map $F: C \to C$. Denote by \mathcal{B} the cokernel of the induced map, $\mathcal{O}_C \to F_*\mathcal{O}_C$. Thus, for any Cartier divisor D, we have the exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_C(-D) \to F_*(\mathcal{O}_C(-pD)) \to \mathcal{B}(-D) \to 0.$$

Lemma 5.4.9 ([Xie10, Lemma 2.5]). With the same notation as above,

$$H^0(C, \mathcal{B}(-D)) = \{ df \ s.t. \ f \in k(C), \ (df) \ge pD \}.$$

Note that $H^0(C, \mathcal{B}(-D))$ is the kernel of $F^* \colon H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C(-D)) \to H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C(-pD))$ when D is effective.

Now, let C be a Tango-Raynaud curve equipped with an effective divisor D and a non-zero element df in $H^0(C, \mathcal{B}(-D))$ such that (df) = pD. This determines a non-zero element of $H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C(-D))$ which is mapped to zero by the Frobenius morphism. Notice that df determines a (non-split) short exact sequence:

$$(\mathfrak{B}) \qquad 0 \to \mathcal{O}_C(-D) \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{O}_C \to 0,$$

where \mathcal{E} is a rank two vector bundle on C. After applying the Frobenius morphism, the above exact sequence becomes split, thus we also get:

$$(\bigstar) \qquad \qquad 0 \to \mathcal{O}_C \to F^* \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{O}_C(-pD) \to 0.$$

Let $g: P := \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{E}) \to C$ and $g_1: P_1 := \mathbb{P}(F^*\mathcal{E}) \to C$. Thus, we have a commutative

diagram:



where the rightmost square is a fibre product diagram and $F_{P/C}$ is the relative Frobenius.

Let T be a divisor on P such that $\mathcal{O}_P(T) \simeq \mathcal{O}_P(1)$. The short exact sequence (\circledast) defines a section of g, $A \sim T + g^*D$. On the other hand, the short exact sequence (\circledast), defines a section of g_1 , $B_1 \sim \varphi^*A - pg_1^*D$. Let $B := F_{P/C}^*B_1$, then $B \sim pA - pg^*D \sim pT$. Computing the arithmetic genus of A and B using the adjunction formula and the fact that $\deg(D) = \frac{2g_C - 2}{p}$, we see that the curves A and B are smooth of genus g_C and they are disjoint.

If there exists l > 0 such that l divides p + 1 and D = lD' for an effective divisor D', then:

$$A + B \sim (p+1)T + g^*D = l(rT + g^*D') = lM,$$

where $r = \frac{p+1}{l}$ and $M := rT + g^*D'$. Explicit cases where we can find such l are the curves of Example 5.4.8, by choosing an appropriate e. Since the support of the divisor A + B is smooth, the *l*-cyclic cover defined by the above equivalence yields a smooth surface S. Call $\pi: S \to P$ the cover and $f := g \circ \pi: S \to C$.

The last step in this construction consists in taking *m*-times the fibre product of S over $C: X_m := S \times_C S \cdots \times_C S$. Let $p_i: X_m \to S$ be the projection to the *i*th factor and $f_m: X_m \to C$ the composition of f with any of these projections.

Theorem 5.4.10. Let $\{p, l\} = \{2, 3\}$ and consider the fibration

$$X_6 \to X_5.$$

The stable base locus of the anticanonical divisor of X_6 is empty and its non-klt locus does not dominate X_5 . Moreover, $\kappa(X_6, -K_{X_6}) = 0$, while $\kappa(X_5, -K_{X_5}) = -\infty$. Therefore, this fibration gives counterexamples in characteristics 2 and 3 to $C_{7,6}^-$ as stated in Remark 5.4.5.

Proof. The relative anticanonical divisors of g and f, for our choices of p and l are:

$$K_{P/C} = -2T - pg^*D;$$

 $K_{S/C} = \pi^*(K_{P/C} + (l-1)M) = -f^*D'.$

Then, the anticanonical sheaf of X_m is:

$$\omega_{X_m}^{-1} = \left(\prod_{i=1}^m p_i^* \omega_{S/C}^{-1}\right) \otimes \omega_C^{-1}$$

Therefore, for any positive integer n we have $-nK_{X_m} = f_m^*((nm - 6n)D')$, whence:

$$\kappa(X_m, -K_{X_m}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } m > 6\\ 0 & \text{for } m = 6\\ -\infty & \text{for } m < 6 \end{cases}$$

Note that the base locus is empty for $m \ge 6$.

Studying local equations, it is easy to see that the varieties X_m are normal and their singular locus is the union of $\operatorname{Supp}(T_i) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(T_j)$ for $i \neq j$, where $T_i := (\pi \circ p_i)^*T$. In particular, for the chosen fibration $X_6 \to X_5$ the non-smooth locus does not dominate the base. Indeed, let s be a local parameter on the fibres of g such that locally $A = \{s = \infty\}$ and $B = \{s^p = 0\}$. First we look at what happens away from A. Let $(x_1, ..., x_r) = \underline{x}$ be local affine coordinates on C, then, as showed in [Muk13, §2] there is $f(\underline{x})$ such that S affine locally has equation $t^l = s^p - f(\underline{x})$ inside $\mathbb{A}^1 \times \mathbb{A}^1 \times C$. In a similar way, affine locally, we can see $X_m \subseteq \mathbb{A}^m \times \mathbb{A}^m \times C$ with coordinates $t_1, ..., t_m, s_1, ..., s_m, \underline{x}$ and equations $t_i^l = s_i^p - f(\underline{x})$ for i = 1, ..., m. The derivatives along the variables s_i are all 0, therefore, applying the Jacobi criterion we get that X_m is singular where the rank of the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} t_1^{l-1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & t_2^{l-1} & \dots & 0 \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t_m^{l-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

is strictly less than m-1, whence the claim. On the other hand, if $\sigma = 1/s$ is a local parameter defining A on P, an affine local equation for S away from B is $\tau^{l} = \sigma$. Therefore, X_{m} is smooth in this open subset. qed

Remark 5.4.11. The above computations also show that the fibres of $X_6 \to X_5$ are not normal.

Corollary 5.4.12. Let p = 2 or p = 3 and assume the existence of resolutions of singularities and that we can run the birational Minimal Model Program for smooth varieties of dimension 7 in characteristic p. Let $\{p, l\} = \{2, 3\}$, then, there exists a projective klt variety Y of dimension 7, with a fibration $Y \to X_5$ for which $C_{7,6}^-$ does not hold. In particular, the base locus of $-nK_Y$ does not dominate X_5 for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. For simplicity of notation, let $X := X_6$. Let $U \subseteq X$ be the regular locus of X and $\mu: X' \to X$ a resolution which is an isomorphism over U. Write $K_{X'} =$ $\mu^*(K_X) + E$, where E is an exceptional Q-divisor. Run a $K_{X'}$ -MMP over X and let $\varphi: X' \dashrightarrow Y$ and $\sigma: Y \to X$ be the resulting birational maps. Note that Y is klt. Then, by the Negativity lemma ([KM98, Lemma 3.39]), $-\varphi_*E \ge 0$. Thus $-K_Y = -\sigma^* K_X - \varphi_* E \ge -\sigma^* K_X. \text{ Since } \mu(\operatorname{Supp}(E)) \text{ is disjoint from } U, \text{ the base}$ locus of $-nK_Y$ does not dominate X_5 for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Furthermore, $\kappa(Y, -K_Y) \ge \kappa(X, -K_X) = 0$, while $\kappa(X_5, -K_{X_5}) = -\infty.$ qed

Chapter 6

Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors

In this chapter we present the main results in [Ben22] and [BBC23]. In particular, we prove the $C_{n,m}^-$ inequality over perfect fields of positive characteristic, assuming that the general fibres have "nice" *F*-singularities. In low dimension, it is enough to make local assumptions on the singularities (strongly *F*-regular), whereas to prove the result in any dimension, we assume global conditions (*K*-globally *F*-regular).

6.1. $C_{n,m}^{-}$ in low dimension

In this section we present the results proven in [Ben22]. In particular, we conclude that $C_{n,m}^-$ holds when the source of the fibration is a threefold or when the target is a curve, the general fibre is regular and the pair induced on it from the ambient space is strongly *F*-regular.

6.1.1. Weakly positive sheaves

The main property studied in [EG19] is weak positivity of sheaves. We recall here what we need to use in the following.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of any characteristic, unless otherwise stated.

Definition 6.1.1. Let X be a normal quasi-projective variety and \mathcal{G} a coherent sheaf on it. We say that \mathcal{G} is **generically globally generated** if the map

$$H^0(X,\mathcal{G})\otimes\mathcal{O}_X\to\mathcal{G}$$

is surjective over the generic point of X.

The sheaf \mathcal{G} is called **weakly positive** if, given any ample divisor A on X and any natural number α , there exists an integer $\beta > 0$ such that $(\text{Sym}^{\alpha\beta}(\mathcal{G}))^{**} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(\beta A)$ is generically globally generated, where the double star indicates the double dual.

qed

Lemma 6.1.2. Let X be a normal quasi-projective variety and \mathcal{G} a coherent sheaf on it. Fix an integer $n \geq 2$. If there exists a generically globally generated invertible sheaf H with the property that for all $\alpha > 0$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus n\mathbb{Z}$, there is an integer $\beta > 0$ such that $(\text{Sym}^{\alpha\beta}(\mathcal{G}))^{**} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(\beta H)$ is generically globally generated, then \mathcal{G} is weakly positive.

Proof. By [Vie83, Remark 1.3(ii)], it is enough to check the condition of Definition 6.1.1 for one invertible sheaf, not necessarily ample, and all $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$. Fix Hinvertible sheaf that is generically globally generated. Assume that for all $\alpha > 0$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus n\mathbb{Z}$, there is an integer $\beta > 0$ such that $(\text{Sym}^{\alpha\beta}(\mathcal{G}))^{**} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(\beta H)$ is generically globally generated. Let $\alpha' \in n\mathbb{Z}_{>0}$. By the above assumption, there is an integer $\beta > 0$ such that $(\text{Sym}^{(\alpha'+1)\beta}(\mathcal{G}))^{**} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(\beta H)$ is generically globally generated. Let $\beta' := (\alpha' + 1)\beta$. Then,

$$(\operatorname{Sym}^{\alpha'\beta'}(\mathcal{G}))^{**} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(\beta'H) = (\operatorname{Sym}^{\alpha'}((\operatorname{Sym}^{(\alpha'+1)\beta}\mathcal{G})^{**} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(\beta H)))^{**} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(\beta H)$$

is generically globally generated, whence the conclusion.

Lemma 6.1.3. Let X be a normal quasi-projective variety and \mathcal{G} a coherent sheaf on it. Assume $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is an invertible sheaf, then it is generically globally generated if and only if D is linearly equivalent to an effective divisor. Moreover, it is weakly positive if and only if D is pseudoeffective.

Proof. The first claim follows directly from the definition. Indeed in this case \mathcal{G} is generically globally generated if and only if $H^0(X, \mathcal{G}) \neq 0$. Let us prove the second claim. The condition of being weakly positive translates to the fact that, for any Aample and any $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, $D + \frac{1}{n}A$ is \mathbb{Q} -effective. But then, $D = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(D + \frac{1}{n}A\right)$ is a limit of \mathbb{Q} -effective divisors, thus it is pseudoeffective. On the other hand, if D is pseudoeffective, then it is in the closure of the \mathbb{Q} -effective cone. Consider the line defined by D + tA. For $t \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$, each of these divisors is \mathbb{Q} -effective, thus D is weakly positive. qed

We state the next result in the assumptions in which we need to use it later. In the original paper it is proven in greater generality.

Theorem 6.1.4 ([Eji17, Theorem 5.1, Example 3.11]). Let $f: X \to Z$ be a surjective morphism between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. Let B be an effective Weil divisor on X such that aB is integral for some $a \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, not divisible by p. Let $\overline{\eta}$ be the geometric generic point of Z. Suppose that:

- (a) the geometric generic fibre $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ is normal;
- (b) $K_{X_{\bar{\eta}}} + B_{\bar{\eta}}$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier and ample;

(c) $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}})$ is sharply F-pure.

Then,

$$(f_*\mathcal{O}_X(am(K_X+B)))\otimes \omega_Z^{\otimes -am})$$

is weakly positive for every $m \gg 0$.

6.1.2. Proof of $C_{n,1}^-$

In this section, we use a variation of the results in [EG19, §3, §4] to prove $C_{n,1}^-$ in positive characteristic. The authors of [EG19] assume that the relative anticanonical divisor is nef. We weaken a bit the assumption with (iii) in Set-up (\bigstar) below.

(☆)Set-up

Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. Consider Q-divisors B and D on X and Z respectively such that $K_X + B$ is Q-Cartier and D is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier. Let $B = B^+ - B^-$ and $L := -(K_X + B) - f^*D$. Suppose that:

- (i) f is equidimensional and K_Z is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier;
- (ii) the general fibre X_z is regular and (X_z, B_z^+) is strongly F-regular, where B_z^+ is defined by $(K_X + B^+)|_{X_z} = K_{X_z} + B_z^+$ (this restriction is well-defined since X_z is normal);
- (iii) there exists $\overline{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ not divisible by p such that $Bs(\overline{m}L)$ does not dominate Z (in particular, L is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective);
- (iv) $\operatorname{Supp}(B^{-})$ does not dominate Z;
- (v) B is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor.

Theorem 6.1.5. In Set-up (\diamondsuit) , for all $l \gg 0$ and sufficiently divisible such that l is not divisible by p,

$$\mathcal{O}_X(l(-f^*(K_Z+D)+B^-))$$

is weakly positive.

Proof. First of all, note that we can assume that $K_X + B$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier. In fact, if $K_X + B$ is not $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier, let μ, e be the minimal positive integers, with μ not divisible by p, such that $\mu p^e(K_X + B)$ is Cartier and let $\Gamma \geq 0$ be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor such that $\Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L$. Define $B' := B + \frac{1}{p^{ee'+1}}\Gamma$, with $e' \gg 0$. Since D is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier, $K_X + B'$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier and all the other assumptions in Set-up (\checkmark) are satisfied if we replace B with B'. In particular, (ii) holds by Remark 1.3.25 if we choose e' big enough. Let *l* be any positive integer not divisible by *p* such that $l(K_X + B)$, $l(K_Z + D)$ are Cartier and *lB* is integral.

We follow the proof of [EG19, Theorem 3.1], highlighting the small differences. First, we prove the statement when f is equidimensional. Set $\mathcal{F} := \mathcal{O}_X(l(-f^*(K_Z + D) + B^-)))$ and let A be a very ample Cartier divisor on X. We need to show weak positivity of \mathcal{F} , in particular, by Lemma 6.1.2, it is enough to see that for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \setminus p\mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, there is some $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ such that $\mathcal{F}^{[\alpha\beta]}(\beta lA)$ is weakly positive.

The Q-divisor $L + \alpha^{-1}A$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective since both L and A are. In particular, there exists $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \setminus p\mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ such that $|n(L + \alpha^{-1}A)| \neq \emptyset$. Since $\operatorname{Bs}(\overline{m}L)$ does not dominate Z and \overline{m} is not divisible by p, the graded linear system $\{|V_m| :=$ $|mn(L + \alpha^{-1}A)|_z\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -semiample for a general fibre X_z . By Corollary 1.3.28, there exists an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $\Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} (L + \alpha^{-1}A)$, such that $(X_z, B_z^+ + \Gamma_z)$ is still sharply F-pure. By Theorem 2.2.13, this implies that $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, (B^+ + \Gamma)_{\overline{\eta}})$ is sharply F-pure. Note that $(K_X + B^+ + \Gamma)_{\overline{\eta}} \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} \alpha^{-1}A_{\overline{\eta}}$ is ample. Thus, Theorem 6.1.4 proves weak positivity of the sheaf

$$(f_*\mathcal{O}_X(ll'm(K_X+B^++\Gamma)))\otimes \omega_Z^{\otimes -ll'm}$$

for any $m \gg 0$, where l' is a positive integer not divisible by p such that $ll'(B^+ + \Gamma)$ is integral. Then, as shown in [EG19, Theorem 3.1], for $\beta \gg 0$ sufficiently divisible, there is a generically surjective morphism

$$f^*((f_*\mathcal{O}_X(\alpha\beta l(K_X+B^++\Gamma)))\otimes\omega_Z^{\otimes(-\alpha\beta l})\to\mathcal{F}^{[\alpha\beta]}\otimes\mathcal{O}_X(\beta lA),$$

therefore the latter sheaf is weakly positive as well.

(★)Set-up

Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0, let B be an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier and D a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier divisor on Z. Let $L := -(K_X + B) - f^*D$. Suppose that:

- (i) f is equidimensional and K_Z is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier;
- (ii) the general fibre X_z is regular and the pair induced on it (X_z, B_z) is strongly *F*-regular, where B_z is defined by $(K_X + B)|_{X_z} = K_{X_z} + B_z$;
- (iii) there exists $\overline{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ not divisible by p such that $Bs(\overline{m}L)$ does not dominate Z (in particular, L is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective).

All results in [EG19, §4] hold with almost the same proofs in this Set-up (\bigstar) using Theorem 6.1.5 instead of [EG19, Theorem 3.1].

Proposition 6.1.6. In Set-up (\bigstar) , let E be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier divisor on Z. Assume there exists a \mathbb{Q} -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $\Gamma \geq 0$ on X such that $\Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L - f^*E$. Then, for $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)>0}$ small enough, $\mathcal{O}_X(-mf^*(K_Z + D + \varepsilon E))$ is weakly positive for any sufficiently divisible $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ not divisible by p.

Proof. This proof follows [EG19, Proposition 4.4]. For any $\varepsilon \in [0,1) \cap \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, fix:

$$B^{\varepsilon} := B + \varepsilon \Gamma; \quad D^{\varepsilon} := D + \varepsilon E; \quad L^{\varepsilon} := -(K_X + B^{\varepsilon}) - f^* D^{\varepsilon}.$$

Note that B^{ε} is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor, $K_X + B^{\varepsilon}$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier and D^{ε} is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier. Moreover, there exists $\overline{n} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ not divisible by p such that $\overline{n}(1-\varepsilon) \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\overline{n}L^{\varepsilon} \sim (1-\varepsilon)L$ and $\operatorname{Bs}(\overline{n}\overline{m}L^{\varepsilon})$ does not dominate Z.

Take a general fibre X_z of f; since (X_z, B_z) is SFR, so is (X_z, B_z^{ε}) for ε small enough by Remark 1.3.25, where B_z^{ε} is defined by $(K_X + B^{\varepsilon})|_{X_z} = K_{X_z} + B_z^{\varepsilon}$. We apply Theorem 6.1.5 to $f: X \to Z, B^{\varepsilon}, D^{\varepsilon}$ to get that $\mathcal{O}_X(-mf^*(K_Y + D^{\varepsilon}))$ is weakly positive for any sufficiently divisible $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \setminus p\mathbb{Z}_{>0}$. qed

Corollary 6.1.7. In Set-up (\bigstar) , assume there is an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier divisor E on Z such that $L - f^*E$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -equivalent to an effective \mathbb{Q} -Cartier divisor on X. Then E = 0.

Proof. Fix an ample Cartier divisor A on X. Applying Proposition 6.1.6 with $D = -K_Z$, we see that $\mathcal{O}_X(-mf^*E)$ is weakly positive, for some $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \setminus p\mathbb{Z}_{>0}$. We want to show $mf^*E = 0$. This is proven in the same way as in [EG19, Corollary 4.5].

Theorem 6.1.8. In Set-up (\bigstar) , let $D = -K_Z$. Let X_z be a closed fibre of f over a regular point $z \in Z$. Suppose the following conditions hold:

- (i) f is flat at every point of X_z ;
- (ii) $\operatorname{Supp}(B)$ does not contain X_z ;
- (iii) X_z is normal.

Then the support of every effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor Γ such that there exists an integer $m_0 \geq 1$ not divisible by p with $m_0\Gamma \sim m_0L$, does not contain X_z .

Proof. This proof follows [EG19, Theorem 4.2]. First of all, note that, by the same considerations as in the proof of Theorem 6.1.5, we can assume $K_X + B$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier. Assume there exists Γ such that $\Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L$ and $\operatorname{Supp}(\Gamma)$ contains X_z . Consider the diagram:

where

- $\mu: Z' \to Z$ is the blow-up at z;
- $\pi: X' \to X$ is the blow-up at $X_z := f^{-1}(z)$, note that, by flatness of f near z and normality of the fibres, X' is normal and it coincides with $X \times_Z Z'$;
- $H := \operatorname{Exc}(\pi) \cong X_z \times E = f'^*E$, with $E := \operatorname{Exc}(\mu)$.

Let $L' := -\pi^*(K_X + B) + f^*K_{Z'} = \pi^*L$, then L' is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective and $\operatorname{Bs}(\overline{m}L')$ does not dominate Z'. Let $c \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ be the coefficient of H in $\pi^*\Gamma$, by assumption it is > 0. Then $L' - f'^*(cE) \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} \pi^*\Gamma - cH \ge 0$. By Corollary 6.1.7, cE = 0, contradiction. qed

Corollary 6.1.9. In Set-up (\bigstar) , let $D = -K_Z$, then the restriction map

$$\alpha \colon \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus p\mathbb{N}} H^0(X, mlL) \to \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus p\mathbb{N}} H^0(X_z, mlL_z)$$

is injective, where l is a positive integer not divisible by p such that $H^0(X, lL) \neq 0$. In particular,

$$\kappa(X,L) = \kappa(X_z,L_z).$$

Proof. This proof follows [EG19, Corollary 4.7]. If α was not injective, there would be a section of $\bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus p\mathbb{N}} H^0(X, mlL)$ whose zero locus contains the fibre X_z in its support. So, it suffices to show that for every effective divisor $\Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L$, Supp (Γ) does not contain X_z . Therefore, we conclude by Theorem 6.1.8.

Now, let $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ such that mL computes the Iitaka dimension. If p|m, since L is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective, there is n coprime with p such that $H^0(X, nL) \neq 0$. Thus (m+n)L computes the Iitaka dimension as well and m + n is not divisible by p. Therefore, we conclude by the first part and Proposition 5.2.6. qed

With this last result it is straightforward to prove $C_{n,1}^{-}$.

Theorem 6.1.10 $(C_{n,1}^{-})$. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective variety onto a smooth projective curve over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0. Let B be an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. Suppose that the general fibre X_z is regular and the pair (X_z, B_z) is strongly F-regular, where B_z is defined by $(K_X + B)|_{X_z} = K_{X_z} + B_z$. Assume moreover that there exists an integer $\overline{m} \geq 1$ not divisible by p such that $Bs(-\overline{m}(K_X + B))$ does not dominate Z. Then:

$$\kappa(X, -(K_X + B)) \le \kappa(X_z, -(K_{X_z} + B_z)) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z).$$

Moreover, if $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 0$, equality holds.

Proof. First of all, by Remark 5.1.3, we can assume that the base field k is algebraically closed.

Then, note that we can assume $\kappa(X, -(K_X + B)) \ge 0$. We distinguish three cases according to the genus of Z.

- Let Z be a curve of genus 0. The result follows immediately from the Easy Additivity theorem (see Theorem 5.2.1).
- (2) Let Z be a curve of genus 1. Then, $K_Z \sim 0$, so Corollary 6.1.9 gives the desired inequality.
- (3) Let Z be a curve of genus ≥ 2 .

By the Riemann-Roch Theorem on curves, since K_Z is ample, it is also $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ effective, thus $-(K_X + B) + f^*K_Z$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective. This also implies that there
exists $\overline{m}' \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, not divisible by p such that $\operatorname{Bs}(-\overline{m}'(K_X + B) + \overline{m}'f^*K_Z) \subseteq$ $\operatorname{Bs}(-\overline{m}'(K_X + B))$ does not dominate Z. Thus, we apply Theorem 5.2.2 and
Corollary 6.1.9 to get:

$$\kappa(X_z, -(K_{X_z} + B_z)) + \dim(Z) \le \kappa(X, -(K_X + B) + f^*K_Z) \le \kappa(X_z, -(K_{X_z} + B_z))$$

Contradiction. Such case never happens.

For the "moreover" part, apply Proposition 5.2.6 with $L := -(K_X + B)$ qed

6.1.3. Partial results on $C_{n,n-1}^{-}$

The goal of this section is the proof of $C_{n,n-1}^{-}$ in positive characteristic when the relative dimension of the fibration is one and the target has zero anticanonical Iitaka dimension. In particular, the main result is an injectivity theorem similar to Corollary 6.1.9 for fibrations of relative dimension 1 and it is an analogue of [Cha23, Theorem 3.8]. In order to prove it in characteristic 0, the techniques involve the use of some canonical bundle formula results as in [Amb05]. Here, we use the canonical bundle formula Theorem 3.4.1, instead.

In this section, we work in the following setting.

(₩)Set-up

Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration between normal projective varieties over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. Suppose that f is of relative dimension one. Let B be an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier and let D be a \mathbb{Q} -Cartier divisor on Z. Let $L := -(K_X + B) - f^*D$ and assume that:

- (i) Z is \mathbb{Q} -Gorenstein;
- (ii) the general fibre X_z is regular and the pair (X_z, B_z) is strongly F-regular, where B_z is defined by $(K_X + B)|_{X_z} = K_{X_z} + B_z$;
- (iii) there exists $\overline{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ not divisible by p such that $Bs(\overline{m}L)$ does not dominate Z (in particular, L is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective).

Proposition 6.1.11. In Set-up (\clubsuit) , $-K_Z - D$ is \mathbb{Q} -effective.

Proof. Pick a general fibre X_z . By condition (*iii*) in Set-up (\bigstar), the graded linear system $(V_m)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, with $|V_m| := |mL|_z \subseteq |mL_z|$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -semiample. By Corollary 1.3.28, there exists an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $\Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L$ on X such that $(X_z, B_z + \Gamma_z)$ is sharply F-pure. Note that, since X_z is a regular curve, $(X_z, B_z + \Gamma_z)$ is log smooth. Moreover, $K_X + B + \Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} -f^*D$. Let $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ be the geometric generic fibre of f. By Theorem 2.2.13, $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}} + \Gamma_{\bar{\eta}})$ is sharply F-pure as well. Since sharply F-pure singularities are in particular log canonical, we can apply Theorem 3.4.1 to find an effective Q-divisor Δ_Z on Z, such that $-K_Z - D \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} \Delta_Z$.

Remark 6.1.12. Applying the above Proposition 6.1.11 to the case D = 0, we conclude that, in the assumptions of Set-up (\bigstar), $-K_Z$ is Q-effective whenever $-(K_X + B)$ is.

Following the proofs of [Cha23, Proposition 4.2, Proposition 4.3], we get the same results in positive characteristic in the more restrictive Set-up (\bigstar).

Proposition 6.1.13. In Set-up (\bigstar), let E be a \mathbb{Q} -Cartier divisor on Z. Assume there exists Γ , effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X, such that $L - f^*E \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} \Gamma$. Then, for $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1, -K_Z - D - \varepsilon E$ is \mathbb{Q} -effective.

Proof. The proof follows the one of [Cha23, Proposition 4.2]. By Remark 1.3.25, we can choose $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ such that $\varepsilon \Gamma$ is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor and $(X_z, B_z + \varepsilon \Gamma_z)$ is SFR. Choose $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Q}$, with denominator not divisible by p and define

$$B_{\varepsilon} := B + \varepsilon \Gamma, \quad D_{\varepsilon} := D + \varepsilon E, \quad L_{\varepsilon} := -(K_X + B_{\varepsilon}) - f^* D_{\varepsilon}.$$

Note that B_{ε} is an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor and there exists $\overline{n} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ not divisible by p such that $B_{\varepsilon}(\overline{n}\overline{m}L^{\varepsilon})$ does not dominate Z. Now, apply Proposition 6.1.11 to $(X, B_{\varepsilon}), D_{\varepsilon}, L_{\varepsilon}$.

Theorem 6.1.14. In Set-up (\bigstar), assume that $\kappa(Z, -K_Z - D) = 0$. Then, the map defined by restriction on a general fibre X_z ,

$$\alpha \colon \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus p\mathbb{N}} H^0(X, mlL) \to \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus p\mathbb{N}} H^0(X_z, mlL_z)$$

is injective, where l is a positive integer not divisible by p such that $H^0(X, lL) \neq 0$.

Proof. If the theorem did not hold, there would exist s, non-zero section, in the kernel of α . Then, s defines an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $N \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} -(K_X + B) - f^*D$ containing X_z in its support. Since $\kappa(Z, -K_Z - D) = 0$, there exists a unique effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $M \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -K_Z - D$. Suppose that $f(X_z) = z \in Z$ is such that:

(i) f is flat in a neighbourhood of z;

- (ii) z is a regular point of Z;
- (iii) $z \notin \operatorname{Supp}(M);$
- (iv) $X_z \not\subseteq \operatorname{Supp}(B)$.

Note that all the conditions above are open on Z, therefore a general point $z \in Z$ does satisfy them. Consider the diagram:

where

- $\mu: Z' \to Z$ is the blow-up at z;
- $\pi: X' \to X$ is the blow-up at $X_z := f^{-1}(z)$, note that, by flatness of f near z and normality of the fibres, X' is normal and it coincides with $X \times_Z Z'$;
- $H := \operatorname{Exc}(\pi) \cong X_z \times E = f'^*E$, with $E := \operatorname{Exc}(\mu)$.

Let $D' := \mu^* D$ and let B' be the strict transform of B, then:

$$-K_{Z'} = \mu^*(-K_Z) - aE, \qquad a = \dim(Z) - 1; -(K_{X'} + B') = \pi^*(-(K_X + B)) - bH, \qquad b = \operatorname{codim}(X_z) - 1 = a.$$

By assumption, $Bs(\overline{m}\pi^*L)$ does not dominate Z' and

$$\pi^*L = \pi^*(-(K_X + B) - f^*D) = -(K_{X'} + B') + bf'^*E - f'^*D'.$$

Let c be the coefficient of $H = f'^*E$ in π^*N . Since X_z is in the support of N, c > 0 and since N is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor, $c \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$. The $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $\pi^*N - cf'^*E \ge 0$ is effective, thus, by Proposition 6.1.13, there exists an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $\Gamma_{Z'}$ which is \mathbb{Q} -linearly equivalent to $-K_{Z'} + bE - D' - \varepsilon cE$, for some $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$. But then we would have:

$$\Gamma_{Z'} + \varepsilon c E \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} \mu^* (-K_Z - D) \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} \mu^* M.$$

Both sides of the above equation are effective, the LHS has E in its support, while the RHS does not. However, $\kappa(Z', \mu^*M) = 0$, contradiction. qed

Corollary 6.1.15 $(C_{n,n-1}^{-})$. In the above Set-up $(\ref{eq:scalar})$, assume that the varieties are defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0 and that $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 0$. Then:

$$\kappa(X, -(K_X + B)) = \kappa(X_z, -(K_{X_z} + B_z)).$$

Proof. First of all note that, by Remark 5.1.3, we can assume the varieties are defined over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0.

Let $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ such that mL computes the Iitaka dimension. If p|m, since L is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective, there is n coprime with p such that $H^0(X, nL) \neq 0$. Thus (m+n)L computes the Iitaka dimension as well and m+n is not divisible by p. Therefore, we conclude by Theorem 6.1.14 and Proposition 5.2.6. qed

6.1.4. Proof of $C_{3,m}^-$

Here we use the results of the previous sections to prove $C_{3,m}^-$ over fields of positive characteristic.

One of the main technical difficulties in extending the proof of [Cha23, Theorem 4.1] in positive characteristic is that it is hard to control the singularities of the fibres of a fibration. The next lemma is needed to tackle this problem.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field, where we specify the characteristic for each result.

Lemma 6.1.16. Let S be a normal projective Q-factorial surface over a perfect field of any characteristic, such that $\kappa(S, -K_S) = 1$ and let $g: S \dashrightarrow C$ be the rational map induced by the linear system $|-mK_S|$ for $m \gg 0$. Write $|-mK_S| = |M| + B$, where |M| is the movable part (i.e. its base locus has codimension ≥ 2) and B is the fixed divisor.

Then g is a morphism well-defined everywhere, it coincides with the Iitaka fibration of $-K_S$ and it is a (quasi-)elliptic fibration. Moreover, $M \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} g^*A$ for an ample \mathbb{Q} -divisor A on C and the support of B does not dominate C.

Proof. Since the base locus of M has dimension 0, M is semiample by Zariski– Fujita's Theorem [Fuj80, Theorem 2.8]. By possibly substituting it with a multiple, it is then linearly equivalent to g^*A , for an ample divisor A on C. Let B^h and B^v be effective divisors decomposing B into its horizontal and vertical components, respectively. We need to show that $B^h = 0$. Suppose this was not true. Then, the divisor B^h would be relatively big, thus there exist \mathbb{Q} -divisors H and E such that H is effective and relatively ample, E is effective and $B^h \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} H + E$. Indeed, for A'effective and relatively ample, we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to g_*\mathcal{O}_S(mB^h - A') \to g_*\mathcal{O}_S(mB^h) \to g_*\mathcal{O}_S(mB^h)|_{A'}$$

For $m \to \infty$, if B^h was relatively big, the rank of $g_*\mathcal{O}_S(mB^h)$ would grow as m, while the rank of $g_*\mathcal{O}_S(mB^h)|_{A'}$ is bounded, therefore the map $g_*\mathcal{O}_S(mB^h) \to g_*\mathcal{O}_S(mB^h)|_{A'}$ cannot be injective for $m \gg 0$, whence $g_*\mathcal{O}_S(mB^h - A') \neq 0$. Now write, for $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$,

$$-mK_S \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} (g^*A + \varepsilon H) + (1 - \varepsilon)H + E + B^v.$$

By the Nakai–Moishezon criterion, $g^*A + \varepsilon H$ is ample and $(1 - \varepsilon)H + E + B^v$ is effective, showing that $-K_S$ is big. Contradiction.

Therefore, g can be extended everywhere and it coincides with the Iitaka fibration of $-K_S$. Since B is vertical, the general fibre of g has arithmetic genus 1. qed

Theorem 6.1.17 $(C_{3,m}^{-})$. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration from a normal projective threefold X to a normal projective \mathbb{Q} -factorial variety Z, over a perfect field of characteristic $p \geq 5$. Let B be an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $K_X + B$ is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier. Suppose that the general fibre X_z is regular and the pair (X_z, B_z) is strongly F-regular, where B_z is defined by $(K_X + B)|_{X_z} = K_{X_z} + B_z$. Assume moreover that there exists an integer $\overline{m} \geq 1$ not divisible by p such that $Bs(-\overline{m}(K_X + B))$ does not dominate Z. Then,

$$\kappa(X, -(K_X + B)) \le \kappa(X_z, -(K_{X_z} + B_z)) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z).$$

Moreover, if $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 0$, equality holds.

Proof. First of all, by Remark 5.1.3 we can assume that the base field k is algebraically closed.

Then, note that we can also assume $\kappa(X, -(K_X + B)) \ge 0$. If Z is a curve, the result holds by Theorem 6.1.10. Thus, we only need to consider what happens when Z is a surface. By Proposition 6.1.11, $-K_Z$ is Q-effective. If $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 0$, we conclude by Corollary 6.1.15. If $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 2$, the Easy Additivity theorem gives the conclusion. We are therefore only left with the case $\kappa(Z, -K_Z) = 1$. We want to reduce to a situation where we can apply Corollary 6.1.15. To do this, we consider the Iitaka fibration of Z following the ideas of [Cha23, Theorem 4.1].

Fix an $m \gg 0$ and let $g: Z \to C$ be the Iitaka fibration induced by $|-mK_Z|$. By Lemma 6.1.16, this is well-defined everywhere. Write $-mK_Z \sim g^*A + B$, where B is the fixed vertical divisor and A is ample on C. Call X_c the general fibre of $h := g \circ f$, it is reduced by Proposition 2.1.2 since h is a fibration to a curve, hence separable by Theorem 2.1.4. Let $\nu: X_c^{\nu} \to X_c \subseteq X$ be its normalisation and $\varphi: X_c^{\nu} \to Z_c$ the induced morphism obtained via restriction from f, where Z_c is a general fibre of g. By the Easy Additivity theorem:

$$\kappa(X, -(K_X + B)) \le \kappa(X_c^{\nu}, -\nu^*(K_X + B)) + \dim(C)$$

= $\kappa(X_c^{\nu}, -\nu^*(K_X + B)) + \kappa(Z, -K_Z)$.

To conclude, it is enough to prove that $\kappa(X_c^{\nu}, -\nu^*(K_X + B)) \leq \kappa(X_z, -(K_{X_z} + B_z))$ for a general fibre X_z of f. By the above Lemma 6.1.16, the arithmetic genus of a general fibre of g is 1, so, since the characteristic of the base field is ≥ 5 by assumption, it is smooth because quasi-elliptic fibrations exist only in characteristics 2 and 3 by [Tat52, Corollary 1]. Moreover, since the general fibre of f is smooth, there exists $U \subseteq Z_c$ such that $f^{-1}(U) \subseteq X_c$ is smooth. In particular, $X_c^{\nu} \to X_c$ is an isomorphism over U. Therefore, if we define a \mathbb{Q} -divisor $B_{X_c^{\nu}}$ by $K_{X_c^{\nu}} + B_{X_c^{\nu}} = (K_X + B)|_{X_c^{\nu}}$, then

$$(K_{X_c^{\nu}} + B_{X_c^{\nu}})|_{X_z} = K_{X_z} + B_z,$$

where X_z is a fibre of φ over a point in U. By [PW22, Corollary 1.3], there exists an effective Weil divisor \mathcal{C} such that

$$K_{X_c^{\nu}} + \mathcal{C} = K_X|_{X_c^{\nu}},$$

thus $B_{X_c^{\nu}} = \nu^* B + \mathcal{C}$ is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor. Note that, since X_c is S_2 , the restriction of a \mathbb{Q} -Weil divisor on X_c is well-defined. Indeed, if X^{sm} is the regular locus of X, $X^{\mathrm{sm}} \cap X_c$ has still complement of codimension ≥ 2 for X_c general. Let us study the base locus of $-\overline{m}(K_{X_c^{\nu}} + B_{X_c^{\nu}})$. Note that a general fibre of g is not contained in $f(\mathrm{Bs}(-\overline{m}(K_X + B)))$. Indeed, fix one of these fibres, say Z_c , and let X_c be the fibre of h over Z_c . There exist effective divisors $D_1, \ldots, D_\ell \sim -\overline{m}(K_X + B)$, such that $Z_c \not\subseteq f(\mathrm{Supp}(D_1) \cap \ldots \cap \mathrm{Supp}(D_\ell))$. Since $0 \leq \nu^* D_i \sim -\overline{m}(K_{X_c^{\nu}} + B_{X_c^{\nu}})$, we conclude that the base locus of $-\overline{m}(K_{X_c^{\nu}} + B_{X_c^{\nu}})$ does not dominate Z_c . Thus, the fibration φ satisfies:

- $B_{X_c^{\nu}}$ is an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor;
- the general fibre X_z of φ is regular and (X_z, B_z) is SFR;
- there exists an integer $\overline{m} \geq 1$ not divisible by p such that $Bs(-\overline{m}(K_{X_c^{\nu}} + B_{X_c^{\nu}}))$ does not dominate Z_c ;
- Z_c is smooth and $\kappa(Z_c, -K_{Z_c}) = 0$.

We are in the right setting to apply Corollary 6.1.15, whence:

$$\kappa(X_c^{\nu}, -\nu^*(K_X + B)) \le \kappa(X_z, -(K_{X_z} + B_z)).$$

As for the "moreover" part, apply Proposition 5.2.6 to $L := -(K_X + B)$. qed

6.2. $C_{n,m}^{-}$ for *F*-split fibrations

6.2.1. *K*-globally *F*-regular varieties and a Weak Ordinarity conjecture

In [BBC23], we introduce a new class of F-singularities, namely K-globally F-regular varieties, that interpolates between globally F-split and globally F-regular varieties. The advantage of these singularities is that they are stable under small perturbations of the boundary by elements of the anticanonical \mathbb{Q} -linear system (Proposition 6.2.2) and that, for fibrations with K-globally F-regular fibres, a canonical

bundle formula applies. We conjecture that K-globally F-regular varieties satisfy a *Weak Ordinarity* statement, namely, that klt pairs with semiample anticanonical bundle are K-globally F-regular when reduced modulo a dense set of primes.

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0, unless otherwise stated.

Definition 6.2.1. A projective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -pair (X, B) is said to be *K*-globally F-regular or KGFR if

- (a) $-K_X B$ is semiample, with induced fibration $f: X \to Z$;
- (b) $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}})$ is globally *F*-split, where $\eta \in Z$ is the generic point;
- (c) $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}, Z} 0;$
- (d) (Z, B^Z) is globally *F*-regular, where B^Z is the *F*-discriminant, as in Definition 3.4.5.

Note that (X, B) is globally *F*-split *a posteriori* thanks to Proposition 3.4.3(iii).

Proposition 6.2.2. Let (X, B) be a projective K-globally F-regular $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -pair and let Λ be an element of $|-K_X - B|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$. Then $(X, B + \varepsilon \Lambda)$ is K-globally F-regular for all sufficiently small positive $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$.

Proof. Let $f: X \to Z$ be the semiample contraction of $-K_X - B$. Let B^Z be the divisor induced on Z by Proposition 3.4.3. Note that $\Lambda = f^*\Lambda'$ for some $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $\Lambda' \geq 0$ on Z and $(B + \varepsilon \Lambda)^Z = B^Z + \varepsilon \Lambda'$ by Proposition 3.4.3(iv). We conclude because $-(K_X + B + \varepsilon \Lambda) \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} -(1 - \varepsilon)(K_X + B)$ is semiample with induced fibration f, the pair $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, (B + \varepsilon \Lambda)_{\bar{\eta}} = B_{\bar{\eta}})$ is GFS and, for all sufficiently small positive $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, $(Z, B^Z + \varepsilon \Lambda')$ is GFR by Lemma 1.3.12 qed

This is an analogue of Proposition 3.4.10 for K-globally F-regular singularities.

Proposition 6.2.3. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a surjective projective morphism of normal varieties, such that St.deg(f) is not divisible by p (see Definition 2.1.5), and let $B \ge 0$ be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X. Assume (X, B) is globally F-split and $(1-p^e)(K_X+B) \sim_Y 0$. Then there exists a canonically determined effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor B^Y on Y such that, if (X, B) is K-globally F-regular, then (Y, B^Y) is globally F-regular.

Proof. It is enough to apply Proposition 3.4.3 and Proposition 3.4.7 to the Stein factorisation $f: X \xrightarrow{g} Z \xrightarrow{h} Y$. qed

Now, we give examples of K-globally F-regular pairs.

Example 6.2.4. Let C be a smooth projective curve. Then C is KGFR if and only if either $C = \mathbb{P}^1$ or C is an ordinary elliptic curve.

Example 6.2.5. Let S be a normal projective surface such that $-K_S$ is semiample.

- (1) If $\kappa(S, -K_S) = 0$, then S is KGFR if and only if it is GFS.
- (2) If $\kappa(S, -K_S) = 1$, let $f: S \to C$ be the fibration induced by $-K_S$. Then S is KGFR if and only if the following conditions hold.
 - The general fibre is an ordinary elliptic curve; this is always the case if f is an elliptic non-isotrivial fibration.
 - The base $C = \mathbb{P}^1$; this is automatically satisfied since $-K_C$ is big by the canonical bundle formula Proposition 3.4.3.
 - The pair (C, B^C) , induced with Proposition 3.4.3 for B = 0, is GFR; in general this condition is hard to control. However, below we will see two examples (Proposition 6.2.7 and Example 6.2.9) where we check it explicitly.
- (3) If $\kappa(S, -K_S) = 2$, then S is KGFR if and only if it is the crepant blow-up of some GFR surface.

The following is an analogue of Conjecture 1.3.20 for K-globally F-regular singularities.

Conjecture 6.2.6 (Relative Weak Ordinarity). Let (X, B) be a projective klt pair over \mathbb{C} such that $-(K_X + B)$ is semiample. Let A be a finitely generated \mathbb{Z} -algebra. Then, for every model $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \to \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ of (X, B), the set of primes $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq A$ such that $(X_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}}, B_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})$ is K-globally F-regular, is dense in $\operatorname{Spec}(A)$.

The heuristic behind this conjecture is that, given a fibration $f: X \to Z$ such that $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*L$ for some Q-Cartier divisor L, we can apply the canonical bundle formula in characteristic 0 to write $L = K_Z + B_Z + M_Z$, where B_Z is the discriminant part, M_Z is the moduli part, and (Z, B_Z) is log Fano [Amb04, Theorem 3.1]. If $f_p: X_p \to Z_p$ is the reduction of f modulo p, we compute the F-discriminant B^{Z_p} with Proposition 3.4.3. Now, we compare B^{Z_p} with the reduction of B_Z modulo p, call it $B_{Z,p}$. The difference between $B_{Z,p}$ and B^{Z_p} is controlled by the reduction modulo p of the moduli part M_Z . Assuming Conjecture 1.3.20, by [DS17, Theorem 6.2], for every prime divisor $\delta \subseteq Z$, there exist infinitely many primes p > 0 such that $B_{Z,p}$ coincides with B^{Z_p} around δ . This is saying that the moduli part is somehow semiample "for a general prime".

Now, we give some evidence for the conjecture. First, we prove that, if $-(K_X+B)$ induces an isotrivial fibration onto \mathbb{P}^1 , Conjecture 6.2.6 holds assuming Conjecture 1.3.20.

Proposition 6.2.7. Assume Conjecture 1.3.20. Let (X, B) be a projective klt pair over \mathbb{C} such that $-(K_X + B)$ is semiample. Let $f: X \to Z$ be the induced fibration and write $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*(K_Z + B_Z + M_Z)$ where B_Z is the discriminant part and M_Z the moduli part in the canonical bundle formula as in Definition 3.2.6. Assume $Z = \mathbb{P}^1$ and $M_Z = 0$. Then, for every model $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}) \to \text{Spec}(A)$ of (X, B), the set of primes $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq A$ such that $(X_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}, B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})$ is K-globally F-regular is dense in Spec(A).

Proof. By construction, there exists H ample divisor on Z such that $K_X + B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -f^*H$. By [Amb04, Theorem 3.1], (Z, B_Z) is klt and log Fano. Let $\varphi \colon \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Z}$ be a model of f over Spec(A) and denote by $f_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}} \colon X_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}} \to Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$ its reduction modulo a prime \mathfrak{p} of Spec(A). If D is a divisor on X or on Z, we can assume we can lift it to the corresponding model and we denote by $D_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$ its reduction modulo \mathfrak{p} . For a dense open set of primes \mathfrak{p} , $f_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$ is a separable fibration between normal projective varieties and there is $e_{\mathfrak{p}}$ such that $(1 - p^{e_{\mathfrak{p}}})(K_{X_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}} + B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}) \sim_{Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}} 0$, where p is the characteristic of the residue field at \mathfrak{p} . Up to possibly replacing A with A', a finite extension of the localisation of A at finitely many primes, we can assume there exists a section Spec(A') $\to \mathcal{Z}$. Let $\mathcal{X}_{A'} \to \text{Spec}(A')$ be the induced model of a fibre, where $\mathcal{X}_{A'} := \mathcal{X} \times_{\mathcal{Z}} \text{Spec}(A')$. By Conjecture 1.3.20, $X_{A',\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$ is GFS for a dense set of primes of Spec(A'). Applying Lemma 2.2.12, we conclude that the geometric generic fibre of $f_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$ is GFS for a dense set of primes \mathcal{P} of Spec(A).

Moreover, by Theorem 1.3.19 there exists $p_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $(Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}, B_{Z,\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})$ is GFR for all \mathfrak{p} with residue field of characteristic $p \geq p_0$. Thus, we can apply Proposition 3.4.3 to get an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}^{Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}}$ on $Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$ such that $K_{X_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}} + B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}^*(K_{Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}} + B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}^{Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}})$. By [DS17, Proposition 5.7] we have $B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}^{Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}} \geq B_{Z,\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$. As $B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}^{Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} B_{Z,\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$, we conclude $B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}^{Z_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}} = B_{Z,\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$. This implies that $(X_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}, B_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})$ is KGFR for all $\mathfrak{p} \in \mathcal{P}$ such that the characteristic of the residue field is $p \geq p_0$.

Remark 6.2.8. If B = 0 and the induced fibration $f: X \to Z$ has elliptic fibres, the above Proposition 6.2.7 holds unconditionally. In fact, Conjecture 1.3.20 is known to hold for elliptic curves ([Har77, Remark 4.23.4, Chapter IV]).

Example 6.2.9. In this example we check that Conjecture 6.2.6 holds for the Legendre family.

Let S be the projective closure of $V(y^2 - x(x-1)(x-\lambda))$ inside $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{Z},[x:y:z]} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{Z},[\lambda:\mu]}$ over Spec(\mathbb{Z}) and let $f: S \to C = \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{Z}}$ be the induced projection. We will denote by $f_0: S_0 \to C_0$ the fibration over Spec(\mathbb{C}) and by $f_p: S_p \to C_p$ the fibration over Spec($\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$). The canonical bundle of S_0 is $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2_0 \times \mathbb{P}^1_0}(0, -1)|_{S_0}$, and the same formula holds for the canonical bundle of S_p . In particular, f_0 and f_p are the fibrations induced by the anticanonical divisors.

By Example 3.1.6, the discriminant part of f_0 is $\frac{1}{2}(\infty)$. Now, let us consider what happens over Spec($\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$) for $p \geq 3$. By Example 3.4.6, if $B_p^{C_p}$ is the *F*-discriminant computed with the canonical bundle formula as in Proposition 3.4.3,

$$B_p^{C_p} = \frac{1}{2}(\infty) + \frac{1}{p-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_p} (\lambda),$$

where Λ_p is the set of those λ 's corresponding to supersingular elliptic curves.

By [HW02, Lemma 3.1], the pairs $(\mathbb{P}_p^1, B_p^{C_p})$ are GFR, whence S_p is KGFR.

With the help of [GS], we can actually compute explicitly which λ 's belong to Λ_p by looking at the *j*-invariant of the corresponding elliptic curve since there is a classification of the *j*-invariants corresponding to supersingular elliptic curves in characteristic *p* (see [BK06, Table 6]). Note that, if j = 0, we will have two corresponding λ 's, if j = 1728, there are three of them and if $j \neq 0, 1728$, there are six of them. Recall that a pair (X, B) is GFR if and only if the affine cone over it with the corresponding \mathbb{Q} -divisor (C_X, C_B) is GFR around the vertex [SS10, Proposition 5.3]. In our case this amounts to checking whether (\mathbb{A}_p^2, L) is GFR around the origin, where *L* is the \mathbb{Q} -divisor of lines passing through the origin corresponding to $B_p^{C_p}$. Let $N := \frac{p-1}{2}$ and define the ideal

$$I_p := \left(y^N \cdot \prod_{\lambda \in \Lambda_p} (x - \lambda y) \right).$$

At this point, we can check with [GS] whether $(k[x, y], I^{\frac{1}{2N}})$ is GFR, where k is an appropriate extension of \mathbb{F}_p where all $\lambda \in \Lambda_p$ are defined. Here the script for p = 5 and a table with the results for $3 \le p \le 23$.

```
i1: needsPackage "RationalPoints2"; needsPackage "TestIdeals";
```

- i3: k=GF 25; R=k[t];
- i5: k[x]; rationalPoints(ideal(x²-x+1))
- o6: {{-2a-1}, {2a+2}}

```
i7: f= t<sup>4</sup>*((t-2*a-2)<sup>3</sup>)*((t+2*a+1)<sup>3</sup>);
```

```
i8: isFRegular(1/12,f)
```

o8: true

| p | Supersingular <i>j</i> -invariants | N | isFRegular |
|----|------------------------------------|----|------------|
| 3 | 1728 | 1 | true |
| 5 | 0 | 2 | true |
| 7 | 1728 | 3 | true |
| 11 | 0, 1728 | 5 | true |
| 13 | 5 | 6 | true |
| 17 | 0,8 | 8 | true |
| 19 | 7, 1728 | 9 | true |
| 23 | 0, 19, 1728 | 11 | true |

6.2.2. *F*-complements

We introduce a positive characteristic analogue of the notion of *complement* (see [Sho93, §5]). When X is a normal projective variety, a complement is an effective \mathbb{Q} -divisor $\Lambda \in |-K_X|_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that (X, Λ) is log canonical.

In this section we consider varieties defined over an algebraically closed field k of characteristic p > 0.

Definition 6.2.10. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration of normal projective varieties, and let B be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor such that $\operatorname{Supp}(B^-)$ does not dominate Z and the geometric generic fibre $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}})$ is globally F-split. Let L be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $K_X + B + L \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)},Z} 0$. We say L admits an F-complement for (X/Z, B) if there exists $\Lambda \in |L|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$ such that $(X_{\overline{\eta}}, B_{\overline{\eta}} + \Lambda_{\overline{\eta}})$ is globally F-split. We then say Λ is an F-complement for (X/Z, B). When $Z = \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ we refer to Λ as an F-complement for (X, B).

By results of Schwede and Smith we have that globally F-split couples admit F-complements.

Theorem 6.2.11 ([SS10, Theorem 4.3(ii)]). Let (X, B) be a projective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -couple. If (X, B) is globally *F*-split, then it admits an *F*-complement.

We give a sufficient condition for the existence of F-complements on fibrations with K-globally F-regular fibres.

Theorem 6.2.12. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration of normal projective varieties with general fibre X_z , and let B be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $\operatorname{Supp}(B^-)$ does not dominate Z. Let D be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Z, set $L := -K_X - B - f^*D$. Assume

- (a) (X_z, B_z) is K-globally F-regular;
- (b) there exists an integer $m \ge 1$ not divisible by p such that mL is integral and mL_z is Cartier;
- (c) there exists $|V| \subseteq |mL|$ such that $\phi_{|V|_z}$ is a morphism;
- (d) p does not divide St.deg($\phi_{|V|_z}$) (see Definition 2.1.5).

Then L admits an F-complement for (X/Z, B).

Before we give a proof, we need the following result.

Proposition 6.2.13. Let G be a non-normal projective variety, let A be an ample $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on G, let $\nu: G^{\nu} \to G$ be the normalisation morphism, and let $\Delta^{\nu} \geq 0$ be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on G^{ν} such that

- (a) (G^{ν}, Δ^{ν}) is a globally *F*-regular pair;
- (b) $-K_{G^{\nu}} \Delta^{\nu} \sim_{\mathbb{Z}(p)} \nu^* A.$

Then there exists an F-complement Γ^{ν} for (G^{ν}, Δ^{ν}) such that $\Gamma^{\nu} = \nu^* \Gamma$ for some $\Gamma \in |A|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$.

Proof. Let $m = p^e - 1$ for $e \ge 1$ divisible enough, so that L := mA and $L^{\nu} := m(-K_{G^{\nu}} - \Delta^{\nu}) \sim \nu^* L$ are both Cartier. Let $\mathcal{C} := \operatorname{Ann}_{\mathcal{O}_G}(\nu_* \mathcal{O}_{G^{\nu}} / \mathcal{O}_G) \subseteq \mathcal{O}_G$ be the conductor ideal, and let $\mathcal{C}^{\nu} := \mathcal{O}_{G^{\nu}} \cdot \mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_{G^{\nu}}$ so that, for all $l \ge 0$, we have isomorphisms induced by pullback

$$(\bullet \bullet) \qquad \qquad \nu^{\sharp} \otimes \mathcal{O}_G(lL) \colon \mathcal{O}_G(lL) \otimes \mathcal{C} \to \nu_*(\mathcal{O}_{G^{\nu}}(lL^{\nu}) \otimes \mathcal{C}^{\nu}).$$

Let now R be an effective Cartier divisor on G^{ν} such that $\mathcal{O}_{G^{\nu}}(-R) \subseteq \mathcal{C}^{\nu}$. For all $l = p^d - 1$ with $d \geq 1$ sufficiently divisible, we have that $(G^{\nu}, \Delta^{\nu} + R/l)$ is still GFR by Lemma 1.3.12, thus we have an F-complement Ξ^{ν} for $(G^{\nu}, \Delta^{\nu} + R/l)$ by Theorem 6.2.11. In particular, $\Gamma^{\nu} := \Xi^{\nu} + R/l$ is an F-complement for (G^{ν}, Δ^{ν}) . For some $n \geq 1$ not divisible by p we have that $lmn\Gamma^{\nu}$ is the divisor of a section $\gamma^{\nu} \in H^0(G^{\nu}, \mathcal{O}_{G^{\nu}}(lnL^{\nu}) \otimes \mathcal{C}^{\nu})$, and (\bullet) shows that $\gamma^{\nu} = \nu^* \gamma$ for some $\gamma \in H^0(G, \mathcal{O}_G(lnL) \otimes \mathcal{C})$. We conclude by setting $\Gamma := (\gamma)/lmn$, where (γ) is the divisor defined by γ .

Proof of Theorem 6.2.12. Up to replacing m with a multiple we may assume $m = p^e - 1$ for some $e \ge 1$. Throughout the rest of the proof we will freely implicitly replace m with md, where d is not divisible by p (equivalently, replace e with a multiple). Consider the following diagram



where ν is the normalisation and φ is the natural morphism. Since (X_z, B_z) is KGFR, by Proposition 6.2.3 there is an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $B_z^{G^{\nu}}$ on G^{ν} , such that $(G^{\nu}, B_z^{G^{\nu}})$ is GFR and $-m(K_{X_z} + B_z) \sim \varphi^*(-m(K_{G^{\nu}} + B_z^{G^{\nu}}))$. By Proposition 6.2.13 there is an *F*-complement $\Lambda_{G^{\nu}} \in |-(K_{G^{\nu}} + B_z^{G^{\nu}})|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$ for $(G^{\nu}, B_z^{G^{\nu}})$ such that $\Lambda_{G^{\nu}} =$ $\nu^*\Lambda_G$ for some $\Lambda_G \in |\mathcal{O}_G(1)/m|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$. Letting $\Lambda_z := (\nu \circ \varphi)^*\Lambda_G$ we then have that $(X_z, B_z + \Lambda_z)$ is GFS and $K_{X_z} + B_z + \Lambda_z \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} 0$, by Proposition 3.4.10. Then (\bigstar) induces the following diagram on global sections for all $l \geq 0$:



As the two rightmost maps are surjective for all $l \gg 0$ by Serre Vanishing, we conclude we can lift Λ_z to $\Lambda \in |L|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$. As $(X_z, B_z + \Lambda_z)$ is GFS, we have that $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, B_{\bar{\eta}} + \Lambda_{\bar{\eta}})$ is also GFS by Lemma 2.2.12. qed

Thanks to the K-globally F-regular condition on the fibres, we are able to find F-complements even after a small perturbation of the boundary.

Corollary 6.2.14. Let $f: X \to Z$ be an equidimensional fibration of normal projective varieties with general fibre X_z . Let B be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $\operatorname{Supp}(B^-)$ does not dominate Z. Let D be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Z, set $L := -K_X - B - f^*D$. Assume

- (a) (X_z, B_z) is K-globally F-regular,
- (b) there exists an integer $m \ge 1$ not divisible by p such that mL is integral and mL_z is Cartier,
- (c) there exists $|V| \subseteq |mL|$ such that $\phi_{|V|_z}$ is a morphism,
- (d) p does not divide $\operatorname{St.deg}(\phi_{|V|_z})$.

Let E be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Z and suppose there exists a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $0 \leq \Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L - f^*E$. Then $(1-\varepsilon)L$ admits an F-complement for $(X/Z, B+\varepsilon\Gamma)$ for all sufficiently small positive $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$.

Proof. Let

$$B_{\varepsilon} := B + \varepsilon \Gamma, \quad D_{\varepsilon} := D + \varepsilon E, \quad L_{\varepsilon} := -K_X - B_{\varepsilon} - f^* D_{\varepsilon}$$

so that $L_{\varepsilon} \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} (1-\varepsilon)L$. The corollary will follow from Theorem 6.2.12 as soon as we verify that

- (A) $(X_z, B_{\varepsilon,z})$ is KGFR,
- (B) there is $n \ge 1$ not divisible by p such that nL_{ε} is integral and $nL_{\varepsilon,z}$ is Cartier,
- (C) there exists $|V_{\varepsilon}| \subseteq |nL_{\varepsilon}|$ such that $\phi_{|V_{\varepsilon}|_z}$ is a morphism,
- (D) p does not divide St.deg $(\phi_{|V_{\varepsilon}|_z})$.

Let $\psi: X_z \to H$ be the semiample fibration of $-K_{X_z} - B_z$. Then Proposition 3.4.3 yields an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor B_z^H such that (H, B_z^H) is GFR. Let Γ_H be an element of $|-K_H - B_z^H|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$ such that $\Gamma_z = \psi^* \Gamma_H$. Since (H, B_z^H) is GFR, by Lemma 1.3.12 we have $(H, B_z^H + \varepsilon \Gamma_H)$ is GFR for all sufficiently small positive $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ such that $B_z^H + \varepsilon \Gamma_H$ is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor, and $K_H + B_z^H + \varepsilon \Gamma_H$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier, hence $(X_z, B_z + \varepsilon \Gamma_z)$ is also KGFR by Proposition 3.4.3, proving (A). To show (B), let l be a positive integer not divisible by p, and such that $(1 - \varepsilon)lm$ is an integer, and let n := lm. As for (C), let $V_{\varepsilon} := \operatorname{Im} \left(V^{\otimes (1-\varepsilon)l} \to H^0(X, nL_{\varepsilon}) \right) \subseteq H^0(X, nL_{\varepsilon})$. Lastly, (D) follows from the fact that $\phi_{|V_{\varepsilon}|_z}$ and $\phi_{|V|_z}$ agree up to a Veronese embedding. qed

6.2.3. Proof of $C_{n,m}^{-}$

Now we have all the ingredients to prove the inequality $C_{n,m}^-$ in all dimensions for fibrations with K-globally F-regular fibres.

Calabi-Yau base

The following theorem is an analogue of [Cha23, Theorem 4.3] in positive characteristic.

In this section we consider varieties defined over an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0.

Theorem 6.2.15 (Injectivity Theorem). Let $f: X \to Z$ be an equidimensional fibration between normal projective varieties, with normal general fibre X_z . Let B be $a \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $\operatorname{Supp}(B^-)$ does not dominate Z, let D be $a \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Z, and set $L := -K_X - B - f^*D$. Assume

- (a) (X_z, B_z) is K-globally F-regular,
- (b) there exists an integer $m \ge 1$ not divisible by p such that mL is integral and mL_z is Cartier,
- (c) there is $|V| \subseteq |mL|$ such that $\phi_{|V|_z}$ is a morphism,
- (d) p does not divide the Stein degree of $\phi_{|V|_z}$,

(e) $\kappa(X, f^*(-K_Z - D) + P) = 0$, for some $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $P \ge B^-$.

Then the restriction map $H^0(X, nL) \to H^0(X_z, nL_z)$ is injective for all $n \ge 0$. In particular, the inequality $\kappa(X, L) \le \kappa(X_z, L_z)$ holds.

Provided that L admits F-complements for (X/Z, B), we can follow the same proof as in [Cha23, Theorem 3.8, Proposition 4.2].

Proposition 6.2.16. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration of normal projective varieties, and let B be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor such that $\operatorname{Supp}(B^-)$ does not dominate Z. Let D be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Z, and let $L := -K_X - B - f^*D$. Assume

- (a) L admits an F-complement for (X/Z, B), and either
- (b) f is equidimensional, or
- (b') $B \geq 0$ and Z is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Gorenstein.

Then, $f^*(-K_Z - D) + B^-$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective.

Proof. Let $\Lambda \in |L|_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}$ be an *F*-complement for (X/Z, B) and consider $\Delta := B + \Lambda$, so that $(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \Delta_{\bar{\eta}})$ is globally *F*-split and $K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}, Z} 0$. By Proposition 3.4.3, there is a canonically defined $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor Δ^Z such that

$$K_X + \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} f^*(K_Z + \Delta^Z) \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} f^*(-D).$$

Hence it is enough to show that $f^*\Delta^Z + B^-$ is an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor. If $B \ge 0$ then Δ^Z is effective by Proposition 3.4.3(ii). Suppose now f is equidimensional: then every component P of $\operatorname{Supp}(\Delta^v)$ is mapped to a prime divisor δ of Z, hence $f^*\Delta^Z \ge \Delta^v$. Indeed, Remark 3.4.4 yields $\operatorname{coeff}_{\delta}(\Delta_Z) = 1 - d_{\delta}$, where

 $d_{\delta} := \sup\{t \text{ s.t. } (X, \Delta + f^*(t\delta)) \text{ is globally sub } F\text{-split over the generic point of } \delta\}.$

As globally sub-F-split sub-couples are sub-log canonical in codimension one ([DS17, Lemma 2.14]), we have:

$$\operatorname{coeff}_{P}(\Delta^{v}) \leq 1 - d_{\delta} \operatorname{coeff}_{P}(f^{*}(\delta))$$
$$\leq \operatorname{coeff}_{P}(f^{*}(\delta))(1 - d_{\delta})$$
$$= \operatorname{coeff}_{P}(f^{*}(\Delta_{Z})).$$

Since $\Delta^v + B^- \ge 0$, we conclude that $f^*\Delta_Z + B^- \ge 0$.

Corollary 6.2.17. Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration of normal projective varieties, and let B be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X such that $\operatorname{Supp}(B^-)$ does not dominate Z. Let D, E be $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisors on Z, set $L := -K_X - B - f^*D$, and assume that

- (a) there exists $0 \leq \Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L f^*E$;
- (b) $(1-\varepsilon)L$ admits an F-complement for $(X, B+\varepsilon\Gamma)$, for $\varepsilon \in [0,1) \cap \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, and either
- (c) f is equidimensional, or
- (c') $B \geq 0$ and Z is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Gorenstein.

Then, $f^*(-K_Z - D - \varepsilon E) + B^-$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective.

qed

Proof. Let

$$B_{\varepsilon} := B + \varepsilon \Gamma, \quad D_{\varepsilon} := D + \varepsilon E, \quad L_{\varepsilon} = -K_X - B_{\varepsilon} - f^* D_{\varepsilon}$$

so that $L_{\varepsilon} \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} (1-\varepsilon)L$ and all the hypotheses of Proposition 6.2.16 are satisfied with respect to $f: (X, B_{\varepsilon}) \to Z$, L_{ε} , and D_{ε} . Then Proposition 6.2.16 yields that $f^*(-K_Z - D_{\varepsilon}) + B_{\varepsilon}^- = f^*(-K_Z - D - \varepsilon E) + B^-$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective. qed

We are now ready to prove our injectivity theorem.

Proof of Theorem 6.2.15. Let $X_z := f^{-1}(z)$ for a general $z \in Z$. We may assume that around z the variety Z is smooth, the morphism f is flat, and $\operatorname{Supp}(B^-)$ does not contain X_z . Let n > 0, by contradiction suppose the map $H^0(X, nL) \to$ $H^0(X_z, nL_z)$ is not injective. Then, there exists a divisor $0 \leq \Delta \sim nL$ such that $X_z \subseteq \operatorname{Supp}(\Delta)$. As L is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective, after possibly replacing Δ with $\Delta + \Delta'$ for some $\Delta' \sim mL$, we may assume n is not divisible by p. Set $N := \frac{1}{n}\Delta$ so that $0 \leq N \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L$. Note that, by hypothesis, there exists a unique effective Q-divisor $M \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} f^*(-K_Z - D) + P$, hence we may assume $X_z \not\subseteq \operatorname{Supp}(M)$. Consider now the diagram



where notation is as follows:

- Z' is the blowup of Z at z with exceptional divisor E, so that $K_{Z'} = \mu^* K_Z + aE$, with $a = \dim(Z) - 1$;
- X' is the fibre product (hence it is also the blowup of X at X_z with exceptional divisor G, since blowup and flat base change commute);
- f' is the induced morphism (since f is equidimensional, so is f');
- B' is the strict transform of B, so that $K_{X'} + B' = \pi^*(K_X + B) + aG$.

Let also $D' := \mu^* D - aE$ and $L' := -K_{X'} - B' - f'^* D' \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} \pi^* L$. Note that $\mu^* \Theta$ is well-defined for all Q-divisors Θ , since they are all Q-Cartier in a neighbourhood of z. Similarly, $\pi^*(K_X + B)$ is well-defined since $K_X + B$ is Q-Cartier in a neighbourhood of the fibre X_z . As $\operatorname{Supp}(N) \supseteq X_z$ we have $\operatorname{Supp}(\pi^*N) \supseteq G$. Thus, letting $N' := \pi^*N$, we have $\operatorname{Supp}(N') \supseteq G$ too. In particular, for sufficiently small positive $\delta \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, we have an effective divisor

$$0 \leq \Gamma' := N' - \delta G \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} L' - f'^* E', \quad E' := \delta E.$$
The data $f': X' \to Z', B', D', L', E', \Gamma'$ satisfy the hypotheses of Corollary 6.2.14, so L' admits an F-complement for $(X'/Z', B' + \varepsilon \Gamma')$. By Corollary 6.2.17 there exists a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor $\overline{\Gamma}$ such that

$$0 \leq \overline{\Gamma} \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} f'^*(-K_{Z'} - D' - \varepsilon E') + (B')^-$$

= $f'^*(\mu^*(-K_Z - D) - \varepsilon E') + (B')^-$
 $\leq f'^*(\mu^*(-K_Z - D) - \varepsilon E') + \pi^* P$
= $\pi^*(f^*(-K_Z - D) + P) - \varepsilon \delta G$
 $\sim_{\mathbb{Q}} \pi^* M - \varepsilon \delta G,$

contradicting the assumption $X_z \not\subseteq \text{Supp}(M)$.

Remark 6.2.18. Under the assumptions of Theorem 6.2.15 with $B \ge 0$, by combining Theorem 6.2.15 and Proposition 5.2.6, we get that

$$\kappa(X,L) = \kappa(X_z,L_z).$$

Note that we cannot expect an equality when B is not effective. Indeed, let E be an ordinary elliptic curve, and $f: X := E \times E \to Z := E$ be the second projection. Let $z \in E$ be a closed point and $B := -f^*z$. Then, $f: X \to Z$ satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 6.2.15, whereas $f: X \to Z$ with the pair structure (X, B) does not. We can check that:

$$1 = \kappa(X, -K_X - B) > \kappa(X_z, -K_{X_z}) = 0.$$

General case

We are now ready to prove the main result of [BBC23].

In this section we consider varieties defined over a perfect field of characteristic p > 0.

Theorem 6.2.19 (Tame $C_{n,m}^-$). Let $f: X \to Y$ be a fibration of normal projective varieties with general fibre X_y . Let B be an effective $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on X, let D be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Cartier $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor on Y, and set $L := -K_X - B - f^*D$. Assume

- (a) Y is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Gorenstein,
- (b) (X_y, B_y) is K-globally F-regular,
- (c) there exists an integer $m \ge 1$ not divisible p such that mL is Cartier,
- (d) there is $|V| \subseteq |mL|$ such that $\phi_{|V|_y}$ is a morphism,
- (e) p does not divide the Stein degree of $\phi_{|V|_y}$.

qed

Then

$$\kappa(X,L) \le \kappa(X_y,L_y) + \kappa(Y,-K_Y-D).$$

Furthermore, if $\kappa(Y, -K_Y - D) = 0$, equality holds.

Proof. By Remark 5.1.3 we can assume that k is uncountable, and by Theorem 6.2.12 and Proposition 6.2.16 that $-K_Y - D$ is $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -effective. Let $d \ge 1$ be sufficiently divisible so that $\phi_{|d(-K_Y-D)|}$ is (birational to) the Iitaka fibration of $-K_Y - D$. Consider now the following commutative diagram:

$$(\texttt{*}) \qquad \begin{array}{c} X^{(e)} \xrightarrow{b} X' \xrightarrow{\pi} X_{\infty} \xrightarrow{} X \\ \downarrow f_{e} \qquad \downarrow f' \xrightarrow{\mu} |f_{\infty} \qquad \downarrow f \\ Y^{(e)} \xrightarrow{a} Y' \xrightarrow{u'} Y_{\infty} \xrightarrow{u} Y \\ \downarrow g_{e} \qquad \downarrow g' \qquad \downarrow \phi_{\infty} \qquad \downarrow \phi_{|d(-K_{Y}-D)|} \\ Z^{e} \xrightarrow{F^{e}} Z \xrightarrow{=} Z \xrightarrow{} Z \xrightarrow{} Z_{d}, \end{array}$$

where the notation is as follows.

- (I) The lower rightmost diagram is constructed using Theorem 5.1.4 and ϕ_{∞} is the Iitaka fibration of $-K_Y D$.
- (II) The variety X_{∞} is the normalisation of the main component of $X \times_Y Y_{\infty}$, and f_{∞} is the induced morphism.
- (III) We construct u' as a flattening of f_{∞} and f' as the normalisation of the proper transform of f_{∞} as in Lemma 2.0.4. In particular f' is equidimensional. After possibly replacing u' with its pre-composition with some blowups along non-Cartier Weil divisors on Y', and X' by the corresponding normalised base change, we may further assume that there exists an effective Cartier divisor Θ' on Y' such that $\text{Exc}(\mu) = \text{Supp}(\Theta')$ and $\text{Exc}(\pi) \subseteq \text{Supp}(f'^*\Theta')$, where $\text{Exc}(\pi)$ and $\text{Exc}(\mu)$ are the exceptional divisors of π and μ , respectively.
- (IV) We define $Y^{(e)}$ and $X^{(e)}$ to be respectively the normalisations of the varieties $(Y' \times_Z Z^e)_{\text{red}}$ and $(X' \times_Z Z^e)_{\text{red}}$, and a, b, g_e, f_e the naturally induced morphisms.
- (V) We will denote by h_e and h' the compositions $g_e \circ f_e$ and $g' \circ f'$, respectively.

By the projection formula and Theorem 5.1.4, we have

$$\kappa(Y'_{z}, (\mu^{*}(-K_{Y}-D))|_{Y'_{z}}) = \kappa(Y_{\infty,z}, (u^{*}(-K_{Y}-D))|_{Y_{\infty,z}}) = 0.$$

By Lemma 2.3.30 we can pick e so that, for general $z \in Z^e$, the fibres $X_z^{(e)}, Y_z^{(e)}$ are reduced and normal. Since f' is equidimensional, we apply Corollary 2.3.32: there exist Weil divisors D_X , D_Y on $X^{(e)}$ and $Y^{(e)}$ respectively, and an effective Weil divisor C on $X^{(e)}$, such that

(1)
$$K_{X^{(e)}/X'} \sim D_X$$
 and $K_{Y^{(e)}/Y'} \sim D_Y$;

(2)
$$K_{X^{(e)}/X'} - f_e^* K_{Y^{(e)}/Y'} \sim -C;$$

(3) $(f_e^* D_Y - D_X)|_{X_z^{(e)}} \sim C|_{X_z^{(e)}} \ge 0.$

Note that, by construction of diagram (#), the general fibres of f_e , f' and f are isomorphic to each other via the restrictions of the morphisms b and π , respectively. In particular, they are all normal. Combining this with point (1) we obtain:

(4)
$$D_X|_{X_y^{(e)}} \sim 0$$
, whence $C|_{X_y^{(e)}} = 0$.

By the Easy Additivity Theorem 5.2.1 applied to h_e , we obtain

$$\kappa(X^{(e)}, (\pi \circ b)^*L) \le \kappa(X_z^{(e)}, ((\pi \circ b)^*L)|_{X_z^{(e)}}) + \dim(Z)$$

= $\kappa(X_z^{(e)}, ((\pi \circ b)^*L)|_{X_z^{(e)}}) + \kappa(Y, -K_Y - D).$

Since Lemma 5.1.6 implies $\kappa(X^{(e)}, (\pi \circ b)^*L) = \kappa(X, L)$, it is then enough to show

$$\kappa(X_z^{(e)}, ((\pi \circ b)^*L)|_{X_z^{(e)}}) \le \kappa(X_y, L_y).$$

The goal now is to apply Theorem 6.2.15 to the fibration $f_{e,z}$ given by the Cartesian diagrams

$$X_{y} \longrightarrow X_{z}^{(e)} \longrightarrow X^{(e)}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{f_{e,z}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{f_{e}}$$

$$\{y\} \longrightarrow Y_{z}^{(e)} \longrightarrow Y^{(e)}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{g_{e}}$$

$$\{z\} \longrightarrow Z^{e},$$

where z is a very general point of Z^e and y is a general point of $Y_z^{(e)}$. We now introduce appropriate divisors to which we apply Theorem 6.2.15.

- (A) $K_{X'} + B' := \pi^*(K_X + B)$; note that B' is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor, and $\operatorname{Supp}(B', -)$ is π -exceptional.
- (B) $K_{Y'} + \Xi' := \mu^* K_Y$; note that Ξ' is a μ -exceptional $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor.
- (C) $K_{Y'} + D' := \mu^*(K_Y + D)$; note that D' is still a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisor, possibly non \mathbb{Q} -Cartier.

- (D) $L' := \pi^* L$ and $\overline{B}' := B' f'^* \Xi'$, so that $L' = -K_{X'} \overline{B}' f'^* D'$. Note that, as π is an isomorphism over the generic point of Y, conditions (b), (d), and (e) of Theorem 6.2.19 hold on X' with respect to L' and \overline{B}' . Moreover, mL'is integral and mL'_y is Cartier.
- (E) $B_e := b^* \overline{B'} + C$ and $D_e := a^* D' D_Y$; note that C_z is $f_{e,z}$ -vertical by point (4), and $a^* \mu^* (K_Y + D) \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} a^* (K_{Y'} + D') \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} K_{Y^{(e)}} + D_e$.
- (F) For any μ -exceptional prime divisor E, we write $E = E_{\rm b}$ in the case that $\operatorname{Supp}(E) \subseteq u^{-1}(\operatorname{Supp}(G))$, for all $G \in |-K_{Y'} - D'|_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mu^*|-K_Y - D|_{\mathbb{Q}}$, and $E = E_{\rm f}$ otherwise. Thus, when E' is any μ -exceptional \mathbb{Q} -divisor, we obtain an induced decomposition $E' = E'_{\rm b} + E'_{\rm f}$, where $E'_{\rm b}$ and $E'_{\rm f}$ have no common components.
- (G) $P := f_e^*(a^*E)$, where $E \ge 0$ is a μ -exceptional Cartier divisor, such that $P \ge B_e^-$; note that such an E exists, since $\operatorname{Supp}(B_e^-) \subseteq f_e^{-1}(a^{-1}(\operatorname{Exc}(\mu)))$ by points (III), (A), (B), and (D). Note also that $\kappa(X_z^{(e)}, f_e^*(-K_{Y_z^{(e)}} D_{e,z}) + P_z) = 0$. Indeed

$$\begin{aligned} a_{z}^{*}((\mu^{*}(-K_{Y}-D))|_{Y'_{z}}) \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -K_{Y^{(e)}_{z}} - D_{e,z} \\ \leq_{\mathbb{Q}} -K_{Y^{(e)}_{z}} - D_{e,z} + P_{z} \\ &= a^{*}((\mu^{*}(-K_{Y}-D))|_{Y'_{z}}) + a^{*}_{z}(E_{b}|_{Y'_{z}}) + a^{*}_{z}(E_{f}|_{Y'_{z}}) \\ \leq_{\mathbb{Q}} a^{*}((\mu^{*}((1+\alpha)(-K_{Y}-D)))|_{Y'_{z}}) + a^{*}_{z}(E_{f}|_{Y'_{z}}), \end{aligned}$$

where α is some positive rational number. As $a_z^*(E_f)_z$ is $(\mu_z \circ a_z)$ -exceptional, we conclude by taking global sections in the above chain of inequalities, and applying the projection formula combined with Theorem 5.1.4.

(H) $L_e := b^* L'$, so that $L_e \sim_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} -K_{X^{(e)}} - B_e - f_e^* D_e$. Note that, by point (D), mL_e is integral and $mL_{e,y}$ is Cartier.

Consider now the fibration $f_{e,z} \colon X_z^{(e)} \to Y_z^{(e)}$, with pair structure $(X^{(e)}, B_{e,z})$ and the $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -divisors $D_{e,z}$, $L_{e,z}$, P_z . Conditions (a), (c), and (d) of Theorem 6.2.15 hold since, by points (D) and (H) above, we have injective pullback maps

$$H^0(X, mL) \xrightarrow{(\pi \circ b)^*} H^0(X^{(e)}, mL_e)$$

for all sufficiently divisible $m \ge 0$, which restrict to isomorphisms on general fibres of f_e and f. Condition (b) of Theorem 6.2.15 holds by point (H), and condition (e) by point (G). Then we conclude, since we have

$$\kappa(X_z^{(e)}, ((\pi \circ b)^*L)|_{X_z^{(e)}}) = \kappa(X_z^{(e)}, L_{e,z}) \qquad \text{by points (e),(g) and Lemma 5.1.6}$$
$$\leq \kappa(X_y, L_{e,z}|_{X_y}) \qquad \text{by Theorem 6.2.15}$$
$$= \kappa(X_y, L_y) \qquad \text{as } \pi \circ b \text{ is an isomorphism over } X_y$$

To conclude the first part of the proof, note that, by Lemma 5.2.4, we can take $y \in Y$ to be general, rather than very general.

As for the "furthermore" part, apply Proposition 5.2.6 to get the opposite inequality. qed

Bibliography

- [ACSS21] Florin Ambro, Paolo Cascini, Vyacheslav Shokurov, and Calum Spicer. Positivity of the moduli part. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2111.00423*, 2021.
- [AdJ97] Dan Abramovich and Aise Johan de Jong. Smoothness, semistability, and toroidal geometry. J. Algebraic Geom., 6(4):789–801, 1997.
- [AK00] Dan Abramovich and Kalle Karu. Weak semistable reduction in characteristic 0. *Invent. Math.*, 139(2):241–273, 2000.
- [Amb04] Florin Ambro. Shokurov's boundary property. J. Differential Geom., 67(2):229–255, 2004.
- [Amb05] Florin Ambro. The moduli *b*-divisor of an lc-trivial fibration. *Compos. Math.*, 141(2):385–403, 2005.
- [AO00] Dan Abramovich and Frans Oort. Alterations and resolution of singularities. In *Resolution of singularities (Obergurgl, 1997)*, volume 181 of *Progr. Math.*, pages 39–108. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2000.
- [Bau24] Jefferson Baudin. On the Albanese morphism of varieties with Frobenius stable Kodaira dimension zero. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2401.06074*, 2024.
- [BBC23] Marta Benozzo, Iacopo Brivio, and Chi-Kang Chang. Superadditivity of anticanonical Iitaka dimension for fibrations with *F*-split fibres. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2309.16580*, 2023.
- [BCHM10] Caucher Birkar, Paolo Cascini, Christopher D. Hacon, and James McKernan. Existence of minimal models for varieties of log general type. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 23(2):405–468, 2010.
- [BCZ18] Caucher Birkar, Yifei Chen, and Lei Zhang. Iitaka $C_{n,m}$ conjecture for 3-folds over finite fields. Nagoya Math. J., 229:21–51, 2018.
- [Ben22] Marta Benozzo. Iitaka conjecture for anticanonical divisors in positive characteristics. arXiv preprint arXiv:2204.02045, updated version available at https://sites.google.com/view/marta-benozzo/ research/cnm-low-dimensions-paper, 2022.

- [Ben23] Marta Benozzo. On the canonical bundle formula in positive characteristic. arXiv preprint arXiv:2305.19841, 2023.
- [Ber19] Fabio Bernasconi. Non-normal purely log terminal centres in characteristic $p \ge 3$. Eur. J. Math., 5(4):1242–1251, 2019.
- [Ber24] Fabio Bernasconi. Counterexamples to the MMP for 1-foliations in positive characteristic. arXiv preprint arXiv:2309.13978, 2024.
- [BF23] Fabio Bernasconi and Stefano Filipazzi. Rational points on 3folds with nef anti-canonical class over finite fields. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2308.10824*, 2023.
- [Bir09] Caucher Birkar. The Iitaka conjecture $C_{n,m}$ in dimension six. Compos. Math., 145(6):1442–1446, 2009.
- [Bir16] Caucher Birkar. Existence of flips and minimal models for 3-folds in char p. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 49(1):169–212, 2016.
- [BK06] Bryan J Birch and Willem Kuyk. Modular Functions of One Variable IV: Proceedings of the International Summer School, University of Antwerp, July 17-August 3, 1972, volume 476. Springer, 2006.
- [BM77] Enrico Bombieri and David Mumford. Enriques' classification of surfaces in char p. ii. Complex analysis and algebraic geometry, pages 23–42, 1977.
- [BMP⁺23] Bhargav Bhatt, Linquan Ma, Zsolt Patakfalvi, Karl Schwede, Kevin Tucker, Joe Waldron, and Jakub Witaszek. Globally +-regular varieties and the minimal model program for threefolds in mixed characteristic. *Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci.*, 138:69–227, 2023.
- [Bri22] Iacopo Brivio. Invariance of plurigenera for some varieties with good minimal models. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2207.08107*, 2022.
- [BW17] Caucher Birkar and Joe Waldron. Existence of Mori fibre spaces for 3-folds in char p. Adv. Math., 313:62–101, 2017.
- [Cao18] Junyan Cao. Kodaira dimension of algebraic fiber spaces over surfaces. Algebr. Geom., 5(6):728–741, 2018.
- [CEKZ21] Paolo Cascini, Sho Ejiri, János Kollár, and Lei Zhang. Subadditivity of Kodaira dimension does not hold in positive characteristic. Comment. Math. Helv., 96(3):465–481, 2021.

- [CGS16] Paolo Cascini, Yoshinori Gongyo, and Karl Schwede. Uniform bounds for strongly F-regular surfaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 368(8):5547– 5563, 2016.
- [CH11] Jungkai Alfred Chen and Christopher D. Hacon. Kodaira dimension of irregular varieties. *Invent. Math.*, 186(3):481–500, 2011.
- [Cha23] Chi-Kang Chang. Positivity of anticanonical divisors in algebraic fibre spaces. *Math. Ann.*, 385(1-2):787–809, 2023.
- [CMM14] Paolo Cascini, James McKernan, and Mircea Mustață. The augmented base locus in positive characteristic. Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2), 57(1):79–87, 2014.
- [Cor07] Alessio Corti. *Flips for 3-folds and 4-folds*, volume 35. OUP Oxford, 2007.
- [CP17] Junyan Cao and Mihai Păun. Kodaira dimension of algebraic fiber spaces over Abelian varieties. *Invent. Math.*, 207(1):345–387, 2017.
- [CS23] Paolo Cascini and Calum Spicer. Foliation adjunction. arXiv preprint arXiv:2309.10697, 2023.
- [CT19] Paolo Cascini and Hiromu Tanaka. Purely log terminal threefolds with non-normal centres in characteristic two. Amer. J. Math., 141(4):941– 979, 2019.
- [CTX15] Paolo Cascini, Hiromu Tanaka, and Chenyang Xu. On base point freeness in positive characteristic. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 48(5):1239–1272, 2015.
- [CWZ23] Jingshan Chen, Chongning Wang, and Lei Zhang. On canonical bundle formula for fibrations of curves with arithmetic genus one. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2308.08927*, 2023.
- [CZ15] Yifei Chen and Lei Zhang. The subadditivity of the Kodaira dimension for fibrations of relative dimension one in positive characteristics. *Math. Res. Lett.*, 22(3):675–696, 2015.
- [Dru17] Stéphane Druel. On foliations with nef anti-canonical bundle. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 369(11):7765–7787, 2017.
- [DS17] Omprokash Das and Karl Schwede. The F-different and a canonical bundle formula. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 17(3):1173– 1205, 2017.

| [DW22] | Omprokash Das and Joe Waldron. On the log minimal model program for threefolds over imperfect fields of characteristic $p > 5$. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 106(4):3895–3937, 2022. |
|-----------------|--|
| [EG19] | Sho Ejiri and Yoshinori Gongyo. Nef anti-canonical divisors and ratio- nally connected fibrations. <i>Compos. Math.</i> , 155(7):1444–1456, 2019. |
| [Eji17] | Sho Ejiri. Weak positivity theorem and Frobenius stable canonical rings of geometric generic fibers. J. Algebraic Geom., 26(4):691–734, 2017. |
| [Eke87] | Torsten Ekedahl. Foliations and inseparable morphisms. In <i>Proc. Symp.</i> <i>Pure Math</i> , volume 46, pages 139–149, 1987. |
| [EZ18] | Sho Ejiri and Lei Zhang. Iitaka's $C_{n,m}$ conjecture for 3-folds in positive characteristic. <i>Math. Res. Lett.</i> , 25(3):783–802, 2018. |
| [FL20] | Enrica Floris and Vladimir Lazić. A travel guide to the canonical bundle formula. In <i>Birational geometry and moduli spaces</i> , volume 39 of <i>Springer INdAM Ser.</i> , pages 37–55. Springer, Cham, 2020. |
| [FM00] | Osamu Fujino and Shigefumi Mori. A Canonical Bundle Formula. J. Differential Geom., 56(1):167 – 188, 2000. |
| [Fuj77] | Takao Fujita. Some remarks on Kodaira dimensions of fiber spaces. Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci., 53(1):28–30, 1977. |
| [Fuj80] | Takao Fujita. On semipositive line bundles. Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci., 56(8):393–396, 1980. |
| [Fuj03] | Osamu Fujino. Algebraic fiber spaces whose general fibers are of maximal Albanese dimension. <i>Nagoya Math. J.</i> , 172:111–127, 2003. |
| [Fuj20] | Osamu Fujino. <i>Iitaka conjecture -an introduction</i> . Springer Briefs in Mathematics. Springer, Singapore, 2020. |
| [Ger64] | Murray Gerstenhaber. On the Galois theory of inseparable extensions. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 70:561–566, 1964. |
| [GNT19] | Yoshinori Gongyo, Yusuke Nakamura, and Hiromu Tanaka. Rational points on log Fano threefolds over a finite field. <i>J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS)</i> , 21(12):3759–3795, 2019. |
| [Gra23] | Przemyslaw Grabowski. Foliations and Galois theory in positive char- acteristic. <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:2307.11746</i> , 2023. |
| $[C_{22}, 0.4]$ | Description (ask small) DLD Thesis and state some day of any state |

[Gra24] Przemysław Grabowski. PhD Thesis. private correspondence, unpublished, 2024.

- [Gro67] Alexander Grothendieck. Elements de geometrie algebrique IV. Publ. Math. IHES, Ibid., 32, 1967.
- [GS] Daniel Grayson and Michael Stillman. Macaulay2, a software system for research in algebraic geometry. Available at http://www2.macaulay2.com.
- [Har77] Robin Hartshorne. Algebraic geometry. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1977.
- [Har80] Robin Hartshorne. Stable reflexive sheaves. *Math. Ann.*, 254(2):121–176, 1980.
- [Har98] Nobuo Hara. A characterization of rational singularities in terms of injectivity of Frobenius maps. Amer. J. Math., 120(5):981–996, 1998.
- [Har13] Robin Hartshorne. Algebraic geometry, volume 52. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [HM98] Joe Harris and Ian Morrison. *Moduli of curves*, volume 187 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998.
- [HNT20] Kenta Hashizume, Yusuke Nakamura, and Hiromu Tanaka. Minimal model program for log canonical threefolds in positive characteristic. *Math. Res. Lett.*, 27(4):1003–1054, 2020.
- [HPS18] Christopher Hacon, Mihnea Popa, and Christian Schnell. Algebraic fiber spaces over Abelian varieties: around a recent theorem by Cao and Păun. In Local and global methods in algebraic geometry, volume 712 of Contemp. Math., pages 143–195. Amer. Math. Soc., [Providence], RI, [2018] ©2018.
- [Huy06] Daniel Huybrechts. Fourier-Mukai transforms in algebraic geometry. Clarendon Press, 2006.
- [HW02] Nobuo Hara and Kei-Ichi Watanabe. F-regular and F-pure rings vs. log terminal and log canonical singularities. J. Algebraic Geom., 11(2):363– 392, 2002.
- [HW22] Christopher Hacon and Jakub Witaszek. On the relative minimal model program for threefolds in low characteristics. *Peking Math. J.*, 5(2):365– 382, 2022.
- [HW23] Christopher Hacon and Jakub Witaszek. On the relative minimal model program for fourfolds in positive and mixed characteristic. *Forum Math. Pi*, 11:Paper No. e10, 2023.

- [HX15] Christopher Hacon and Chenyang Xu. On the three dimensional minimal model program in positive characteristic. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 28(3):711–744, 2015.
- [Iit72] Shigeru Iitaka. Genera and classification of algebraic varieties. *Sugaku*, 24(1):14–27, 1972.
- [JW21] Lena Ji and Joe Waldron. Structure of geometrically non-reduced varieties. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 374(12):8333–8363, 2021.
- [Kaw81] Yujiro Kawamata. Characterization of Abelian varieties. Compositio Math., 43(2):253–276, 1981.
- [Kaw82] Yujiro Kawamata. Kodaira dimension of algebraic fiber spaces over curves. *Invent. Math.*, 66(1):57–71, 1982.
- [Kaw85] Yujiro Kawamata. Minimal models and the Kodaira dimension of algebraic fiber spaces. J. Reine Angew. Math., 363:1–46, 1985.
- [Kaw98] Yujiro Kawamata. Subadjunction of log canonical divisors. II. Amer. J. Math., 120(5):893–899, 1998.
- [KM98] János Kollár and Shigefumi Mori. Birational geometry of algebraic varieties, volume 134 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998. With the collaboration of C. H. Clemens and A. Corti, Translated from the 1998 Japanese original.
- [KMM94] Sean Keel, Kenji Matsuki, and James McKernan. Log abundance theorem for threefolds. *Duke Math. J.*, 75(1):99–119, 1994.
- [Kol96] János Kollár. Rational curves on algebraic varieties, volume 32 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1996.
- [Kol13] János Kollár. Singularities of the minimal model program, volume 200 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013. With a collaboration of Sándor Kovács.
- [KU85] Toshiyuki Katsura and Kenji Ueno. On elliptic surfaces in characteristic p. Math. Ann., 272(3):291–330, 1985.
- [Laz04a] Robert Lazarsfeld. Positivity in algebraic geometry. I, volume 48 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series

of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. Classical setting: line bundles and linear series.

- [Laz04b] Robert Lazarsfeld. Positivity in algebraic geometry. II, volume 49 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. Positivity for vector bundles, and multiplier ideals.
- [Liu02] Qing Liu. Algebraic geometry and arithmetic curves, volume 6 of Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002.
 Translated from the French by Reinie Erné, Oxford Science Publications.
- [Mac40] Saunders MacLane. Modular fields. Amer. Math. Monthly, 47:259–274, 1940.
- [MM86] Yoichi Miyaoka and Shigefumi Mori. A numerical criterion for uniruledness. Ann. of Math. (2), 124(1):65–69, 1986.
- [Mor87] Shigefumi Mori. Classification of higher-dimensional varieties, algebraic geometry, Bowdoin, 1985, Part 1. In Spencer J. Bloch, editor, Proceedings of the summer research institute held at Bowdoin College, Brunswick, Maine, July 8–26, 1985, volume 46, Part 1 of Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, pages vi+481. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1987. With the collaboration of H. Clemens, D. Eisenbud, W. Fulton, D. Gieseker, J. Harris, R. Hartshorne and S. Mori.
- [MS18] Linquan Ma and Karl Schwede. Perfectoid multiplier/test ideals in regular rings and bounds on symbolic powers. *Invent. Math.*, 214(2):913–955, 2018.
- [Muk13] Shigeru Mukai. Counterexamples to Kodaira's vanishing and Yau's inequality in positive characteristics. *Kyoto J. Math.*, 53(2):515–532, 2013.
- [PST17] Zsolt Patakfalvi, Karl Schwede, and Kevin Tucker. Positive characteristic algebraic geometry. Surveys on recent developments in algebraic geometry. Proc. Sympos. Pure Math, (95):33–80, 2017.
- [PSZ18] Zsolt Patakfalvi, Karl Schwede, and Wenliang Zhang. *F*-singularities in families. *Algebr. Geom*, 5(3):264–327, 2018.

| [PW22] | Zsolt Patakfalvi and Joe Waldron. Singularities of general fibers and the LMMP. <i>Amer. J. Math.</i> , 144(2):505–540, 2022. |
|---------|---|
| [RG71] | Michel Raynaud and Laurent Gruson. Critères de platitude et de projec- tivité. Techniques de "platification" d'un module. <i>Invent. Math.</i> , 13:1– 89, 1971. |
| [SB92] | Nicholas Shepherd-Barron. Miyaoka's theorems on the generic seminega- tivity of T_X and on the Kodaira dimension of minimal regular threefolds. <i>Flips and abundance for algebraic threefolds</i> , pages 103–114, 1992. |
| [Sch10] | Stefan Schröer. On fibrations whose geometric fibers are nonreduced. Nagoya Math. J., 200:35–57, 2010. |
| [Sho93] | Vyacheslav Shokurov. 3-fold log flips. <i>Izvestiya: Mathematics</i> , 40(1):95, 1993. |
| [Sil09] | Joseph Silverman. <i>The arithmetic of elliptic curves</i> , volume 106 of <i>Grad. Texts Math.</i> New York, NY: Springer, 2nd ed. edition, 2009. |
| [Spi20] | Calum Spicer. Higher-dimensional foliated Mori theory. <i>Compos. Math.</i> , 156(1):1–38, 2020. |
| [SS10] | Karl Schwede and Karen Smith. Globally <i>F</i> -regular and log Fano varieties. <i>Adv. Math.</i> , 224(3):863–894, 2010. |
| [ST14] | Karl Schwede and Kevin Tucker. On the behavior of test ideals under finite morphisms. J. Algebraic Geom., 23(3):399–443, 2014. |
| [Sta22] | The Stacks project authors. The stacks project. https://stacks.math.columbia.edu, 2022. |
| [Tan17] | Hiromu Tanaka. Semiample perturbations for log canonical varieties over an <i>F</i> -finite field containing an infinite perfect field. <i>Internat. J. Math.</i> , 28(5):1750030, 13, 2017. |
| [Tan18] | Hiromu Tanaka. Behavior of canonical divisors under purely inseparable base changes. J. Reine Angew. Math., 744:237–264, 2018. |
| [Tat52] | John Tate. Genus change in inseparable extensions of function fields. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 3:400–406, 1952. |
| [Uen75] | Kenji Ueno. Classification theory of algebraic varieties and compact com- plex spaces. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 439. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1975. Notes written in collaboration with P. Chere- nack. |

- [Vie77] Eckart Viehweg. Canonical divisors and the additivity of the Kodaira dimension for morphisms of relative dimension one. *Compositio Math.*, 35(2):197–223, 1977.
- [Vie82] Eckart Viehweg. Die Additivität der Kodaira Dimension für projektive Faserräume über Varietäten des allgemeinen Typs. J. Reine Angew. Math., 330:132–142, 1982.
- [Vie83] Eckart Viehweg. Weak positivity and the additivity of the Kodaira dimension for certain fibre spaces. In Algebraic varieties and analytic varieties (Tokyo, 1981), volume 1 of Adv. Stud. Pure Math., pages 329– 353. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1983.
- [Wit21] Jakub Witaszek. On the canonical bundle formula and log abundance in positive characteristic. *Math. Ann.*, 381(3-4):1309–1344, 2021.
- [Xie06] Qihong Xie. Effective non-vanishing for algebraic surfaces in positive characteristic. J. Algebra, 305(2):1111–1127, 2006.
- [Xie10] Qihong Xie. Counterexamples to the Kawamata-Viehweg vanishing on ruled surfaces in positive characteristic. J. Algebra, 324(12):3494–3506, 2010.
- [Zha19] Lei Zhang. Subadditivity of Kodaira dimensions for fibrations of threefolds in positive characteristics. *Adv. Math.*, 354:106741, 29, 2019.